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CHAPTER XVII.
1872—1874.
MOLEAN AND THE MAORIS.

Donarp MoLeaN, meanwhile, was tempering to the chiefs
the loss of their lands by urging them to cultivate flax. A
few sentences will show how the Gael accommodated his
phrase to the Maori. ‘‘Pleiades is high in the heavens, the
warm season has arrived, and the thoughtful man con-
siders it time to grow food to enable him to live, and to
extend hospitality to strangers, lest he be as the thoughtless
one who, when seasons of scarcity arrive, is in a very helpe
less condition. In former days all kinds of food used by the
Maoris—kumara, taro, and other things were largely culti-
vated; at present their cultivationhas decreased. I therefore
think that you should again be attentive lest they disappear
utterly; and that the word of the proverb ought to be
fulfilled, which says, ‘The fame of a man brave in war is
unhcertain, but the fame of a man diligent or brave in tilling
the ground will always last.'” He offered prizes for pro-
duction of flax. “I know that you, the Maoris, are ignorant
of the prices, &ec., in England; therefore, I think that if you
will again turn your attention to these industries you will
obtain the bemefit of prosperity.” The Maoris could not but
veflect that former governments had destroyed their planta-
tions and burned their dwellings. .
Vol. II. B
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The burly Scotchman was not easily stirred from his

licy of peace. A surveyor, Mr. Todd, was shot near
g(i)rongia, in Waikato, by a Hau Hau, who took refuge at
onee in the king’s territory. MecLean determined to treat
the ouirage as agrarian rather than political. It was
anomalone that no writ could run within Tawhiao’s
territory; but a broken pledge to him might entail many
more murders. The king’s pale recognized by the govern-
ment could not be infringed. If the Hau Han who
ecommitted the murder had hoped to embroil the races
afresh he was disappointed. Even when a chief on the
Thames River barred the electric telegraph, and stopped
the conveyance of the mail between Auckland and Taur-
anga, McLean pursued his policy. It was condemned as
dilatory by some fiery spirits. In Mareh, 1871, 167
residents in Waikato petitioned the Governor. They asked
him to establish a rival pale to that of the Maori king,
under penalty of death to any Maori who might cross it. By
this bold and firm policy, they said, peace would be secured.
MecLean was not to be diverted into a path which led to
blood.

Sir G. Bowen visited the Middle Island early in 1871.
‘When he returned to Auckland he was confronted by the old
difficulty of retaining Imperial sympathy without a symbol
of Imperial strength. H.M.S. “ Virago” was ordered to
England in March, and until the ‘ Rosario™ could arrive in
New Zealand in May no man-of-war could be placed there by
Commodore Stirling, who was in H.M.S. ¢ Clio” at Sydney.
Instantly the New Zealand ministry declared that it was
¢ very perilous” to withdraw the “ Virago.” Mr. Fox tele-
graphed to the Governor that * the removal of the land
forces, and the manner in which it was done, and Lord
Granville’s celebrated despatch, tried the loyalty of the
colony very severely, and I consider it my duty to state, in
the plainest possible manner, that should the colony arrive
at the conclusion that the Imperial government intends to
withdraw the countenance afforded by the presence of a
naval force, small as it already is, it will be very difficult for
many of the best affected to retain those feelings of attach-
ment to the parent country which have hitherto been so
strongly felt and warmly expressed.”” Whether Fox in-
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-cluded himself amongst ¢ the best affected,” after the
¢ coasting welcome with which he had unclasped the tables
of his thoughts’” to a foreign consul, it might be hard to
tell. But it was clear that many of Fox’s supporters would
be the ‘“ spoils of opportunity.” On the day on which Sir
G. Bowen received Fox’s telegram, he telegraphed to the
commander of the *Virago’: ‘‘Irequest you to postpone the
departure. I take the responsibility on myself. I will write to
the commodore.” MecLean separately urged the necessity of
retaining a ship of war. *‘ An imaginative and acute race
like the Maori was,” he said, ¢ quick in seizing upon any
points of apparent neglect towards New Zealand on the
part of the Imperial government.” The commander of the
¢ Yirago” agreed to wait till the arrival of another vessel,
and copies of the correspondence were sent to England.
The Earl of Kimberley told the Governor that, under the
circumstances, the detention of the ¢ Virago’ was justified,
but he regretted the tone of Mr. Fox’s telegram, which
that gentleman would on reflection see was ill-calculated
to improve and strengthen the friendly relations which it
was the earnest desire of Her Majesty’s government to
maintain. The Earl had shown readiness to retain ships
of war in New Zealand, and was able to refer to correspon-
dence in rebuking Fox’s intemperance. It is fair to add that
Mr. Fox regretted his expressions, and assured the Earl
that nothing could be further from his intentions than to
disturb the friendly relations between the Imperial and
Colonial governments,

A singular turn of fortune about this time brought Mr.,
Fozx into antagonism with his old opponent, Mr. Weld, who
became Governor of Western Australia in 1869; the only
colony in the Southern seas to which English prisoners
had recently been transported, and which had then ceased
to receive them, :

Both Maoris and colonists had protested against Earl
Grey’s proposition to send convicts to New Zealand, and
they had never been sent thither, although, amongst the
troops of gold-seekers, quondam convicts had found their
way. When, in order to rid itself of some refuse of the
convict system in Tasmania, the government granted
pardons enabling criminals, who had not undergone the

B2
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that he had never joined in disaffected movements, and had
advocated a large view of the advantages which Imperia}
connection might confer upon colonies, and on this ground
his private claims were urged upon the Colonial Office. It
was true that his view was not a high one. He valued the
connection with the mother-country because the colony
might borrow money more easily there than elsewhere,
But the Manchester school was in high repute in England,
and its principles were not very different from his, His
suecess in carrying his financial schemes in the New Zea-
land Assembly commended him to moneyed men in
England. His reception by moneyed men in England
impressed colonists with his importance. His colleagues
put off the meeting of their Parliament in order that he
might be present to expound his views.

When the relative strength of armed men under the
hunted Te Kooti and the quiescent Titokowaru as compared
with the Europeans and allied Maoris is considered, it
might seem difficult to imagine that the helpless condition
of the colonists had driven such men as Mr. Fox to
countenance, and others to advocate, that separation from
England which all men deemed it Earl Granville’s desire
to permit if not to procure. After Te Kooti had been
brought to bay at Mahaetari—his prisoners being recap-
tured, his forces annihilated, and his ‘“ mana” swept away
—he merely slunk from hole to hole to escape seizure by
Ropata. Titokowaru was absolutely at peace, and it was
not deemed necessary to take any measures against him.
Yet when Mr. Fox emitted a spark of disaffection on the
proposed removal of H.M.8. ‘“Virago,”’ there were enrolled in
New Zealand 4263 militia, 6568 volunteers, 723 armed
constabulary, 4000 armed Maoris; total, 15,554. Of this
large force less than 8000 (volunteers) were enrolled in the
Middle Island. Nothing but the suddenness of Te Kooti’s
raids can explain the terror which his name inspired, and
the loud wail with which, in speeches, despatches, and
letters, the hard fate of the colonists was sighed to the
Colonial Office. In addition to the Maoris formally en-
rolled there were others eager for the fray. Old Waka -
Nene, full of years,erect in stature, but undimmed in mind,
passed away in the faith of the Christian, with his last
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from the counsellors of King Tawhiao the surrender of the
murderers of Mr. Todd, and they would have made
refusal a ground for war. But McLean would not yield
to such demands. His policy was accepted by all. The
Assembly raised no questions about it. Those who had
thirsted for revenge against Titokowaru and Te Kooti
sullenly consented to leave things alone, trusting to the
decimation by disease and death, which the rifle and
civilization had ensured.

Two meetings were held by the Maoris—one at Parihaka
on the west coast, where Te Whiti was rising into repute
as a prophet ; the other at the Maori king's residence, Te
Kuiti. To both of them colonists and their Maori friends
were invited, and Te Wheoro was treated with marked
respect at Te Kuiti, where the Maori king no longer kept
aloof, but mingled freely with his guests, as had been the
custom before the rape of the Waitara in 1860.

‘When the Assembly met (Aug., 1871), Mr. Fox made more
pronounced his past antagonism to Sir David Monro, who
retired from ‘the Speakership, himself proposing his
successor, Mr. Dillon Bell. Sir D. Monro had been
Speaker from 1861 to 1866, and again from 1866 until, at
at the close of the session in 1870, he announced his
intended retirement. He expected that Mr. Fox would
then “invite the House to take the steps which are
dictated by custom and courtesy,” but averred that he
“ was allowed to leave without a single word of thanks or
any acknowledgment’ of his services. Fox retorted that
it was not usual for a ministry to recommend that their
active opponents should be offered seats in the Legislative
Council, and he did not doubt that Sir David Monro was
opposed to the government policy. Sir David, irritated at
the discourtesy shown, was elected to the House of Repre-
sentatives, and proposed the new Speaker before he was
himself unseated on petition. Then the representatives,
feeling compunction for their late presiding genius, adopted
an address to the Queen, on the motion of Mr. Fox,
seconded by Mr. Stafford, praying that some mark of
favour might be shown to Sir David Monro, and Sir G.
Bowen was requested to intimate that the intention of the
House would be met if a seat in the Legislative Council
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Crown in England, upon a case to be prepared by managets
appointed by each House. Subject to these conditions, the
Council would, on being made acquainted with the names
of the managers appointed by the representatives, cease
to insist upon its amendments. These terms were agreed
to; the limitation clause was passed, and the case was
transmitted to England. The law officers, Sir J. D. Cole-
ridge and Sir G. Jessel, were categorically asked—Whether
the Council was constitutionally justified in striking out the
disputed clausce, and whether the claims put forward by the
Representatives were well founded, or what were the proper
limitations of them ? It was contended on the part of the
Council that a Privileges Act of 1865, which gave equal
privileges to members of each House, had conferred on the
Council a power to deal with money bills in detail. It was
retorted that if such a power had been acquired it ought to
be taken away. The law officers in England held that the
Council was not constitutionally justified in its amend-
ments, and that the claims of the Representatives were well
founded,® . . . ‘“‘subject of course to the limitation that
the Legislative Council have a perfect right to reject any
bill passed by the House of Representatives having for its
object to vary the management or appropriation of money
prescribed by an Act of the previous session.” As in 1870
80 in 1871 there were many conferences on bills. In most
cases it may be inferred from the yielding of the Repre-
gentatives that they had been in the wrong; for men are
loth to admit their error even when they see it. A differ-
ence on an amending Immigration and Public Works Bill
was only solved after a free conference the day before the
close of the session. In that case the Representatives
adopted the advice of the conference. Certain amendments
were made in the manner recommended by the Council, and
the Lower House abandoned its disagreement on all ques-
tions not specially dealt with by the conference.

Mr. Sewell did not shrink from displaying his contempt
for the Treasurer, and broke off his connection with the
ministry before the session closed. A proposition to replace
in the provincial treasuries funds already dedicated to

3 Proceedings of Legislative Council New Zealand, 1872, Appendix 3.
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railway purposes by the provinces, and to charge the cost of
the railways to the general government, was one which he
refused to propose to the Legislative Council. He would
rather resign office. Fox could not dispense with Vogel’'s
services, and Sewell resigned. -Mr. Waterhouse (without a
portfolio) undertook to represent the government in the
Council. Heresigned his position at the end of the session.
Hard words were uttered in both Houses. Stafford could
not control his anger against Vogel, whose help he had
himself used in the expulsion of the Weld ministry, but to
whom he had not given office, and who had crept into place
under the wings of Fox and McLean when Stafford was
expelled. Mr. Vogel’s mission to England formed the staple
of much discussion. He associated himself with Mr. Julyan
(one of the Crown agents for the colonieg) in negotiating
the loan on the Stock Exchange at 5 per cent., and raised
£1,200,000 at a rate of £95 16s. 9d. Contractors were
found who undertook the construction of railways to an
extent of £4,000,000. The contractors were guaranteed
interest for their outlay, and the government was to have
power to purchase the lines when made. Two forms of
agreement were signed in England to enable the colonial
government to exercise an option. Under one of them it
was proposed to give the contractors three-quarters of an
acre of land for every pound sterling expended by them in
constructing railways and providing plant.

Though not present at the opening of the Assembly on
the 14th Aug., Mr. Vogel made a financial statement in it
on the 12th Sept. The revenue had fallen off. The
invitation to the provinces to co-operate with the govern-
ment in promoting immigration having produced no fruit,
the government proposed to deprive the provinces of all
control in the matter, and their policy was not repelled by
the House. New Zealand seemed to have put her affairs
into the hands of an agent, who, having contracted her
debts, was to be allowed time to show whither they would
lead her. Attempts were made to abolish the gold export
duty, i.e., the trifling royalty collected at the Custom House
on the treasures taken from the earth by every comer and
goer. By large majorities the proposition was rejected on
two occasions. .
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The revenue was supplemented in 1871 by increased
Customs and Stamp duties. Contractors were on the way
to the colony to carry out the works for which loans had
been raised, and when the session was concluded additions
were made to the ministry. Mr. J. D. Ormond became
Minister for Public Works, and was to reside in the
Northern Island; Mr. Reeves became Resident Minister
for the Middle Island. Mr. Vogel was looked upon as a
kind of dictator, and to avoid inconvenient responsibility he
generally travelled during vacations to England or to the
neighbouring colonies, but always upon an errand which
imposed upon New Zealand the cost of the journey.

A terrible shock, felt poignantly throughout the southern
hemisphere, caused fervent addresses to the Queen. John
Coleridge Patteson, Bishop of Melanesia, who ever modestly
declared that he sat at the feet of Bishop Selwyn, the
founder of his bishoprie, was one of those rare mortals who
seemed vouchsafed to the world to show that humanity,
not altogether vainly, may strive to follow the precepts of the
Divine Master. Able, but veiling all consciousness of talent
under the simplicity of earnestness; yearning after his dark
pupils as veritably and indeed carven in the image of God,
and calling in their weakness for help from their more
fortunate brothers; gentle, yet bold ; considerate of others’
fears and prejudices, yet daringly committing himself to
the surf and landing defenceless, save by his heroic bearing,
amongst the wondering armed islanders who were accus-
tomed to see the scoundrels of the Pacific loaded with
weapons which they mercilessly abused—the young Bishop
had won the affection and admiration of all who had seen
or heard of him. He falsified the adage that no man can be
a hero in the eyes of his valet ; and proved in so doing how
much higher is the type of the Christian than that of the
man of the world.

There had sprung up an abomination under the name of
labour traffic among the islands of the Pacific. The natives
were nominally hired. In most cases it was ascertained
that the terms of the so-called hiring were not understood
by the hired. Three months was their idea when three
years were in the bond. But fraudulent or deceptive con-
tracts were not the only weapons resorted to. By artifice
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or force natives were kidnapped when they were unwilling
to go with the robbers of men. When crowds of islanders
gathered round a vessel heavy weights were dropped upon
canoes to crush them, and the natives on rising to the
surface were picked up, or sometimes shot in brutal sporf
if they seemed able to swim to the distant shore. On the
sea, terror was the rule—murder the means to enforce it.
Seventy lives were sacrificed by indiscriminate firing into
the densely-crowded hold of a vessel in which the islanders
were packed. The dead, and even the wounded, were cast
into the sea when the white savages proceeded to put their
vessel in order. One rascal simulated the appearance of
the bishop by walking on the deck clad in bishop’s garb.
The islanders thus inveigled were seized, and their country-
men were enraged. ‘At Nukapu, an island of the Swallow
group, near Santa Cruz, the bishop and two companions,
one of them a native missionary, were slain in revenge—
and never perhaps was there more willing martyrdom. He
had earnestly besought the  government to restrain the
traffic whose atrocities incarnadined the seas. He knew,
and others dreaded, that in consequence of it, wherever he
went, his life was in his hand. Both Houses in New
Zealand declared that there was reason to believe that his
death was owing to an infamous traffic, which was a
reproach and scandal to the British name. Both Houses
implored the Queen to take some steps to redress the
wrongs of the islanders, and redeem the character of her
subjects.

The addresses were graciously received, and a bill was
laid before Parliament to check the horrors which, under a
smooth name, and sometimes under the flag of England,
vied with the black deeds of the slave-trade. The Admiralty
was set in motion, and Commodore Stirling was instructed
to be vigorous in repressing ‘‘ the abominable traffic’* which
‘had grown up. A vessel of war was requisite at New
Zealand, and ancther at Cape York; but the other four
vessels under the Commodore might be employed in the
Pacific, and he was empowered to build some small craft to
aid them. The cry of outraged humanity had reached the
throne. The law enacted was useful, but the one thing
needful, though pressed upon the official mind, was no}
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accorded. If every vessel proved to éontain a South Sea
Islander, placed there without his or her-consent, had beett
by that fact confiscate, the labour of the Commodore would
have been light, and the traffic in mankind would have
been stayed. It was urged upon the Colonial Office that
there could be no nobler task than to obtain the aid of the
United States, of France, and of other nations in crushing
the nefarious trade in which rascals of all countries were
engaged. Mutual permission of search in the Pacific
would speedily clear the seas of the ruffians. But a
propdosition so simple did not commend itself to diplomatic
minds. -

New Zealand laboured in troubled waters as to the
relation of provincial and general governments. The
subject was discussed more than once, but remained to
harass future Parliaments. The Native Lands Court was
taken into consideration, and Sir W. Martin was consulted,
but no legislation was arrived at during the session. The
Maori members were not idle. In August, Hori Kerei
Taiaroa carried a resolution that there should be a council
of native chiefs for the Middle Island, charged to devise
means for the better administration of lands (whether held
by Maoris under Crown grants or not) and of Maori
property. Mi. McLean supported Taiaroa’s proposal. In
October, the same chief carried, by forty-one votes against
fifteen, a resolution—That all bills or parts of bills specially
referring to the native race be translated into the Maori
language before discussion, and referred to the committee
on Native Affairs. One member, Mr. Reynolds, said that
the motion pandered too much to the Maori members.
Karaitiana Takamoana raised a larger question. On his
motion it was resolved that it was desirable that the native
race should be represented in the other branch of the
Legislature: He moved further—that a Maori should be
ippointed a member of the Executive Council to advise
with the Minister for Native Affairs; that the Maori Repre-
gentation Act should be amended, and the number of Maéri
members ‘‘inereased to twelve, giving three Maori Repre-
sentatives to each of the present Maori electoral districts;
and that Europeans as well as Maoris should have the
privilege of voting at election of Maori members of the
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House of Representatives.” The propositions were rejected
without a division. Katene, stimulated by the example of
his colleagues, carried a resolution that ‘“the government
be requested to send down to this House a measure by
which a runanga will be granted to the districts of the Bay
of Islands and Mongonui; the object of such board to be
the promotion of public works, education, the carrying out
of law and order, &ec. &c.” Nor was the success of the
Maori orators due to contemptuous pity. The Governor
reported that he had been assured by Mr. Fox that un-
doubtedly the best speeches of the session were those of the
Maori members. Mr. Sewell declared that the Maori
members contrasted favourably with many whom the colo-
nists were pleased to call the superior race. Mr. McLean
was in favour of the proposition to give to the Maoris a
voice in the Legislative Council. Karaitiana Takamoana’s
motion was carried on the 15th Sept. On the 29th, Mr.
Mantell moved in the Council that it was desirable that the
Council should be informed of the views of the government
on the subject, but after discussion the motion was with-
drawn. Not only by Mr. Mantell and Mr. Sewell were
kindly feelings expressed in debate in the Council. Colonel
Russell did not scruple to say that the peace negotiated
with the Maori king was due to the Maori members,
through whom the first communications with the king-
party had been made.

The new Maori members in the Representative House
were the theme of universal praise in both Chambers.*
In the prorogation speech the Governor said that the high
intelligence of the Maori members, and the judicious manner
in which they exercised their functions, fully justified the

¢ Katene’s views on parliamentary government were thus reported:—
¢¢All parties act in the same way. They always have objections to the
government in power. I know very well what tKey mean by that. Iam
only deficient in this respect. I cannot hear all that goes on, and am not
able to speak in the European language. All that the opposition want to
doris to OP&;OW the government in power, in order to take their places
upon those benches. I do not think that a proper course for the General
Assembly of New Zealand to pursue. . . . It is not right that the desire
for the emoluments of office should be the cause of upsetting a good szlicy
which is for the benefit of the whole colony.” Sober truth seems o8t
like the satire placed by Swift in the mouth of the king of Brobdingnag.
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recommendation of the Representatives, and that he would
consult his advisers as to the best means of giving it effect.
A Bill to Amend and Consolidate the Laws relating to the
Native Land Court passed the Legislative Council, and was
sent to the other House on the 20th Oct. There it was not,
even read a second time; yet the subject had been earnestly
considered by McLean and his colleagues. The Native
Lands Act of 1865 had been amended in 1867, in 1868, and
in 1869, but yet there were causes for discontent. The
certificates issued were deceptive. The original Aet of 1865
required that the native owners should be ascertained, but
a proviso that “no certificate’ should be ordered to more
than ten persons” was alleged to have deprived of their
rights large numbers of proprietors. The definition of the
estates or interests of the natives was left so vague, in the
form of grant prescribed by the amending Act of 1869, that
litigation, if not absolute warfare, would be engendered.
Moreover, a single native could call upon the court to
deal with a claim to land which nine out of ten of his tribe
were unwilling to sell. They could not take refuge in apathy.
They had to risk loss of land, or accept the burthen of
litigation in a court whose fees were complained of as
excessive.

Karaitiana Takamoana, of Hawke’s Bay, visited Auckland
in Jan., 1870, to lay the Maori grievances before Donald
McLean. He had detected faults which had escaped notice.
In 1870 McLean consulted many persons, and amongst
them was Sir William Martin, who drew up in Jan., 1871,
a careful statement of the amendments required. MecLean
requested Sir W. Martin to draft the necessary clauses, and
the work enlarged under his hand until, in July, 1871, a
draft bill was prepared which elicited from Mr. McLean the
““ best thanks of the government for the arduous labour”
undertaken. A separate bill dealt with the native resertes,
the income from which Sir W. Martin considered it proper
to administer through the Native Department, and not in
connection with the Land Court. Mr. Fenton, the chief
judge of the Land Court, did not agree with all Sir W,
Martin’s proposals. His assistant judges furnished reports,
which, with his' own comments, were forwarded to the
government.
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Colonel Haultain reported upon the whole question.
After the surrender by the Crown, in 1865, of its exclusive
powers as to sale of land, to the end of 1870, the Land Court
had heard 8489 applications for investigation of title in the
North Island. Certificates or Crown grants had been issued
in 2619 cages for an area exceeding 2,400,000 acres. ‘‘ The
natives are almost universally opposed to the employment
of English counsel in contested cases. They say that these
know nothing of Maori law and custom, and only protract
the sittings and increase the expenses. If one side employs
them the other must do the same; but they would like to
see them altogether excluded from practising in the court.”
8o wrote Colonel Haultain. Another of his opinions was
gignificant.  The Maoris have always been loth to part
with their fertile land, and it is chiefly by confiscation that
we have obtained any large tracts of really good land.”
Many chiefs wrote earnestly to Colonel Haultain. Te
Wheoro said it would be better if ‘‘lawyers’ agents and
interpreters were disallowed in the land courts, as they
make so many expenses. The money goes, and so does the
land. Behold! there is the survey—one; the court—two;
the lawyers—three; the interpreters—four; the Crown
grant—five ; and the giving of the land to the other side.
The burden of this is great. Nothing could be objected if
it was only the court and its interpreter.” Weary of forensic
ways, he urged that a Maori runanga should settle all land
disputes, and that the magistrates in their different districts
should carry out the decisions of the runanga. An Arawa
(an assessor in the Native Land Court) argued that the
Aets relating to native lands should be translated. ““I have
never seen a translation of the Acts of 1865, though I have
been in the chief judge’s office for three years. I myself
paid for printing, at the Bishop’s press, some portions of the
Acts. The natives would gladly read the Acts if they could
get them, and there are mtelhgent men amongst them, well
able to expla.m the Acts to others.” The Maoris highly prized
the digest of criminal law prepared by Sir William Martin,
and a summary of the Land Acts should be translated for
their behoof. He also would banish lawyers. ‘It was to
be expected that they would prolong cases in order to get
more fees.”
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In the General Assembly (Nov., 1871), Parata declared
that much dissatisfaction existed with regard to adjudica-
tion by the Land Court in cases where there had not been
actual survey. The Maoris had been informed that a plan
ought to be deposited with the court before the case could
be tried. How then stood the matter? Was there a law
passed by the House, and kept back from the Maoris?
Mr. McLean pointed out that there was a clause in the Act
of 1865 authorizing new trials without survey. He con-
fessed that in a matter affecting tribal rights the natives
ought to have been made acquainted with the law in their
own language, and that they had not been so ma.de
acquainted with it.

Though the government thanked Sir W. Martin,
they did not adopt his draft bill. Mr. Fenton drew
another which they preferred. Mr. Sewell introduced it,
and took occasion to speak of Mr. Mantell thus: ‘I say
now what I have always said, that if there is one person to
whom the colony is more deeply indebted than to another
for having brought about a better state of things between
the two raees through the working of the Native Land
Court, that person is Mr, Mantell.””® On one point, Sir W.
Martin, Judge Fenton, and Mr. Sewell agreed, viz., that in
order to prevent the sanctioned mischief created by facilities
given to an individual to bring his tribe into litigation
without their consent, it was essential to provide that there
should be a thorough investigation before any title could be
brought under the operation of the court. After long
debates_the bill was passed in the Council, but the Lower
House declined to discuss it.

A Committee on Native Affairs, to which Taiaroa’s resolu-
tion referred all clauses relating to the Maoris, was ap-
pointed. There were fourteen members, including Mr.
McLean, and the four Maori chiefs. Five formed a

$ Mr. Sewell averred that the bill framed by Mantell and his colleagues
in the Fox ministry in 1862 was (although not passed) the *‘ foundation of
the Native Land Court Bills;” that it was revived in Domett and Bell’s
Act of 1862 (Mantell being still Native Minister), which was inoperative
until, ‘“on the return of Mr. Mantell to the administration of native
affairs in 1864, it was galvanized into life. . . . In 1864 he gave life
t(;) eﬂe Native Land Court, which up to that time had been practically

»
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quorum, and they were empowered to send for persons or
papers. Petitions from Maoris were referred to and
reported on by them.

Ere long the old chief, Te Rangitake, gave convincing
proof of his trust in the policy which McLean directed, and
in which Maori chiefs had a voice. He had accep: ted the
proffered peace in his retirement in the forests at the rear
of Mount Egmont in 1864, but held aloof from the settlers.
He refused to countenance Titokowarn, but would not
associate with those who had robbed him of his land,
destroyed his property, and slain his people. 'When Donald
McLean became a minister in 1869, he lost no time in
apprizing Te Rangitake that land at Waitara should be
reserved for his use, but the old chief still held aloof. In
1872, his scruples were overcome. McLean was at
Taranaki when Te Rangitake, after twelve years of estrange-
ment, mingled again with Europeans. With four hundred
followers he marched to Taranaki, where a repast was pre-
pared for them at the Native Office. European inhabitants
crowded to see the warrior whom some remembered, and
all knew by repute. Children were allowed to enter the
-room in which he sat, and a bystander reported : * The old
chief seemed to enjoy the levée, for as each batch of children
came in, he laughed with delight as he took their tiny
hands in his, and kindly shook them.” Mr. McLean
pointed out the Maori significance of the speech, that when
a chief trod in friendliness the path lately pursued by war-
parties, hostility was past, and even the thought of revenge
for the dead was put away. Thus did Te Rangitake,
denounced by the Governor’s advisers in 1860 as ‘“an
essential savage,” and robbed of his land, return in 1872
with the warm approbation of another adviser. In the
theatre of his wrongs the children of his persecutors came
round him with gffection, and by the ¢ touch of nature
which makes the whole world kin,” as by the wand of a
magician the strifes of the past were quelled—for a time.
There were none to carp at the reconciliation, for all men
knew that in the past Te Rangitake ever spared the weak
and made war only against the proud.

Titokowaru emerged from his forest haunts about the
same time. Mr. McLean let him know that he would not
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be molested if "peaceful, and with about 80 followers he

returned to the neighbourhood of Patea, the scene of his

successes against Colonels McDonell and Whitmore, and of
his discomfiture by Rangihiwinui and the men of Wan-

.ganui. There was less satisfaction at his implied pardon,
but not much was said about it. Te Kooti was compelled

to learn that a policy of peace was adopted, and that his

day was past. Ropata Wahawaha’s myrmidons were scour-

ing the mountain fastnesses in which Te Kooti had lurked,

and the passes from the Uriwera territory to Waikato were

guarded by numerous bands. Nevertheless, he eluded them,

and in June, 1872, it was reported that, ‘“in spite of the

various parties watching for him,” he passed with less than

a score of companions to the sanctuary which Rewi had
stipulated for, and Donald McLean had agreed to, at Te

Kuiti in 1869. The government, though vexed at the -
escape of the marauder, whom it had hoped to bring, like

Kereopa, to the gallows, did not commit a breach of the

peace they had made. On the whole, everything seemed

prosperous. There was a large debt to be paid in future ;

but thoughts of payment are put off like thoughts of death.

Moreover, in the case of a State, not the borrower, but a

successor pays.. The first mixes the potion which the last

must drink,

To carry out the authorized public works immigration
was actively promoted. Dr. Featherston, the Agent-General,
was instructed to send out, in 1872, 8000 adults, He had
arranged in 1871 for the deportation of 6000 Germans and
Scandinavians. Moreover, the railway contractors were to
procure labourers, and the agent was to provide passages .
for them to an extent, including wives and families, of 5000
persons. There was in London an Emigrant and Colonists’
Aid Corporation, of which the Duke of Manchester was
chairman. An agent visifed New Zealand and purchased
for the corporation more than 100,000 acres of land in the
Manawatu district, undertaking to convey not less than
2000 statute adults to the island within a limited period,
Some Norwegian immigrants were placed, on their arrival,
at Palmerston, on the Manawatu river. Twenty acres
. were reserved for each family for two years, with a right of
purchase. On purchase of them ‘within 12 months 20

c2
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other acres were similarly reserved for purchase, so that in
a short time each family might become possessed of 40
acres at the rate of £1 an acre. Swedes and Danes
followed the Norwegians, and an official report® stated that.
¢ their fears of their future neighbours were much lessened”
by a present of potatoes and kind speeches from a Maori
ogief. Tidings of the illness of the Prince of Wales reached
the colony early in 1872, and the general joy at his recovery-
gave occasion to the Governor to report that the loyal
sympathy displayed by Englishmen and Maoris could not
be surpassed in any portion of the empire. Prayers and
thanksgivings were offered in the churches. At a crowded
theatre the audience rose as one man and sang together
“God save the Queen” and ‘“God bless the Prince of
Wales,” on the day when the recovery was announced. If
was now known that in the colony, as in England, a few
disloyal busy-bodies had put forward their own ideas as
those of the public, and had been believed by the mass of
mankind which is incapable of weighing evidence. An
English newspaper which had deplored the manifest decay
of loyalty in England was startled by the outburst of
national grief at the illness of the heir to the throne. Its
morality had been to study signs and to prophesy the
immediate future. It had erred. It avenged itself by
declaring, not that it had erred, but that ‘‘ the community
was astonished at its own profound emotion.” It professed
to believe that Englishmen had been disloyal rather than
its seribe mistaken. If men could appease their consciences
by casting imputations on others, the world would cheaply
.become moral. A day of public thanksgiving was appointed
in New Zealand. Services were held in all the churches
on the 9th May, and the people responded to the proclama-
tion by the government.

After a tour through the province of Marlborough, Sir G.
Bowen started on an expedition to Lake Taupo—the abode
of Poihipi Tukeraingi, who once stood almost alone in that
central spot to resist the tenets of the Hau Haus. He met
the Governor with oriental welcome at Tapuaeharura
(““ resounding footsteps’’), where hollow reverberations warn

¢N.Z.P.P. 1871; D. 3, A. p. 2.
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the traveller how thin is the crust which separates him
from the subterranean fires which rage confinually from
Whakare to Tongariro. He told how great had been the
troubles of the loyal. . . . “8till a few of us were
ever true to the Queen: and, like the Horomatangi (sea-god).
that dwelt of yore in Lake Taupo, and swallowed the- evil
monsters of the deep, we have now destroyed our enemies.”
The Governor unprophetically told him that the Queen
would ever maintain inviolate the treaty of Waitangi which
Poihipi had signed. The Hau Hau flag had disappeared in
the district, and the Union Jack met the eye. Hundreds
of men once active or aidant in rebellion were at work to
subdue the land by making roads, and Topia Turoa, the
companion of Rangihiwinui in his march from Wanganui,
welcomed the Governor at Tokano, at the south end of the
great lake. Maoris were working for wages on the roads.
At their head was Ngatote, a brother of Kereopa who had
recently been executed. The loyal Arawa were everywhere
eager to obtain good schools and roads. At Tauranga the
Ngaiterangi chiefs, some of whom had fought at the Gate
Pah, were as cordial as the Arawa. Two of them volun-
teered to escort the Governor through the forest from Kati
Kati to Ohinemuri on the Thames. At Ohinemuri the
Governor met Mr. McLean. Sir G. Bowen was anxious
for an interview with the Maori king, but McLean’s negotia-
tions were resultless. The Governor’s tour on the whole
was described by McLean as productive of the most
beneficial results;” but the secluded king maintained a
boundary which he would not pass to see the Governor,
and which the Governor could not cross to look at him,
The attempt seemed so easy and McLean’s triumphs had
been so great that the Governor could scarcely curb his
vexation. Mr. McLean essayed to pacify him by declaring
that ‘owing to various tribal differences the interview is
likely to be deferred, and it is deemed advisable that no
mmpatience should be displayed to hasten the negotiations.”
There was a lamentable tone of exultation in some docu-
ments of the period, at a rumour that Tawhiao had given
way to habits of intoxication—a tone which can be
accounted for, but not justified, by disappointment at his
obstinate seclusion. While the Governor was thus employed,
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“That, Sir,” said McLean in the House, ‘“is the sequel to
those operations which have been carried on under Major
Ropata.”

A Maori clergymen, Rev. Mohi Turei, rendered thanks,
and asked ““for the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the
spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the Lord, that we
may show forth Thy praise and declare Thy goodness, not
with our lips only, but with our whole hearts, and turn:
unto Thee, and walk before Thee in holiness and righteous-
ness all the days of our lives, through Jesus Christ our
Lord. . . .” Ropata, wearing the sword presented to
him by the Queen, exhorted the tribes to ‘pray always, in
prosperity and in adversity, to be the children of Christ, as
the first duty, and to be loyal to the Queen. God preserve
the Queen and you (the people), and take you under His
Divine protection.”

When the Assembly met (July, 1872), the Governor
congratulated it on peace, prosperity, and public works.
The government had no representative in the Council. The
committee appointed to prepare the Address regretted that
the Governor had not been ‘“advised according to constitu-
tional usage’” to secure a representative. The omission
was especially notable, because new members had recently
been appointed. The attempt to dispense with a respon-
sible organ of the government in a legislative chamber was’
not persisted in, and Mr. Hall and Mr. Miller were appointed
to represent the government in the Upper House. Mr.
Hall’s first appearance as a minister had been with Fox in"
1856. Stafford then cut short Fox’s term of office. Ten
years afterwards Hall joined Stafford. Fox turned Stafford
out in 1869, and in 1872 Hall again cast in his fortune with-
Fox. Parata asked why the government had done nothing
towards compliance with the resolution of the House, in
1871, that it was desirable that the native race should be
represented in the Council. McLean announced that
measures would be taken to call two members to the
Council. Nearly three months elapsed, two changes of.
ministry had been made, and the session was almost at an’
end before the promise was fulfilled. Wi Tako Ngatata
from the west, and Mokena Kohere from the east, were then-
(11th Oct.) appointed. The first had laid -the English under:
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obligation by checking Hau Hauism af a critical time. The
second had risked his life in campaign after campaign, and
had received a sword from the Queen. Sir David Monro,
whose appointment to the Upper House had been looked
for as an act of courtesy, had found a constituency at
Waikouati, and sat again amongst the Representatives. At
his election he had denounced the policy of the government
as ‘“‘reckless, extra.va.ga.nt and unstatesmanlike.”

The manner in which the ministry made and annulled
ministerial offices induced Mr. Waterhouse to move in the
Council that it was opposed to constitutional usage. The
burning question of provincial and central powers had been
raised, but evaded, in 1870 and 1871. Mr. Macandrew’s
proposition, in the latter year, to substitute, inter alia, one
provincial government in the Middle Island for the several
existing provinces, and to establish a uniform system of
dealing with land throughout the colony, had been defeated
by 41 votes against 22. In the same session Mr. Vogel had
promised that the government would, in 1872, introduce a
measure to deal with the whole subject. Mr. Gillies, member
for Auckland City West, and Superintendent of the Auck-
land Province, asked for the fulfilment of the promise. Mr.
Vogel said that the government were of opinion that it
would not be feasible to take from the provincial govern-
ments their present powers without throwing so much work
on the central government as would break it down.

‘We are not in any degree approaching the termination of
provincial legislative powers. I think it quite possible that
we shall see—perhaps after the lapse of considerable time—
the establishment of a single province in each island, exer-
clslng larger provincial powers than those which at present
exist.” The question was evaded without a division, but a
future measure was hinted at. Supporters might be lost in
1872 if its provisions should not prove acceptable, and while
the bill could be renewed there was no desire to meet its
qbligations. But no caution could ward off a blow even in
1872. Mr. Stafford moved hostile resolutions. Some effect
was produced by a member for Hokitika, who showed how
the Treasury had subsidized petty partisan newspapers by
advertisements, and squandered most money where least
result was obtained. Other favours there were, secret,
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sweet, and precious, which Mr. Vogel justified on the
ground that, as an old member of the fourth estate, he
knew they would be agreeable to many newspaper pro-
prietors. Corruption was hinted at by Mr. Reid, the
member for Taieri. ‘“Has the action of the government
with regard to appointments been satisfactory? My reply
is that they have not, and it would be interesting for us to
know how many appointments are yet to follow, especially
for members of this House. I may say that there are
rumours about the lobbies that appointments are to be
given to honourable members, but I do not know that they
would condescend to accept them.”

Mr. Vogel, to whom the manceuvres complained of were
chiefly imputed, showed little sense of the degradation they
represented, but he was apparently heard without im-
patience:—‘‘I should like to know whether entering this
House is to be considered as a disqualification from holding
office in the Civil Service of this colony. . . . Weare
carrying the principle to a ridiculous extent if we exclude
persons who have been members from receiving appoint-
ments. . . .” ‘The statements which have been made
are not reflections upon the government; they are reflec-
tions upon honourable members. If there are corruptors
there must also be corrupted, and when we are charged
with corruption it is also a charge against members of this
House that they are capable of being corrupted.” By this
process it might be argued that when the physician of
Pyrrhus offered to poison his master, Fabricius became cor-
rupt although he exposed the corruption of his tempter; or
that when Fabricius refused to be dishonourable the
physician ceased to be corrupt.”

. Mr. Fox could hardly rely on such a defence, and early in
the debate McLean was put forward. His aid had enabled
Fox to oust the Stafford ministry in 1869. Confidence in
him gave assurance of peace. His speech was a running

? Mr. Reader Wood, a colleague with Mr. Fox in 1864, asked in the
debate, and no one impugned him: ‘Has not patronage flowed backwards
and forwards through this House in one continuous stream? How many
members have been launched into the Civil Service? Has it not been
understood, and have we not intentionally been made to understand, that
the direct pecuniary interest of members of this House is to support the
government ?” ‘
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commentary on his dealings with the natives. The Board
of Advice at Taranaki, which comprised Maori chiefs; the
peace with the Maori king; the campaigns of Ra.nglhlwmul
and Ropata; the civil service then being rendered by Rangi-
hiwinui, ‘““as faithful and good an officer as there is in the
country;" the intention of the government to avail them-
selves still more of Maori advice; the special intention “ to
restore to Te Rangitake a portion of his ancestral property ;™
the prospect of a general amnesty;—formed the burden of
his address. At its close he revealed a startling proof of
the confidence reposed in himself. A suggestion had been
made that he should take office in the new government
on the downfall of Mr. Fox, but he had stated that
he should decline to do so. Yet, after this public state-
ment members expressed a hope that McLean’s scruples
would be overcome. One member declared: “If the
government are saved upon this question it will be
through the reputation of Mr. McLean.” They were
not saved. By forty votes against thirty-seven, Mr.
Stafford’s first resolution (on administration) was carried.
The four Maori members were equally divided, for and
against the resolution. Mr. Vogel probably thought them
stupid. A ministry hung in the balance, and yet these
men talked about peace, patriotism, and justice. Sir G.
Bowen wrote that it was reported that the chiefs said that
as both sides were profuse in expressions of friendliness
they determined not to be unfriendly to either, but to allow
the dispute to be settled by the Pakeha votes. Fox
resigned (Sept., 1872) and Stafford formed a ministry.
Mr. Waterhouse declined to take office. Mr. Sewell became
Colonial Secretary. Mr. Fitzherbert, Mr. Gillies (Trea-
surer), Mr. Reid, and Mr. Curtis were his colleagues.
Stafford announced that the government would maintain
the unity of the colony with the seat of government at
Wellington. He enumerated the measures which he would
proceed with before the recess. But he was not fated to
reach that haven of rest. His assumption of responsibility
for native affairs was not calculated to breed confidence.
In 1860 he concurred in the rape of the Waitara; and
in later times he had allowed Col. McDonell so to deal
with a few cases of horse-stealing as to rouse Titokowaru
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to resistance. He had transported (without warrant, and
untried) Te Kooti, who had never been a rebel. He had
converted the escape of his captive into a dreary catalogue
of murders, which only the gallantry of Rangihiwinui and
Ropata and the prudence of McLean had been able to crush.
He had insulted and dismissed the man on whom Maoris
looked as their friend. To secure the aid of that man he was
now willing to arrange that if McLean would, on the fall of
his colleagues, come over to the camp of the victors, McLean
should retain the office for which all men thought him fitted,
Failing to secure McLean he would himself be Native
Minister, and deal with Maoris through local officers. Not
to such hands would either colonists or natives submit
themselves. 8ir G.Bowen lost no time in soliciting for Mr.
Fox, Mr. Vogel, Mr. McLean, and another outgoing minister,
permission to retain the title of ‘ honourable’® after their
retirement.

Eruera Patuone, the brother of Waka Nene, died a few
days after Stafford became minister. He announced that
the government would accord a public funeral to one of the
most faithful allies they ever had. McLean told the House
that in anticipation of the old man’s death he had issued the
necessary instructions before vacating office. Captain
Wynyard, son-in-law of the deceased chief (and son of

® The cravini&for the retention of this title might have warned the
Colonial Office that by wholesome conferring of heritable honours a valuable
order might have been created ; while the grace of the Queen would have
been revered. Some Governors were bla.meaﬁfle for not enforcing the early
colonial regulations which declared that it was understood ¢‘ that out, oing
ministers would tender their resignation of office as Executive Councilfors. ?
Some defeated ministers declined to conform to this requirement ; and
Governors did not compel them to obey it. Sir W. Denison in New South
Wales was an exception. He told a recalcitrant that unless resignation
were tendered removal would ensue. The New Zealand and other examples
fixed the evil practice. Amended Regulations for Her Majesty’s Colonial
Service have stereot it. It is now ¢ understood that councillors who
have lost: the confidence of the local legislature will tender their resig-
nation . . . or discontinue the practical exercise of their functions, in
analogy with the usage prevailing in the United Kingdom.” The Governor
is empowered to ‘“‘appoint-and remove,” but the power is ineffective. An
ex-executive councillor may misconduct himself without fear of removal.
In one colony a man who was dismissed from an inferior post for dis-
honesty, became subsequently a minister, and induced the Governor to
cancel the order of dismissal made by a previous Governor ; and the man
remained officially ¢‘Honourable.”
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Eerpir o, Wyaxand . bad died in New Zealard, and Patuone
wipe 1 D Deshed Y thee side of his white son-in-law. On the
an v Jiax (tonih Sept) that this vnibute to a faithial ally was
wrorried, Tokaoa. who bad voted against the downfall of
Mo lwatt, pt a crucial question to Stafford. Would the
g comvent to the appeintment of a committee to
ity iato the wnfuliiled promises in the Middle Island;
o Wkl they inquire into the matier? Stafford was
seatvely ingenwous in replv. He did not object to the
wasiktiiiee. but had no power over the order in which
nohives were bronght before the House. McLean thought
the rephy wnsatisfactory.  Precedence could easily be given
W Taiaroa's motion.  Stafford took the hint. Precedence
was givem, and Talaroa carried his motion without a
division,

Another Maorl matter cropped up. Taurca, a chief of
the Iakakohi hapu on the west coast, had joined Titoko-
wari,  Tauroa's friends averred that he was compelled to
do s, and Colonel Whitmore stated in the Legislative
Couneil that Titokowaru ** sent parties to bring Tauroa and
his hapn to his eamp by force.” When Titokowaru was
youted and Rangiliwinui was pursuing Te Kooti, the
verident magistiate at Patea and Major Noake (commanding
the loval fores, llt\lu"{ 300 (composed principally of Maoris)
mawrehod to the abode of Tauroa, who had refused to act
with Titokowarn any longer. Tauroa had fought against
the Bnglish in 1866, and his tribal rights had then been
dJeolaved oonflseated, but Mr. Parris had afterwards per-
witted him to settle on a block of land, on which he was
living poenvenbly when Titokowaru compelled or persuaded
him to tuke armua. Major Noake with his small army found
Tauroa willing to submit to the Queen. The resident
magistrate reported : ‘‘ Tauroa does not plead anything in
extenuation, and has thrown himself entirely on the mercy
of the government.” With 122 others the chief surrendered,
and was handed over to the Ngatiporou allies, who were
serving in the forees on the west coast. But such chivalrous
treatment was brief. Tauroa was sent to Wellington,
gonvicted of high treason, and sentenced to be hanged,
drawn, and quartered. The sentence was commuted fo
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three years’ imprisonment.? Captain Fraser declared that—
““The self-denial of the chief, and his affectionate attention
to his people during their incarceration, won for him the:
respect of everyone connected with the gaol, and (Captain
Fraser) was so favourably impressed with his conduct that
he told him that when the time came for his delivery from
the gaol, he would do all in his power to obtain for him the
restoration of a portion of his lands.” Rangihiwinui and
others pleaded for their countrymen. At last Donald
McLean appeared, and Tauroa with the remnant of his
hapu was taken back to Wellington in 1872. Then new
difficulties arose. The white settlers at Patea resented the
proposal that Tauroa should return to the land of his birth.
McLean feared it would be injudicious to restore him at
once. The remigration was arrested. The natives were
told that they might quarter themselves on their country-
men anywhere except at their homes. MecLean hoped to
allot land to them out of Tauroa’s hereditary possessions,
when discontent amongst the settlers had subsided. How
the discontent might manifest itself was adumbrated by a
paragraph which at this time was quoted by Mr. Mantell
in the Council, from a newspaper. ‘ We are assured, how-
ever, that if there is any further interference the Maoris

® Tauroa could not understand why the colonists punished the body and
also confiscated the goods. ‘I was told” (he said to the West Coast Com-
missioners in 1880)—¢ ‘You and your people have done wrong in rebelling
against the Queen.” I answered, ‘I have not done wrong. I have not
carried arms against the Queen, but against yon, and you now say it is
done against 51(5 Queen.” I waited, expecting to be told that the land
would be all taken for my wrong-doings; but no; all the blame was put on
me, and not on the land. . . . If%sha.d been told, when I was tried at
Wellington (1869), that my land was to be taken for my offences, then I
should have understood it; but I was not told so at the time. My body
was punished for my offences.” Messrs. Fox and Bell told Tauroa that it
was no part of the duty of the judge to say anything about the confisca-
tion; but the facts remained that Tauroa was occupying his land with full
knowledge and consent of the government in 1869—that no proclamation
of confiscation was or could be made after that date (the Settlements Act
having expired)—and yet his land was seized. Another Maori retorted to
the Commissioners: ‘“Mr. Richmond’s promise to Tauroa was not made
verbally only ; it was put in writing.” ‘“We know that,” replied Fox
and Bell; ‘““but the war swept away all promises written and verbal to
those who joined in it” (N.Z.P.P. 1880; G. 2, Kp. 37, 38, 39). How
foolish must the Commissioners have thought the hero of Waterloo, who
declare’d that there could be ‘‘no higher interest than that of keeping your
word !’ co
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will be shot down like dogs, as a number of determined
men are armed and ready to act. This is the best argument
in such a case with savages, if the Native Agents and Native
Office cannot maintain the indubitable right of the settlers.
The argument is a potent one with the Australian blacks,”
Potent indeed had been the rifle and the gun against the
Australian native, and the wide domains of Queensland
had witnessed and were witnessing in 1872 unnumbered
murders committed on a race ignorant of fortifications, and
armed only with wooden missiles. But what the editor
called argument was not less brutal because it was true.
Colonel Whitmore, who had met Tauroa in the field,
admitted that it was a Maori custom for a successful chief
to compel the adberence of others, ‘‘ and it seemed to be a
peculiarity in the native character that it never occurred to
them to resist or refuse under those circumstances the
constraint that was put upon them.” He sympathized
with Tauroa, but said that Fox had created a special diffi-
culty by improperly telling the settlers at Patea that
Tauroa should never return there. Thus McLean’s hands
were bound, and Colonel Whitmore feared that if the
unfortunate tribe should appear in its birthplace it would
go from imprisonment to death. After an adjourned debate
- the Council resolved that it was ‘‘ desirable to act with
clemency and liberality towards the chief Tauroa, and the
Pakakohi hapu, lately prisoners at Dunedin, who have been
dispossessed of their land.” On the day when the Council
thus resolved, Taiaroa brought forward a kindred motion in
the Representative House. Parata supported it. Would
the government restore a fragment of Tauroa’s birthright
to him? Let them not refer to the deeds of the late
government. Maoris wished to know what was to become
of their brethren,—whether they were to be well or ill
treated,—whether they were to exist or to perish. Mr.
Fox thought it was highly dangerous for any one buf
McLean to deal with a problem so difficult. Several
members asked Taiaroa.to withdraw his motion. Katene
joined in the entreaty, but denied that Maoris only were in
fault in the past. Was there not the Waitara land seizure ?
Did they not know that if Te Rangitake had been willing
to abandon to the Pakeha what his father on a deathbed
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had enjoined him never to lose, the government would have
been friendly to him ? ~ Say not then that the Maori had
committed all the faults. ‘It was alleged that there were
difficulties in doing anything for Tauroa and his people ;
but the promised act of grace was long in being fulfilled,
and therefore it was that the Maori members joined in
urging a speedy determination, so that these people who
were wanderers on the face of the earth might be settled
somewhere . . .” Let not the government make matters
worse by selling the land which might be needed for the
returned prisoners. In deference to the desire of the House,
Taiaroa withdrew his motion; hoping at the same time that
the government would leave the matter open for a just set-
tlement by not selling land in the district in the meantime.

On the 4th October, Mr. Vogel moved that ¢ the House
has no confidence in the present government.” There had
been much secret management and Mr. Vogel considered a
majority secure. But Fox was not more popular than
Stafford, and it was arranged that Fox should declare that
his name should not appear in the ministry to be formed
on the fall of Stafford. McLean, of course, as Native
Minister, was to be a tower of strength. Vogel, resolute to
take office, spoke of the ‘ exquisite tact” of the gentleman
who thus gave way to a politician so young and inex-
perienced as himself when compared to Mr. Fox. He
assailed the government for having, during their month of
office, followed ¢‘ the footsteps of their predecessors.” He
revealed unintentionally his own disappointment because
he had not in 1865 been taken into Stafford’s government
when Mr. Weld was driven from office. He stood forward
as the champion of provincialism. ¢ All the prominent
members of this House who are provincial in their tenden-
cies” (he said) ‘“were members of the pa.rty whose vote
turned out Mr. Weld’s government, and who in a little room
in this building asked Mr. Stafford to accept the position of
head of the government under the assurance—alas ! it was
a very delusive one—that he would carry out the policy of
his party. It is a matter of history how he became
released from his colleagues a few months afterwards, and
joined himself with those whom, by the assistance of the
provincial party, he had before turned out.” He descanted
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abpul the 'lveasury accounts; he extolled McLean, and
pradiclod that *“ native affairs in disorder,” and a stop to
colonizwtion, would be the result of Stafford’s continuance
i oftice. A relic of the contempt formerly felt in the
colony for the mover was shown in Stafford’s reception of
the motion. No one rose to reply to it, and when Vogel
somplained that discussion would thus be ¢ burked,”
Stafford said there was nothing to debate. By 37 votes
against 35 the motion was carried. Parata, the western
Maori member, with Katene and Taiaroa supported the
resolution which seemed calculated to restore McLean as
Native Minister. The influence of the goldfields popula~
tion was powerful in all divisions. There were 33 members
for the Northern Island, and there alone Maori questions
were dangerous, but 45 members for the Middle Island
were able to overbear them. Stafford asked for a dissolu-
tion. Sir G. Bowen wished to know whether the existing
Assembly would grant supplies. He added (in a posteript
to one minute) that he would not object to testing the
opinion of Parliament upon the point at issue:—on condi-
tion that his correspondence be placed before it, and that
the passing of the Appropriation Act be deemed the proof
that Parliament agreed with Mr. Stafford. Stafford replied,
that but for the posteript he would have tendered his
resignation at once. He submitted that before making
proposals in Parliament founded on a contemplated dissolu-
tion, he ought to ‘‘be enabled to announce that on supplies
being granted Parliament would be dissolved. By adopting
any other course the duty of deciding whether Parliament
should be dissolved or not would in fact be relegated to the
House instead of resting, as it constitutionally does, with
his Excellency.” It was Sir G. Bowen’s habit to discuss
profusely with men of all parties every question of the hour;
and those who thought his confidence most intimate and
gracious, were surprised to find that he had poured into
the ears of many what they had thought reserved for their
own. He had arrived at the conclusion that Vogel could
form a ministry, and he declined to give the pledge desired.
He laboured to secure a fresh administration containing
My, Vogel. He urged that all proper attempts to form a

istry had not been exhausted, and that if circumstances
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were different his action would be different. He did not
touch upon the implication that he had been ready to
surrender the prerogative of dissolution to the will of the
House. Mr. Stafford, after one month’s tenure of office,
placed his resignation in the Governor’s hands.

Mr. Fox was not to be one of the new ministry. Donald
McLean resumed office as Native Minister. The knotty
questiion of the confiscated lands was to be decided by him
in conjunction with Maori chiefs. In the management of
native reserves, Maori chiefs were to be associated with the
existing commissioners. McLean was prone to magnify
his office and to assume that none but himself could deal
wisely with the Maori question. His colleagues were com-
pelled by public opinion to accept him at his own estimation,
and he easily induced them to put Ngatata and Kohere
into the Legislative Council. The final constitution of the
ministry was deferred until the end of the session. Some
offices left unfilled became baits to the expectant, and
postponed the anger of the disappointed. Mr. Vogel could
not safely assume the position of head of the ministry, but
assured himself that he could be the real leader under the
name of another, who came from an unexpected quarter.
Mr. Waterhouse, a comparatively new colonist, but a man
of position who had migrated from South Australia, and
had in 1870 become a member of the Legislative Council,
had publicly stated to the Council (18th Sept.), that ‘“no
consideration whatever would induce him to identify
himself with any party or any administration” in New
Zealand. Therefore he had declined to join Mr. Stafford,
although there was ‘“no difference of opinion between
them.” It was said that his resolution fell before the
persuasive entreaties of the Governor. On the 11th October,
Mr. Waterhouse became the chief minister without salary.
It was correctly anticipated that he would either be a
creature in the hands of others or that he would cast off an
ignominious position. Mr. Miller, by whose amendment
Waterhouse’s condemnation of the Fox ministry had been
barely ‘qualified in August, now declined to rejoin the
remnant of that ministry which Mr. Waterhouse was
nominally to lead. The latter, in announcing the fact,
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pnhilio]y daploma: Siheloss of Mr. Miller's “ ability and
intoprity of chempdan )
e pew HHBRFEYX WSS I RO danger throughout the brief
porminder i the session. The railway policy of the Fox
il ipISEr IR Wk Seven hundred and sixty-four
yniles of *hiwaX. t be eonstrueted at the pablie cost, were
panctioned. (e ivadequacy of New Zealand ministries in
fulfi.ling  REOMESGS  Was y displayed. Wi Tako
Nchrakh. tabing his seat (15th Oct.) in the Council, asked
foie the nwsn;w\ement of a bill by which lands, to which
+ilpe wetie i dispute, were affected. He wished to see a
ardation of the bill, but none had been made. On the
g Ovtober Mr. Mantell carried a motion that in order
¢may dex Majesty’s subjects of the Maori race might have
it opportunity of considering legislation affecting them,
alt bills of sweh purport should be *“ prepared, translated,
winged, and oirculated at the earliest possible date prior
w their introduction.” McLean did not produce his
measwre for constituting native loecal councils until the
22ud Oetober. It was to apply only to what were called
native districts. Everything was to be done with consent
of the Maoris. McLean said they were the best judges of
their own disputes, and that no English lawyer or judge could
understand them so fully as they could, but the House was
averse to entertain the subject at the close of a session, and
MecLean withdrew it. A measure dealing with remnants of
the celebrated Rangitikei-Manawatu land case was intro-
duced at an equally inconvenient date. On the 22nd Oct.,
MoLean moved the second reading. After all Dr. Feather-
ston's labours, and after the judicial decision accepted by
so many natives, McLean assured the House that so
inexorable was the pugnacity of Maoris that ‘it would have
been dangerous to attempt anything like forcible measures
for the occupation of the district. This much he could say,
that if such measures had been resorted to, no settlers
would now be living upon that block.” To justify his
position he declared that the imputation that he was
responsible for the Waitara wrongs was erroneous. He did
not deny that he had advised Governor Browne in March,
“9; but long before ¢ disturbance broke out he was on
east coast, and did not know what was taking place.
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He afterwards removed to the Middle Island, having deter-
mined to retire for two years on account of illness. On his
return from Otago after an absence of a few weeks he first
heard that war had been decilared at Waitara.” His
enemies declared that he had seciuded himself under the
plea of illness when he saw the gulf into which Governor
Browne’s advisers were about to plunge, and even friends
must have been disappointed, when after twelve years the
old man could make no better defence than the ambiguous
statement dragged into the debate on the Rangitikei-Mana-
watu Bill. It may have been that McLean like others had
something to learn in 1859, and had been wise enough to
learn it. It is certain that his reputation in the colony in
1872 enabled him to take higher ground than he could
aspire to when the Taranaki conspirators obtained the ear
of the Governor in 1859, and McLean, like Crispus, yielding
to the torrent, defended in 1860 at Kohimarama the wrong
doing at Waitara. '

The bill of 1872 related more to provincial necessities
than to Maori tenure. McLean had reserved nearly 14,000
acres for the Maoris in order that the government might
derive benefit from the decision of the Land Court in 1869.
An Act was required to make valid a grant of the land,
which was provincial, and the province of Wellington
demanded compensation, although by the reserve of less
than 14,000 acres McLean had secured quiet possession of
240,000. A clause added to the bill appointed the Speaker
(Dillon Bell) to decide what compensation should be given.
The clause was rejected in the Upper House. Vogel asked
the Lower House not to insist upon it, but its author, Mr.
Fitzherbert, foiled him on a division. Vogel equivocated,
and Mr. Fox declared—‘‘ The House has now done the
maddest thing I have ever known any Assembly to be
guilty of.” A prorogation terminated the dispute, and
the efforts of the session were not altogether thrown
away. A Rangitikei-Manawatu Crown Grants Bill, pre-
viously passed, enabled the Governor to fulfil agreements
with the Maoris. The Speaker furnished an opinion only,
as the Attorney-General had formally pronounced that he
could not give an award. The opinion (brought before the
Representatives in 1874) elicited angry disputes. It recog-

D2
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nized the broad facts that after the decision of the Native
Lands Coutt in 1869 there were disturbances, the surveyor’s
pegs were removed by the discontented, and McLean, with
the earnest concurrence of the general government and of
the province, had hastened to the spot to allay trouble, and
make needful concessions. All were glad when he made
them in the shape of reserves. Fox telegraphed from the
spot (Nov. 1870) : “ There were only three possible
courses :—1st, to fight for it, which neither the government
nor the Assembly would do; 2nd, to render settlement
possible, by satisfying the natives as McLean has done; or
8rd, to let it stand over for years. The course pursued has
been by far the best and cheapest of the three.” For the
18,875 acres reserved by McLean, and taken from the
provincial estate, the province of Wellington claimed com-
pensation ; and the Representatives, on the opinion of their
Speaker, seemed willing to grant it, to an amount of about
£15,000. But the government, with questionable morality,
strove to evade responsibility for McLean’s award by saying
that they thought it would bind not them, but the province.
They alleged that McLean, though Native Minister, must
have been deemed acting as an agent to save the province
from trouble, and the province ought to bear the cost. Fox
said that such was his impression at the time; but when
asked whether—if money had been awarded by McLean
instead of land he would have thought that the province
ought to pay it—he replied that he * did not think that
view occurred to him at the time.”” The provincial
authorities, on the contrary, averred that they believed it
to be the duty of the government to put them into peaceable
possession of the block. Seizing upon the Attorney-
(Feneral’s opinion, Vogel said : ‘ The government have no
intention whatever to abide by the award, but to confine
themselves strictly to the terms of the reference.” The
Speaker replied that when the Native Minister declared to
him that the government were willing to leave the matter to
his decision he had agreed to act, but that if he had known
how the government were about to proceed he would have
washed his hands of the whole affair. Angry debates ensued.
Mr. Gillies, differing from the award, thought the honour of
the government pledged to it. Fox defended, and Mr..
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Fitzherbert vehemently attacked the government. =~ By 29
votes against 25 Mr. Vogel was defeated. He then opened
a masked battery. He would include the sum in the
Provincial Works Advances Bill then before the House, and
thus keep the word of promise to the ear, but break it to the
hope. Mr. Fitzherbert retorted that such a course would be
equal to saying, “ We owe you £15,260; we will discount
your bill and charge you for it ;” and Mr. Vogel resorted to
secret means to sap the majorlty recorded against him. A
week later, in committee, a different decision was arrived at
by 81 votes against 25; after a debate in which Mr. Fitz-
herbert averred that Mr. Vogel had ‘ connived, coiluded,
and conspired with certain members of the Provincial
Council, and had informed them that they need not put
themselves to the trouble of rejecting a certain bill, for if it
were sent up to him he would disallow it.” Mr. Vogel
denied the impeachment, but his antagonist undertook to
prove it in the House, and Vogel could only reply that what
he said in private conversation was not said in his capacity
as Chief Minister. The New Zealand proverb that land was
a cause of war had been exemplified at Manawatu. From
the time of Rauparaha’s conquests in 1818 until 1874 the
land had furnished ba,ttle grounds for Maoris, for soldiers,
for land courts, commissioners, governors, and pohtlclans
Sir Charles Dilke thought he had seen it put to rest in
1866, yet in 1874 it was the subject of doubtful contest in
the General Assembly for adepts in secret arts which they
called diplomacy, .but for which other men found other
names.

The railway policy sanctioned by the loan schemes of
1870 was pushed on in 1872, although the contracts entered
into by the government were la.rgely in excess of the amountg
authorized by law. Vainly a member implored the House
not to approve a plan which would create a debt of £4,000,000
sterling for works to which, under the existing Loan Acts,
only £2,000,000 were apphca,ble, while more than £1,000,000
had a.lrea,dy been paid. Vainly some members shuddered
at the blankness into which they were asked to plunge. Sir
J. Cracroft Wilson reminded the House that two years
previously he had warned them of the calamities they were
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émbracing, and they had now nothing to do but to front the
danger boldly. Vainly Mr. Sewell moved an amendment ex-
pressing a desire to give effect to the true policy of 1870,
but refusing to authorize the government to enter into new
contracts beyond Parliamentary control, for which no pro-
vision had been made, and by which unlimited liability
might’ be created. Vainly Colonel Kenny entreated the
Council to stand between the colony and ruin. Vainly Mr.
Chamberlin made ‘‘ one remark’ on the bill: ““I am one of
those who supported the public works scheme, and never in
my life did I make a greater blunder.” Vainly did Mr.
Sewell declare that they were allowing the Treasurer to
saddle a population of 280,000 people with a total debt of
more than £14,000,000 sterling. Eleven members of the
Council entered upon their journals a protest against the
bill. The enormous debt, so disproportionate to the means
of the colony; the vague powers put in the hands of the
government; the indecent haste with which the measure
was forced on at the close of a session, and when many
members had left the seat of government,—were recorded
for the benefit of the curious.

The royalty or export duty on gold was ordered to be
reduced to two shillings an ounce. The government had
urged that the loss of revenue would fall on the provincial
governments, but the motion was carried, some members
ludicrously denouncing the royalty as a tax upon a class.
The gold which was public property was allowed to be re-
moved at a rate which for eleven years averaged more than
£2,000,000 sterling in the year. Any one of the publie
could remove it if he chose. The duty was levied only on
the amount of public property abstracted, and the amount
paid by way of royalty for taking possession of the property
was about 3 per cent. Generally, it was removed by per-
gons who were not the material of which worthy colonists
are formed. Yet to obtain votes the mining interest was to
be propitiated. In vain did Mr. Curtis, a Nelson member,
assert that though obtained for convenience through the
Custom House the levy was derived as royalty, and was
properly Crown Lands revenue. Other Acts of a less
objectionable nature swelled the statute-book. But the
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master-stroke of the session was the Railways Bill, which
gave blank-charter to Mr. Vogel, who relied upon the
necessity under which the colony would be placed to retain
him as croupier in the game played under his direction.
-. After the close of the session the.Waterhouse ministry
placed two Maori chiefs, Katene and Parata, in the Executive
Council. Early in 1878 the Governor was informed that
his services were to be transferred to the colony of Victoria,
and that Sir James Fergusson (Governor of South Aus-
tralia) was to govern New Zealand. Sir G. Bowen’s last
public act in New Zealand was to unveil the monument in
memory of Waka Nene, at the Bay of Islands; and he -
commented on the fact that the close of his government
witnessed such ‘‘a mark of respect to the memory of the
Maori chief who was mainly instrumental in procuring the
cession of the sovereignty of the islands to the British
Queen.”. 'He had sent to England a significant document
prepared by McLean in Feb., 1872. At the west coast,
as at Waikato, McLean pledged the government to terms
on which the Maoris were to live peacefully on their heredi-
tary lands. McLean wrote: ‘“During a late visit to Wan-
ganui and Taranaki, he had been enabled to adjust various
points in dispute in connection with land boundaries and
other matters which had for some time been a cause of
irritation. . . . Arrangements have also been entered
into with a view to a more accurate definition of native
rights within the confiscated territory, and for the acquisi-
tion by purchase with the goodwill of the natives of such
portions of land as they hold within it but do not require for
their own use, and which appear desirable for European
settlements.” 10

The Governor congra.tulated the Secretary of State on
these ‘““very satisfactory assurances of the establishment of
permanent tranquillity.” Lord Kimberley, in return (May,
1872) had ‘“much pleasure” in conveying to the Governor
““the congratulations of Her Majesty’s government upon
the success which has attended your endeavours and those.
of your ministers to 1mprove the relations between th@
Maoris and the settlers.”

® N.Z. pp.. 1872, A. No. 1, p. 63, and A. No. 1 A. }Vide infra, chap.’
xix,,—Mr. ﬁa.ll’a .comment on gu‘ A. Gordon’s despatch of 26th Feb., 1881.)
P
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- Ten years later it was the misérable fate of Lord Kim-
berley to assist in violating the arrangements of which in
Her Majesty’s name he thus approved.

On the eve of his departure the Governor was perplexéd
by the resignation of Mr. Waterhouse, who found his posi-
tion irksome. - He had taken office to confer dignity upon
the ministry, and he had brought indignity upon himself.
The Treasurer’s office enabled him to drag his colleague
through ways of which the latter disapproved. Mr. Hall,
the Colonial Secretary, resigned, and in handing Mr.
Hall’s resignation to the Governor, Mr. Waterhouse ten-

- dered his own. " He declared that he did not desire that his

release from office should terminate the ministry. He was
willing to hold office till the return of Mr. Vogel, who, as
was his custom, was absent af the charge of the colony at
a conference in Sydney. Three of the ministry, Messrs.
Bathgate, Richardson, and O’Rorke, entreated Mr. Water-
house to withdraw his resignation. The Governor was
equally importunate. But Mr. Waterhouse resented the
Governor’s reference to the importunities of his colleagues.
“He, while Premier, and not his Excellency, was the
mouthplece of the ministry, and felt bound to observe that
the numerous interviews which his Excellency has had with
Mr. Waterhouse’s colleagues, and the formal meeting which,
prior to the receipt of Mr. Waterhouse’s resignation, his
Excellency arranged to have with them, but to which Mr.
‘Waterhouse though Premier was not invited, have not been
in accordance with recent constitutional practice.” For a
time Sir G. Bowen appeared master of the situation. When
Mr. Waterhouse pressed his resignation, the Governor told
him that Mr. Vogel would be asked to accept the office of
chief minister on his return from Australia. Mr. Water-
house declined to nominate a new Colonial Secretary, and
directed the master of the vessel which was to waft the
Governor to Auckland not to sail without directions from
himself. He entreated the Governor at the same time to
accept his resignation. In dudgeon, Sir G. Bowen wrote a
curt minute, formally releasing Mr. Waterhouse. The
“New Zealand Gazette” informed the gossiping public of
many minor details. Mr. Fox consented to hold office
until the return of the man whom the strange “arf of the

-
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necessities”” of New Zealand had made precious to her. On
Mr. Vogel’s return he became chief minister in name as
. well as in fact. He took into the ministry Major Atkinson,

of Taranaki, who had been a colleague of Mr. Weld in
1864. McLean was the inevitable Native Minister, and Dr.
Pollen accepted office as Colonial Secretary, with a seat in
the Legislative Council. Throughout the ministerial changes
the Maori chiefs, Katene (the Ngapuhi) and Parata (the
Ngatiawa), remained members of the Executive Council.

The material progress of New Zealand during Sir G.
Bowen’s tenure of office may be briefly recorded. The
population, 218,668 in 1867, was 279,560 at the end of
1872. The export of gold had fallen from £2,700,275 fo
£1,780,992; but it was natural that thé hoard of ages at
the surface should be grasped in largér quantities by early
seekers than by subsequent gleaners. The value of wool
exported had risen from a million and a-half to two millions
and a-half sterling. The flax exported had sprung from
£4256 to £99,405. The kauri gum had risen from £77,491
to £99,405. Of wheat, provisions, tallow, timber, and
minor articles, the exported value had mounted from
£116,834 to £584,708. The ordinary revenue had declined
from £1,195,512 to £1,005,942; the territorial had in-
ereased from £561,780 to £618,772. The total imports
were £5,344,607 in 1867, and £5,142,951 in 1872; but the
importation of capital and labour required for the public
works and immigration schemes, the consequent increase
of population, and the facilities of communication which
would be afforded by the hundreds of miles of railway, the
construction of which was in progress, were rightly regarded
as sure to remedy, at least for a time, the decline in that
table of figures which is the gospel of men of the Manchester
school. The electric telegraph already throbbed over much
of the island. There were 714 miles of line in 1867. In
1872 there were 2812. The postal revenue had risen from
£55,381 to £94,788. There were nearly 10,000,000 of
sheep in the islands, which showed an increase of nearly a
million and a half since 1867; and horned cattle had
multiplied from 812,000 to 486,000. ‘

A laudable ambition prompted the authorities of the
universities of New Zealand, and of Otago, to petition for
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Royal recognition of their degrees throughout the Queen’s
dominions. The Waterhouse ministry supported the peti-
tions. Lord Kimberley shrank from advising the grant of
charters to an indefinite number of universities in the
eolony. He had thought that the university constituted
by an Act of the general legislature would be looked upon
as the central university, and would wait for further
information as to the views of the General Assembly. His
suggestion was well received. The original Act, founding
the New Zealand University in 1870, and ena.bling the
Otago University to merge itself by arrangement with the
general university, was repealed by a new Act (1874),
reconstituting the New Zealand University, and recognizing
it as the institution which was to confer degrees in the
colony. The authorities of the Otago University concurred
in the arrangements made, and the Queen granted a Charter
of Incorporation.! Mr. Henry John Tancred, one of the
members of the first ministry appointed by Governor
Browne in 1856, was elected Chancellor by his brother
eouncillors in 1871, and was re-elected in 1873 and in 1875.
The office of Vice-Chancellor was similarly conferred on Mr.
Hugh Carleton, previously mentioned in these pages. Mr.
Fitzherbert, Mr. Gisborne, Mr. Rolleston, and Mr. Stafford
were amongst the public men appointed by the Governor-in-
Council to control the university when it was first created
in 1870, and an amending Act in 1874 confirmed them and
others in their positions. Letters patent of a later date
gave rank and precedence to degrees conferred by the
University of New Zealand, equal to those of degrees con-
ferred by universities of the United Kingdom.

During Sir G. Arney’s temporary administration an event
occurred which warned the colonists of the thin crust which
separated them from the volcanic fires which lay under
what was called the native question. Maoris were In many
districts resuming agricultural operations, but commis-
sioners and magistrates reported that there was a growing
addiction to strong drink, and that the rising generation
were not so fine a race as their progenitors. The chief

' Canterbury College, and the Auckland University College prospered.
In 1892 Ca.nterbury had 345 students, Otago 213, Auckland 137; and the
number of enrolled. graduates (by examination) in 1893 was 373.
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Katene was complimented upon having energetically pro-
moted roads and public works in the north, and eagerness
was shown in many places to establish schools. Mr. H. T.
Clarke uttered a warning voice as to the risk of collision, by
reason of the eagerness of European speculators and run-
holders. Friendly relations with the Ngatihaua ought to
be encouraged, inasmuch as ‘“in the event of a conflict with
the Waikato, should such a calamity arise, altered relations
with the Ngatihaua would tend greatly to the security of
the Bay of Plenty districts.” At Wanganui, Rangihiwinui
was commended for having declared that he would look to
the law, and to the law alone, for redress of land grievances
between his people and the Ngatiraukawa. He had sub-
scribed largely towards the erection of a mill at Pipiriki, in
order to win back to their old homes the tribes which had
been scattered by the war; and McLean promised a go-
vernment subsidy of £50 for every mill erected. ) i

Suddenly, where Mr. Clarke apprehended danger, amid
the Ngatihaua territory, a deed of blood threatened to
revive animosities. The territory of the tribe at the place
was about 400,000 acres. Confiscation had taken from
them 150,000 acres. They had alienated a larger quantity
by lease or sale to Europeans. Of the rema,mmg 90,000
acres about 50,000 were claimed by a ‘‘hapu’” unfrlendly
to the remnant of the followers of the late king-maker.
That remnant, nevertheless, could put fighting-men into
the field. Ma.ny of them were Hau Haus, and might meet
sympathy among Tawhiao’s adherents. Blocks of land in
their territory had been surveyed, and the Native Lands
Court had, in 1867 and 1868, investigated the title and
issued certificates. The surveyor swore that when making
his survey of the Pukekura block he was opposed by two
Maoris, Tima and Mohi Purukutu. Mohi declared that a
portion of the land was outside of the government bound-
ary. The Court found that a large number of natives
living with Tawhiao had claims on the land, but it never-
theless issued a certificate in favour of 26 named Ngatihaua
claimants; and subsequently a Crown grant was issued to
10 Maoris recommended by the claimants as the persons
who were to hold the land in trust for the owners in terms
of the Act. One Captain Wilson obtained a lease of the
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block, and transferred his lease to Messrs. Walker and
Douglas, who placed stock on the land without delay. In
Sept., 1870, three cattle were shot. In July, 1871, & huf
was burnt on the land, and sheep and cattle were driven
away. In 1872 Mohi Purukutu harassed the cattle on the
land. A meeting of Tawhiao’s friends was held (Jan.,
1878) at Maungatautari, and a king’s messenger said that
the cattle ought to be removed. Mohi Purukutu was the
keeper of the march (the king’s aukati in the neighbour-
hood), and after the Maungatautari meeting associated nine
others as his ¢ comites,”” with Maori titles. Unfortunately,
McLean’s wariness was not brought to bear on these
dangerous symptoms. In Feb., 1878, two of the border
counts saw Europeans digging near Rotorangi on land
which had been purchased, and Paora Tuhua struck one of
them. The assailant was seized, but was released imme-
diately. Mohi Purukutu threatened worse proceedings, not
only against Europeans, but against natives who had
concurred in letting or selling the land. On the 28rd April
a Maori, Parakaia, was seized by Mohi Purukutu and armed
companions, who carried him off to their settlement. They
questioned him sharply, but spared his life on finding that
he had taken no parf in leases or sales of land. Some of the
band kept guard over him while seven went on an expedition.
At daylight on the 25th they returned, and saying that
““glaying had taken place,” released their captive. The man
slain was Timothy Sullivan. With two other men he had
been engaged (24th April) making a fascine road outside the
confiscated boundary. They knew that they were beyond
that boundary. While gathering firewood one of them
looked up and saw natives. It must have been felt that
transgression was dangerous, for the man cried out, “ We
are dead men, the natives are upon us.” All three ran.
After a few minutes Sullivan called out, * I am done, I shall
stand. Good-bye; take care of yourselves.” He endeavoured
0 hide in some underwood. The others held on their course
for two miles, but they heard a shot fired near Sullivan’s
hiding-place. When they reached the confiscated boundary
the leading Maori fired a parting shot, and called off the
pursuers. Sullivan’s body was found mutilated. The head
had been taken away. One of the successful runaways
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testified that a friendly Maori. had warned him that the
Europeans must be cautious, for that natives were out in the
fern, but he said, ‘ The reason why I did not take the warn-
ing was that I had been so often warned before.” He
thought that the man who shot Sullivan was Te Pouturura,
and suggested the names of two others. An inquest
resulted in a verdict that Sullivan was ‘ wilfully and
brutally murdered by Pere Te Pouturura and three other
natives, names unknown, but one supposed to be a native
named Whira, and another named Paora; and that the
government be requested to adopt such measures as will
effectually prevent the recurrence of such horrible outrages.”
_ How much mischief might have been done by prompt
geizure of the Maoris named may be inferred from the
official report of Mr. James Mackay, jun., who was ordered
to inquire into the circumstances. *“ The finding of the jury
has since been discovered to be incorrect, and that none of
the persons mentioned in the verdict were present at the
fime.” The perpetrators, Purukutu and Te Tumu, with
Maori candour, made no secret of their work. A significant
report was made by Mr. Mair in June. ‘‘The unfortunate
murder of Sullivan, while working on leased land, now
admitted to belong to Mohi Purukutu, but leased to
Europeans by others, furnishes considerable cause for
uneasginess.” Mr. Mair acquitted the Maori king of any
responsibility for the murder; he was, indeed, using his
influence to withdraw Mohi Purukutu and other dangerous
persons to his residence, where he might control them. But
his influence was not great. Mr. Mair said :

- “In consequence of the repeated warnings about the selling and leasing
of land, very few of the kingites will admit that the slaying of Sullivan at
Pukekura is 4 ‘kohurw’ (murder) ; with them it is simpl{l a ‘patu’ (killing).
At the same time they think it only natural that we s oulg expect ‘utu’
(payment) for Sullivan’s blood, and if Purukutu could be secured quietly,
believe that they would willingly let the matter rest; but the open
advance of a European force into the king country even for the avowed
ELW of pursuing the murderers of Sullivan, or the occupation of
whia, would, I am satisfied, lead to a war all along on Waikato
frontier. Ngatimaniapoto, as a tribe, might for a time stand aloof, but
the well-known Maori lust for excitement, recklessness of consequences,
would be too much for the hot blood of so warlike a people. Te Kooti
does not appear to exert his influence for-evil, his desire being to live at
peace ; but should the tribe go to war, he would, I am convinced, again
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murder ‘of Sullivan would be considered. He showed
how accurately he had been informed about it: I
have heard that the Maoris who killed the Pakeha
(Sullivan) at Pukekura chased another man named Jones,
fired at him, and when Jones reached the boundary of the
confiscated lands, called out: ¢ Stop, Jones, there is an
end of it; you are at the boundary.” Mackay said: ‘ Yes,
that took place. Jones says so.”” *Then,” rejoined Rewi,
“ do you not see that the Maori thought that he was acting
according to the law? The king said, ‘Do not lease the
lands outside the boundary.” They are leased and the
Europeans are therefore killed. If you demand the slayers
they will not be given up.” With a body-guard of 19 men
provided by Rewi, Mackay rode back to Alexandra, and
thence returned to Cambridge, where the government,
assisted by Te Wheoro and Kukutai, established patrols and
redoubts for the protection of the district. Te Wheoro had
a contingent of 60 men. At the suggestion of Mr. Mackay
the government withdrew some survey-parties from the
Ngatiraukawa district, and Tawhiao kept Purukutu out of
further mischief by keeping him at Tokangamutu, where
rumour stated that it was his custom to be always armed.
When Sir G. Grey quitted the government in 1868, brief
time elapsed before mismanagement under Mr. Stafford
provoked Titokowaru and Te Kooti to the field. It almost
seemed as if before the new Governor could arrive, in 1878,
the Waikato frontier was to be in a blaze. But Donald
McLean averted the danger. Sir G. Arney informed the
Secretary of State that it was deemed unwise to pursue
Sullivan’s murderers, who were lying in wait, ready to be
attacked, and hoping that an assault upon them would
rouse Ngatimaniapoto and Waikato to their aid. It was
determined to appeal to Tawhiao, through the mission of
Mr. Mackay, and otherwise. Many chiefs expressed their
disgust at the murder of Sullivan, and at a meeting of
Ngatihaua and Waikato chiefs at Tamahere, on the 5th
May, a committee was appointed to take measures to
capture the murderers. The Ngapuhi tribe offered their
services as usual to uphold the law. The government re-
solved “ to treat the outrage as an ordinary case of murder;”’
to secure if possible the aid of Maoris in arresting Purukutu
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and his comrades, and by no means to endanger peaceful
relations with the Maori king, or embroil the centre of the
island in war. 8ir James Fergusson, having arrived in
June (1878) met the Parliament in July. His s
dwelt more on renewed declarations of loyalty by friendly
chiefs than on the atrocity committed, and announced the
grounds on which the government had abstained from
precipitating a war. Both Houses accepted the policy of
McLean. The fact that Purukutu was really an owner
whose interests in the Pukekura block, though asserted,
had been unjustly neglected, was not forgotten in a Native
Land Bill which McLean introduced and in the preparation
of which Sir William Martin assisted.

Almost for the first time was heard a voice expressing
doubt whether the Maoris were destined to disappear from
the face of the land. A more accurate census than had
previously been obtained indicated, in 1874, that their
numbers were greater than had been believed.

Males Females, Total

There were in the North Island ... 23,639 19,769 43,408
In the Middle Island .. 1,417 1,191 2,608

Total ... 25,066 20,960 46,016

The returns furnished to Sir G. Bowen in 1868 had
ascribed to the North Island 87,017, and to the Middle
Island 1500, making a total Maori population of 88,517 ;
and though hundreds had fallen in the field in the mean
time, the later census showed that the Maori population
was larger by nearly 20 per cent. than had been supposed.
Mr. Fitzherbert declared that the race was not in his
opinion destined to be swept away so rapidly as some who
professed to be great authorities imagined, ‘“and he saw no
reason, looking at the matter from any point of view, why
such a consummation should be expected. He believed the
natives would yet form an important part of the permanent
population of the country.” _

MecLean’s Land Bill thrust increased responsibility on the
government, and gave more power to restrain improper
traffic in land. It professed to guard the native reserves
as an ancestral patrimony inalienable hy temporary
occupants ; it threw on the government the charge of the
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surveys of lands, leaving it to make necessary arrangements
for the recouping of the cost; it prevented any litigious:
member of a tribe from forcing upon the Land Court
the investigation of a title when thetribe who were joint-
owners were almost unanimous against it. It required that,
not ten names only, but that those of all native owners
should be included in a grant. Mr. McLean declared that
the native members had made  valuable and thoughtful
suggestions’” which he had embodied in the bill. Critical
members almost shrank from the task of analyzing the bill,
which Mr. Rolleston pointed out was hopeless in face of the
faet that ‘‘last session it was impossible in the view of a
considerable number of the members for any government to
exist that had not Mr. McLean in it.” Takamoana opposed
the bill because it had no retrospective action in regard to
lands already unjustly dealt with. Mr. Fitzherbert did not.
oppose the bill, but objected to the provision that the lands
of original native owners should be unaffected by provincial
or county laws. With his views that the Maoris would not
vanish from the land, he thought it monstrous that their
lands should for ever be exempt from local taxation. He saw
danger in legalizing large purchases by speculators. It
would be well to suspend all transactions temporarily. One
person had negotiated for 50,000 acres, at fourpence an
acre. How, if such things were allowed, could the Legis-
lature afterwards burden the country to make roads and
railways for the benefit of owners of lands thus acquired ?
Parata supported the bill, not because it was brought in by
his honourable colleague (McLean), but because it embodied
a principle in vogue with Maoris for eleven years. He
maintained that the Native Land Courts had conferred
great benefits, and averted frightful evils. The absence of
compulsion in the new bill was prized by Maoris. Mr.
Reader Wood supported the bill. Mr. Sheehan, the first of
the New Zealand legislators of European descent who could
claim Maoria as the land of his birth, supported the second
reading, but suggested alterations, and after a short reply
by McLean, the second reading was agreed to without a
division. There was one palpable blot in the bill, which
was not removed. The judges under the Act of 1865 held
office during good behaviour, and their salaries were fixed.

Vol. IIT. E
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‘““We have,” they said, ‘‘suffered from mortgages, from sales of land,
and spirituous liquors; . . . we trust you will permit our land to
abide with us, for such was the Queen’s promise at the treaty of Waitangi
in 1840. The same promise was renewed by Governor Browne (at Kohi-
marama). Friend, ﬁr. Speaker, . . . the Queen has certainly no
desire to see her Maori people, her New Zealand subjects, live without
estate. Should you nevertheless sanction these laws, then our very exis-
tence will be crucified. . . . We ought to project laws for ourselves,
inasmuch as you have been these 32 years emacting laws for the Maori
pe?lple, and grievances to the Maoris are the only results of your labour
and your guidance.”

It may seem incredible that, after Mr. Mantell's motion
was carried in 1872, the New Zealand ministry had done
nothing in the way of compliance with the resolution that
bills affecting the Maoris should be translated for their
information. The defect was exposed by Mr. Mantell him-
self. He moved for a return showing the titles of the bills
translated, and the dates at which they had been circulated.
Dr. Pollen, the new leader of the Council, confessed that
the return would be—nil. Mr. Mantell carried his motion,
and the return, when furnished, was a blank.

It was natural for Wi Tako Ngatata to demand time to
consider the new bills. It was not unnatural that the Vogel
government should be careless about compliance.

The Native Lands Bill was passed with amendments
added in the Council. The warnings of Mr. Fitzherbert
were justified by events. Rogues and capitalists plied their
various arts to cajole the Maoris and procure their lands.
McLean probably had not intended to promote those arts ;
but it was difficult to resist the wiles of schemers whom he
was unwilling to offend.

A Native Reserves Bill, brought in by him, proposed that
receipts and expenditure connected with the reserves should
be published annually in the Maori language. It consoli-
dated and amended the existing law on the subject. In the
early occupation of New Zealand it had been customary for
‘purchasers from Maoris to make reserves for the natives. If
the purchasers desired to appear honest such reserves were
absolutely essential ; for Mr. E. J. Wakefield told the House
in 1878 that the claims of the New Zealand Company, with
those of private purchasers, amounted to 18,000,000 acres
more than were comprised in the islands of New Zealand.
The “tenths” which the New Zealand Company allotted

E2
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would have left to the Maoris 5,000,000 acres, if under the
circumstances such a quantity could be found for them.
Other instructive remarks were elicited in 1873. Mr.
Sheehan stated that he ¢ could name scores of instances in
which the land had mostly gone in paying for the survey
and recovering the survey fees.’”” Against one block
surveyed for about £25 there was a judgment obtained for
£120, and it was about to be ¢ sold by public auction to
satisfy the surveyor, and to pay the expenses attendant on
enforcing his claim.” Wi Tako Ngatata said that the pre-
vailing difference between the Pakeha and the Maori was
that the Pakeha had for thirty years always tried to rob the
Maori; and Dr. Pollen, who represented the government,
declared : ‘I have myself seen natives hovering about the
gtreets of Auckland who owned an estate of 80,000 acres
against which there was a surveyor’s charge of some £150
or £200, and I have known that estate sold for one shilling
an acre to pay the surveyors. The unfortunate proprietors
left the town without a sixpence in their pockets, feeling that
their estate had been unjustly and ruthlessly sacrificed.”

Dr. Pollen illustrated the manner in which Maoris were
made ¢ victims of licensed interpreters, land-sharks, and
lawyers.” There was a block of 48,000 acres of land,
between Napier and Taupo, with natural boundaries so
complete as to require only three or four miles of fencing
to enclose it :

*“That land was let, or purported to be let, by the native owners, for
what did the council think? £18 a year!—48,000 acres of land for £18 a
year! In the document which purported to be the lease there was a
covenant inserted to the effect that at the termination of the lease the
natives should pay to the lessee compensation for ever¥' kind of improve-
ment he might have effected upon it during the term of the lease. hat
did that mean but absolute confjscation of the land. But there was more
to be said about this particular transaction. The clause which he had
just referred to in the deed was ruled over with a black pigment of some
kind, as if it were meant to be an erasure. There was not the usual
memorandum in the margin, showing that the erasure had been effected at
the time the deed was signed; there was nothing to show when or how it
was done. The whole affair seemed very remarkable. It struck him that
the colour of the ink was unusual, and he took the document into a survey-
office, and having asked one of the draftsmen what was the character of
the ink, he took a sponge and showed that it was quite possible to wipe
out the erasure by simply washing it over. That came within his know-
ledge in his capacity as commissioner. It was an extreme case, but it
illustrated the system of fraud, under the authority of the law, the natives
had been subjected to for years.”
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Such were the acts that goaded the Maoris. These were
the resources of civilization which made them appeal across
the ocean to the Queen for some impartial judge to stand
between them and Governor Browne’s advisers, who hurried
him into the Waitara war.

It was impossible that in any assembly containing
English gentlemen redress should not be sought for such
grievances. Sir William Martin was at hand to strive for
justice. Mr. McLean declared in debate that he was about
to add clauses to the Native Reserves Bill which Sir W.
Martin had suggested. Takamoana was not satisfied with
the bill. It did not define the reserves. The Assembly
was making many laws, so many indeed that the Maoris
were not able to carry them all on their backs—they had
better be provided with a cart to put them in—but he did
not approve of a bill which did not explain clearly what it
meant. After debates in which Mr. Fitzherbert and Mr.
Fox took part, and Mr. Rolleston said that nothing new
which was in the bill was good, Mr. McLean steered it
safely through the Lower House. In the Council the two
Maori members found friendly aid in the Standing Orders.
Mr. Pharazyn pointed out the neglect of the order that
bills relating to Maoris should be translated and printed.
The Speaker could not allow the bill to be proceeded with
unless on suspension of the Standing Orders. Wi Tako
Ngatata asked Dr. Pollen not to be in a hurry, but to wait
until the bill was translated and understood; and the
second reading was deferred. When, subsequently, Dr.
Pollen moved it, Wi Tako Ngatata asked :

‘“Why should our lands and our houses be taken care of? My house is
my own; my coat is my own;—why should they be interfered with? Have
you Europeans a similar law? I believe not. And this law is to apply

only to the Maori. . . . For what reason was I invited to this council?
Why was there not a reserve put upon me? Let us have no such provision
made for the Maoris. You tell us that we are equal to you. . . Do

not enact that the Maoris shall be treated in one way and the Europeans
in another. That is wrong. Now listen. It is thirty years since the
European came here, and there is this difference between him and the
Maori; that it was the European who had the desire to rob the native.
My opinion of the bill is that it is wrong. I asked that it should be trans-
lated so that the tribes should be able to read it for themselves. These
two things I cannot do. I cannot read English and I cannot understand
it; and that is the reason my people have presented to you a petition upon
the subject of printing bills in our language. I wish you to know that I
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am well-disposed towards you, as I now live amongst you. We have
assisted the Europeans when we have been disregarded by our friends; and
our property has been taken from us. We had no disturbances till these
laws were introduced, and I am forced to believe with regard to this bill,
that you are now tying us up with a rope, and placing us in the position of
horses. You tie the Maoris to a post, and the commissioners are to come
and take care of us. We have no affection for this. . . . Youknow
a great deal about legislation. You say our lands should be taken for the
benefit of the natives ; and our lands are taken, and our children are to be
ta.ught the English language. And after they come out of the schools what
land are they to live upon? Are they to live upon the earth, or fly like
the pigeon? What is the good of saying that the Maori children shall be
educated in English? When you ta,k:antﬁxe land from under them what is
the good of education ? Serious thoughts have oppressed me during the
last few years. I have not seen any justice done by the Europeans lately.
.. . . As to commissioners being appointed, that is something new.
They are to be substitutes for the Queen. It is not right that somebody
else should take care of my house and land. I can take care of them, and
of my wife, and of my children too. It pains me much to see these laws
passed. . . . My people have seen this bill, and they say it will be like
the time of Pharaoh when the yoke was placed upon the necks of the
children of Israel. The same thing is being done now. Whilst we live we
can ward off danfers, but when we are dead our children will be like the
children of Israel. Our lands will all be in the hands of commissioners.
What I have to say uion the subject is, that if you wish this bill to be
read, I am quite agreeable that it shall be read—this day six months.”

Mokena Kohere seconded the amendment and briefly
declared his agreement with Ngatata. Colonel Whitmore
supported the chiefs. Mr. Mantell was ‘““not surprised that
the natives were opposed to this abominable measure.” He
read to the Council some words spoken there ten years
before :

I was present when the treaty of Waitangi was made, and an atten-
tive and an anxious listener to all that passed. I heard Her Majesty’s
representative arguing, explaining, promising to the natives, pledging the
honour of the Queen and of the British people for the due observance of it ;
giving uﬁon the honour of an English gentleman the broadest interpreta-
tion to the words in which the treaty was couched. The ink was scarcely
dry on that treaty before the suspicions which had been temporarily
allayed by the promises of the Governor were awakened with redoubled
force ; and I need scarcely remind the Council that from that time to this
every action of ours affecting the natives has presented itself to their eyes,
and has been capable of that interpretation, as showing that the one
object and business of Europeans in g:ew Zealand was to obtain possession
of the lands of the natives, recte si possint, si non quocunque modo. Before
we talk of the duties of the native to us we ought to be able to show that
some of the duties which the Crown undertook to discharge to the native
people have been so diacharied. I ask any one to point out on the
statutes of this colony any of those measures which might fairly be said to
have fulfilled any of those obligations which devolved upon the Crown at
that time.” ¢‘ Those,” said Mr. Mantell, ‘‘ are remarkable words. They
come from an authority which even the honourable gentleman representing
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the government will not question—from the Honourable Dr. Pollen. I
hope the time will come when we shall see him in a position to give utter-
ance again, unfettered, to similar sentiments.”

Mr. Mantell denounced the clauses which gave power to
Commissioners to extinguish native titles and vest land in
Her Majesty as a reserve subject to the operation of the
Act. He would be ashamed to give his assent to such
iniquitous provisions. He entreated the Council to listen
to the request of Wi Tako Ngatata. Mr. Waterhouse, on
the other hand, urged that to throw out the bill would
leave the existing law in force. Let them rather amend
the bill. If they could not do so, he would join in opposing
the third reading. Dr. Pollen did not attempt to answer
his own words. He complimented the intelligence and
ability of his ‘“honourable friend, Ngatata,”” and undertook
to avail himself gratefully of assistance in amending the
bill, which was read a second time and referred to a select
committee, on which Dr. Pollen placed Ngatata. The
committee amended the bill in such a manner that some
who opposed the second reading voted in favour of the third,
but Mr. Mantell and Mr. Pharazyn were hostile to the end.
One amendment may be cited as a proof that Ngatata's
appeal was not wholly in vain. ‘‘In every district created
under this Act there shall be elected by the natives resident
in the district from amongst themselves . . . three
persons as Assistant Commissioners, who, together with the
Native Reserves Commissioners, . . . shall form a
Board of Direction for the administration of the native
reserves in such district. . . . The Native Reserves
Commissioner shall from time to time . . . call a
meeting of the Board, who shall by a majority of its mem-
bers decide on all matters connected with native reserves
in the distriet for which they are constituted, &c.” The
Representatives agreed to the amendments made by the
Council.

Mr. McLean was unable to carry a Native Councils Bill
through the troubled waters of the session, and withdrew it
in the Lower House, promising to introduce it afresh in
1874. A Native Grantees Bill was passed to remedy griev-
ances suffered by native grantees under Crown grants. The
bill afflicted their tenancy. Mr. Sewell and Mr. Hart dis-
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cussed the legal bearings of the question from hostile points
of view. Colonel Whitmore could not learn from their
arguments how to decide, and advocated delay, though the
session was almost at an end. Mr. Waterhouse derived as
little help from the lawyers as Colonel Whitmore, but said
“it was satisfactory that they had in the Council honour-
able members of the native race who had been successful in
understanding the bill, and he would compliment the
Council on the fact that the natives comprehended a bill
that was beyond the comprehension of the rest of the
Council.” Supported thus the bill was passed on the 1st
October. . . :

Taiaroa was unsuccessful in establishing the claims of
the natives in the Middle Island. He obtained a committee
‘which reported to the House on the antepenultimate day of
the session. Mr. McLean opposed the adoption of the
report. It might lead to “forfeiture of a large proportion
of the public estate.” Mr. Rolleston and Mr. Fox objected
also. Taiaroa had a word to say. Why did not Mr.
MecLean and Mr. Rolleston attend the committee of which
they were members ? There was no trouble likely to flow
from adopting the report.

“It said that the government should, in the first place, consider the
claims of the Maoris; and the appointment of commissioners, one by the
government, and one by the natives, was only an alternative course, . .
promises had been left unfulfilled for the last 25 or 26 years; he would like
to know why the member for Avon and the Native Minister who had
been connected with the government had not caused those promises to be
sooner fulfilled. It was on these promises that the land in the Middle
Island was sold, and they ought therefore to be fulfilled. . . . If these
promises were not fulfilled he would be comFelled to accuse the Europeans
of having committed a great crime. He would be glad that the government
should take the matter in hand; but if they did not there was a Parliament

of greater magnitude than this in another part of the world to which the
natives could have recourse.”

Mr. Sheehan formally moved the adoption of the report,
but withdrew his motion on the assurance that the govern-
ment would endeavour to settle the matter fairly during the
recess.

The conduct of the ‘¢ Waka Maori” newspaper, which was
in 1877 to shake a government to its foundations, was
discussed in 1878. On appeal from Mr. Stafford, Mr.

-Waterhouse had in Jan., 1878, promised that no partisan
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spirit should appear in it; and Mr. Mantell, to enable the
public to watch the paper, carried a motion that for the
future the ‘“ Waka Maori”’ should be printed in English and
in Maori in parallel columns. The article complained of by
Stafford was an indictment of himself, and a panegyric
upon McLean.

The difficulty of coercing a Legislative Council has always
provoked the indignation of the leader of the larger House,
where to sustain his position, he must make promises which
it is not in his power to keep while another House has a
free voice. A glaring attempt (1861) to overwhelm a
nominee Upper House in New South Wales by the sudden
creation of members in order to carry a particular measure
had been foiled by peculiar circumstances, which became
known in New Zealand, and the members of the Council
were on the alert to guard the rights of the people of which
they were the depository. The busy brain of Mr. Vogel was
equally vigilant, and the ministry devised a plan formed
upon the model which in England had been condemned in
the House of Lords stirred by the eloquence of the veteran
Lord Lyndhurst. The day after the Assembly met, Dr.
Pollen introduced a bill to provide that all persons sum-
moned in future to the Council should hold their seats for
a limited period instead of for life. The measure was
heralded by the Governor’s opening speech as one ‘to
initiate a reconstruction of the Legislative Council.” A call
of the Council was ordered. Mr. Waterhouse moved for a
committee upon the best method of reconstructing the
Council, and enlarged upon the necessity for a second
Chamber apd the best means of creating it. But the
Council were disinclined to be led by him. They adjourned
the debate until Dr. Pollen’s Temporary Appointments Bill
had been disposed of. Without debate it was rejected. Mr.
Waterhouse’s motion for a Select Committee on the Consti-
tution of the Council fared no better.

Mr. Vogel increased the public burdens, by a new Loan
Act, for public works and immigration, of two millions
sterling ; and by a General Purposes Loan Act for three-
quarters of a million. Vain objections were made in both
Houses. By the first of the bills power was given to the
Governor to buy land in the North Island from the natives
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ata cost of £500,000. A portion of the provinece of Canter-
bury was in an anomalous state. The watershed on the
west coast, which comprised the grandeur of Mount Cook
and the lure of the Hokitika goldfields, had been in 1867
areated the county of Westland. It had a county council,
bat that council had not legislative powers equal to those
of the provinces. When it was created there had been an
mepression that provincial powers would be diminished, but
iz 1873 no steps in that direction had been taken. Mr.
ozel had always advocated vineial powers, and one
of the charges which had driven him from office in
I was that he manceuvred with the provinces to
secure support in his immigration and public works
»iev. He brought in a **bill to eonstitute the county
of Westland a province,” and it became law. On the
Bix July a Provincial Couneil Powers Bill was read a
sevoand titme. 16 removed some of the restrictions which
gixe Lonstitusion Act imposed on the provinces with regard
p awrts of judieature. 16 entrusted them inter alia with
she consrol of valuation and assessment of property for
PRI PREPOSS and other watters. Mr. Vogel believed that
) el wa‘ll world be better able to look after and
adend b loeal vequivensents than the general legislature.”
Cue uwxub«.‘tA\u\\sc&cml agattst xeh & provineial policy. It
world, o satds be better o hand over everything to the
s e atd Wt thew take the wanagement of the Land
\in the LCustons, and bo soparate States at once.” The bill
il (e Bepresengative: Chatuber, but was lost in the
Cuanal Wikt an Edueation Bill of a perwissive character
Who qunen ik wan baetly e tortunate. The industrious
Mol vt theengh the Howse in spite of active
RTIRIE 1 wad declared to bo suspiciously akin to a
m\ mrradiced Bve v peevionsdy by M, Fox, and found
adiiie e bhe Ul paovies, Supparted by wmany mem-
. cha tall et fraagh e Connedl with amendments.
anb L asonee iteichanged botwoon the Houses

Wt bhe e, and the procvgation caused the

W bhe bbb the wepresentatives. It was

o vhe waang wid o the winistry to determine

e s e e caniad of e eadony conld best be

\ b paniiekatig he had w180 got rid of Mr.
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Weld, and in 1878, as on former occasions, he bitterly com-
plained that in 1865 he had only pulled chestnuts out of the
fire for Mr. Stafford, who gave to the catspaw no fruit of its
labours. Parties were so balanced that, fearing to offend
either, he advocated a policy of equilibrium, with the
natural result that neither was contented. Till a majority
eould be assured it was dangerous to declare too strongly
for provincialism or centralism. In spite of taunts in both
Houses about the phantom of equilibrium which eluded his
embrace Mr. Vogel pursued the arts by which he maintained
his ground.

But financial questions pressed for settlement. There
were adverse critics of the manner in which the public
works policy had been carried out, and it was expedient to
shift responsibility for blunders to viearious shoulders. A
Provihcial Loans Bill was introduced to relieve the central
government of a portion of the burden, and to permit the
provinces to raise loans for certain purposes. It was
declared to be a government measure, and no exertion was
spared to secure a majority. The house rang with imputa-
tions that secret influences were resorted to. Mr. Gillies,
Mr. Reader Wood, Mr. Stafford, Mr. Sheehan, Mr. Reid,
Mr. Rolleston, and others opposed the bill in vain. One
supporter of it, Mr. Steward, candidly stated that if it had
not been brought down as it was with an intimation that
the fate of the government was involved, ¢ it would have
been immediately kicked out of the House.”” Mr. Fox
threw himself with vigour into the fray on the side of the
government, and spoke with an air of authority which
offended Mr. Fitzherbert, who intended to vote for the bill,
though hostile to some of its details. Mr. Vogel wound up
the debate. Other members always considered how their
provinces would be affected by a measure. The govern-
ment only thought of the welfare of the whole colony. In
proportion to its resources New Zealand was not heavily
burdened. Scanning the debts of European nations, he
asserted that the colony compared favourably with any of
them. He harped upon the virtues of Mr. McLean. 1
feel absolutely certain that if the government had been in
the hands of Mr. Stafford and his colleagues we should be
meeting now not to devise schemes for prosperous settle-
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ment, but for carrying on a sanguinary war. We owe to
the moderation of the Native Minister the fact that we have
escaped war.” Mr. Reader Wood hinted that the Upper
House would reject the bill, but Mr. Vogel considered that
it would ‘‘have a large respect for the House composed of
representatives of the people upon matters which more
properly belonged to them than to a nominated Chamber.”
‘When the bill went to the Council, Mr. Waterhouse con-
demned a clause which provided that notwithstanding any
Loan Ordinance creating a liability, the provincial revenues
should be subject to be dealt with as if no such liability had
been created. Only the special security described in the
ordinance was to be held pledged. Such a clause was un-
paralleled in the annals of any legislature. Provision for a
loan was coupled with provision for its repudiation. Mr.
Waterhouse affirmed that in the end the colony must become
liable. By 19 votes against 12 the bill was thrown out. When
the decision was known, the government found its supporters
almost unanimous in deprecating a struggle with the Legis-
lative Council. Mzr. Vogel yielded; but took up his parable
against the offending body. He denounced their presump-
tion in talking of finance, and the Speaker, Sir F. D. Bell,
being appealed to by Mr. Stafford, ruled that the word
¢ presumption’ was unjustifiable, and that the Council had
an undoubted right to deal with questions brought before
them. Mr. Vogel tempered his remarks; but said the crisis
was grave, and the government would be justified in using
all strictly constitutional means to secure obedience to the
behests of the elected Chamber. But the government did
not contemplate the ‘“swamping” of the Upper House by
creating new members. He proposed to open a door for
penitent members. The ancillary Provincial Loan Bills
were before the Assembly. He would modify them. Perhaps
the Council, which objected to give a general power to the
provinces to borrow on specified securities, would not object
to modified bills dealing with specific cases. Hawke’s Bay,
Marlborough, Taranaki, Wellington, Otago, Nelson, and
Auckland Loan Empowering Bills were proceeded with so
rapidly that they reached the Council on the 25th Sept., on
which day that body was considering the Native Lands Bill.
Mr. Pharazyn implored members “to save the honour of
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New Zealand by voting against the bills.” Mr. Bonar
quoted a speech in which Mr. Vogel had formerly denounced
the wrong which would be done by adopting any such
principle as that contained in them. Unaided in debate,
Dr. Pollen found only 5 members to vote with him against
28. All the bills were thrown out. On the 29th Sept.,
Mr. Vogel said that there might be a prorogation, but the
government believed that the Council would in a new session
reject measures as summarily and ignominiously as in the
current one. The Appropriation Bill could not be used for
tacking purposes, because special legislation would be re-
quired to provide security in land. ‘“There is no doubt
that the victory lies with the Council at present. It hasset
itself against the wishes of this House, and has thrown out
the measures which this House has passed by large majori-
ties. To those who ask, Are we to succumb to such action?
—are we to allow the people to be governed by the nominee
branch of the Legislature?>—the reply is, that without very
extreme action no other course is open at present.”” The
government would consider the subject during the recess.
When the Appropriation Bill was before the House, Mr.
Fitzherbert and Mr. T. B. Gillies animadverted upon the
conduct of the government. The former declared that no
prime minister ever more flagrantly violated constitutional
usage than Mr. Vogel, when he suggested that members
should endeavour to stir up men’s minds against the Legis-
lative Council; and when, instead of sending measures to
that body boldly, he tampered with individual members of
it in order to ascertain how they would vote upon certain
propositions. Mr. Vogel had, moreover, promised to pro-
pose to borrow money for the works desired, on the credit of
the colony, pari passu with a measure for a property-tax.
The promise solemnly made had not been redeemed. The
breach of faith had humiliated the House. The Council
had the honour of sincerity. The House was, by its leader,
made to appear dishonest. Mr. Vogel's reply did not
traverse the charge thus made, but attacked Mr. Fitzherbert
on various pleas, and enumerated the measures which did
credit to the session. The government would not resign
because a nominee House chose to throw out any of its
measures. Mr. T. B. Gillies gave a different summary of
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the session. He spoke of the miserable outcome of the
large promises of the government. He declared, in con-
clusion, that ‘“‘a system of log-rolling was the mode by
which the government endeavoured to maintain its posi-
tion.” Strongly against his wishes, he had been convinced
that provincial institutions ought to pass away. They had
once done good; but corrupted as they had been, and
applied (as by the government in the Provincial Loans
Empowering Bill) to a use which would have rendered
government by log-rolling the only possible government, he
must thenceforward be ranked as an uncompromising
opponent of provinecial institutions. These words were
significant. The colonists had clung to their provinces in
gpite of many inconveniences. They had maintained their
Provincial Councils, and had made provincial laws in spite
of obstructive incongruities, which the veto of the Governor
on provincial enactments was able to temper, but not to
remove. Others besides Mr. Gillies thought that if their
provincial machinery could be wielded injuriously, it would
be better to abandon it. Intercommunication between New
Zealand provinces and ports had become more easy. Rail-
ways were being constructed. Larger population had
brought into use more powerful vessels to supply daily
needs. Journeys which once occupied weeks could be per-
formed in a few days, or even hours. The knell of the
provincial system was rung when leading men began to
think it was perverted to sinister uses. Like all institu-
tions, it might have friends staunch to the last; but when
they who were of its own house distrusted its capacity for
good, there could be little hope to avert its doom, though
few could foretell what hand would deal the final blow.

The growth of commerce in the South Seas gave the
colonies weight in matters connected with postal and tele-
graphic services. An intercolonial conference was held in
Sydney in 1878, and separate postal lines by way of Suez
to Melbourne, and by Torres Straits to Queensland, as well
as the continuance of the line through America to New
Zealand, were recommended. Intercolonial commercial
reciprocity was discussed. The representatives of New
South Wales, South Australia, Tasmania, and Western
Australia advocated ‘‘a common tariff based on the prin-
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ciples of free trade, and a Customs union” between the
colonies. The representatives of Victoria, Queensland, and
New Zealand (Vogel and Reynolds), opposed them. REarl
Kimberley gratified the discordant conference as well as he
could. An Australian Colonies Duties Act was passed by
the Imperial Parliament in 1878. It defined the word
‘“country”’ as meaning ‘‘any country or place except
Australian colonies and the colony of New Zealand.” It
empowered the colonial legislatures severally to remit or
impose duties on articles exported intercolonially, with a
proviso that, for such purpose, “no new duty shall be
imposed upon, and no existing duty shall be remitted as to,
the importation into any of the Australasian colonies of any
article, the produce of any particular country, which shall
not be equally imposed upon, or remitted as to, the impor-
tation into such colony of the like article, the produce or .
manufacture of any other country.” Two things were clear
to all students of political events. One, that in thus classing
Great Britain as a foreign nation, the bulk of the colonists
had taken no part, and that in the abstract they would have
been opposed to it; the other, that when their political
leaders for the time being had made the demand it was
acquiesced in without inquiry by the colonial public, and
would probably have been supported vigorously if those
leaders had had occasion to appeal for popular sympathy.
Public sentiment will make common cause with its own
creatures, even when public reason disapproves of their
conduct.

The contract for carrying mails by way of San Francisco,
in which Mr. Fox had taken so much pride, did not prove
prosperous. Irregularities in delivery had not saved the
contractors from pecuniary loss. Penalties had been
enforced, but more were due, and on the request of Mr.
Vogel the Representatives declared that they need not be
exacted.

An angry debate arose in the House with regard to Dr.
Featherston, the agent-general in London. In moving the
second reading of a bill to attract a better class of immi-
grants to the colony by a remission of £20 in the value of
land to each adult member of a family, Mr. Vogel hinted
that the relations of the government with Dr. Featherston
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were unsatisfactory. A private member followed with a
violent diatribe against that gentleman, and many members
resented an attack upon an absent man. The government,
in deference to the more manly instincts of the House, con-
sented to produce a despatch, which had ungenerously been
alluded to by the government, but had not been laid on the
table. The storm passed away, and the bill, which had been
the innocent cause of it, became law.

The difficulty of obtaining from immigrants a repaym ent
of any portion of the cost of their passage money was put
before the Assembly in a petition for relief. The railway
contractors had undertaken to import labourers. The con-
tractors took promissory notes from the immigrants for
repayment, but could not recover the money. They averred
that if they sued the defaulters they were compelled to pay
ten shillings a week for the maintenance of each in gaol.
The same inevitable difficulty had existed elsewhere.
Gibbon Wakefield had warned a committee of the House
of Commons, in 1836, that all conditions partaking of the
nature of a promise to do something after the obtaining of
land would become dead letters. On the scale which the
New Zealand loan works involved, the contractors averred
that their loss from deserters was nearly £40,000. It was
urged that the government which imported immigrants
ought to re-imburse the contractors. A select committee
reported adversely to the claim, and deprecated the pro-
duction of the evidence taken. M. Fitzherbert moved that
it be printed. The House had been generous to the default-
ing contractors for the postal service, because it had
benefited the colony. The country had gained 2000 im-
migrants by the railway contractors. Justice demanded
the application of the same principle of leniency in both
cases. In the existing state of the House the subject created
confusion, and a debate upon it was abruptly broken by Mr.
Fox, who called attention to the presence of strangers.

Colonies have always been full of activity and apparent
prosperity when immigration has poured in upon them. A
simultaneous expenditure of many millions sterling on
public works made New Zealand resound like a bee-hive
with the hum of workers. The revenue sprang from about
£1,300,000 in 1871 to more than £2,700,000 in 1873. The
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ordinary revenue of 1873 was in excess of the total revenue.
of 1871, and the territorial almost equalled the combined
revenues of the former year. Mr. Vogel conceived the idea
that a handbook ought to apprise the world of the progress of
the colony. He announced (15th Sept., 1873) that a pamph-
let would be issued describing the resources of New Zealand.
It appeared in 1875. Vogel was editor. Fox, once his.
master but now his pupil, deseribed the early settlement.
Donald McLean told of the native race. Superintendents
of provinces lent their names. Dr. Hector, the govern-
ment geologist, described the climate and the mineral
and agricultural resources. Though published in London
in 1875 the book was printed in New Zealand in
1874. ‘It has been printed here” (Vogel wrote to Dr.
Featherston) ¢ solely for the sake of enabling the editing to
be effected with greater facility. I have decided that the
book shall be printed and published in England. . . . I
suggest for inquiry whether it might not be well to incur
the cost of stereotyping the work.” Embellished by photo-
graphs and maps, and ‘“ edited by Julius Vogel, C.M.G.,” at
a cost of more than £2000, the work found an unappreciat-
ing public in the golony, but served as an advertisement in
more senses than one ; and its editor attained the honours
which he coveted. He became, in 1875, a Knight of the
Order of St. Michael and St. George. He wrote to Dr.
Featherston!? in London, as Masaniello might have written
after discarding his fisherman’s dress. Even when the
agent’s arrangements prospered he was told that he deserved
no credit, but that if he had obeyed orders sooner success
would have been earlier attained. On one occasion (24th
Nov., 1878), Vogel imputed corruption to the emigration
officers appointed under the Passengers Acts in England.
¢ I positively instruct you (Dr. Featherston) that you place
no reliance whatever in the examination of the officers of
the commissioners.” The commissioners asked for an
explanation, but Vogel's progresses made it inconvenient to
furnish one. In April, 1875, he wrote in London to the

' On one occasion Dr. Featherston significantly replied: ‘I still hold
that the course which I adopted, in the case referred to, was the only one-
that any gentleman would, under similar circumstances, have pursued
towards another.”—N.Z.P.P. 1874 ; D. 3, p. 52.

Vol. ITI1. F
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Secretary of State that ‘‘his letter was of a confidential
character and its publication was a mistake.” After his
return to the colony he would decide whether to furnish
proof of the truth of his statements or to withdraw them.
The Governor wrote from New Zealand (Jan., 1875), that
search had been made, but nothing found, to account for
Mr. Vogel’s accusations. There were signs that the
colonists were becoming weary of the idol they had set up.
But the prosecution of the financial schemes could hardly
be withdrawn from Mr. Vogel. Its supporters thought
that it could best be done justice to by its author. Its
opponents thought it right that he should have a fair trial,
and that if it should produce disaster the workman and the
work should be condemned together. Already there were
rumours that the successful adventurer was, after all, only
making New Zealand a stepping-stone to London, and that
if he could secure a position there, either on the Stock
Exchange or as Agent-General for New Zealand, he would
flit from the colony with the plumage obtained at her cost.
In dismissing the General Assembly, Sir J. Fergusson con-
gratulated it on the measures passed.

In 1868, the House had agreed that inquiry should be
made with a view to preserve the forests of the colony. In
1870, a Joint Committee recommended that the government
should encourage the planting of forests, and the agency of
the provinces was chosen as the best means of promoting
the object. In 1871, a bill, devised in the Canterbury Pro-
vince, was introduced by Mr. Hall. It provided that every
one who, in accordance with regulations made by the
Governor-in-Council, planted one or more acres with timber
trees, should be entitled to a grant of two acres of waste
land for each planted acre. The provisions of the bill were
made applicable to any province on due requisition from the
province to the Governor. The province of Canterbury was
not inactive. It established nurseries, distributed plants,
and voted money to encourage plantations. Nevertheless,
the waste of public forests proceeded with alarming rapidity,
and in 1878 a private member moved that the Governor be
requested to appoint a commission on the subject. The
Government admitted its importance, but opposed the ap-
pointment of a commission. They would tonsider the

\
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matter. New Zealand was on this question like other
colonies. In all, the governments allowed the riches of the
woods to be remorselessly squandered or destroyed. In all,
some colonists, wiser than their rulers, implored that some-
thing might be done to arrest the waste, which was never
arrested. For a nominal fee anyone obtained license to cut
down and sell the growth of ages without being required to
plant successors to the forests swept away. Prophesies of
deterioration of climate and failure of harvests did not move
the destroyers. The gold-seeker, whose occupation was to
prey upon the carcase of the colony, found imitators. It
was deemed harsh and unpopular to prevent waste. A
Select Committee on colonial industries (in 1873) suggested
that the provinces should be invited to consider how best
‘“‘the wasteful destruction of the forests of the colony’’ could
be prevented. The rate of the waste was approximately
shown by Dr. Hector. There had been in New Zealand in
1830, 20,370,000 acres of forest land; in 1868, 15,276,000;
and in 18738 there were only 12,180,000. Four millions of
forest land in the Auckland province had dwindled to less
than one million and a quarter.

‘When the session of 1878 was at an end, Dr. Pollen com-
municated with the provinces. Earl Kimberley sent official
reports on the Ceylon forests, and fervid appeals from Dr.
Hooker (Director of the Royal Gardens at Kew), who
dreaded disasters in Ceylon. From Australian colonies,
where the subject had been more or less languidly taken
up; from England; from India, where conservators of
forests had made valuable researches; from Germany,
whither some of those conservators had travelled to observe
the careful system pursued by skilled Forstmeisters, in-
formation was received. It might be well to narrate here
the legislation resorted to in 1874 upon the subject were it
not the fact that it led to unexpected consequences.

While it was popular to do so, Mr. Vogel supported pro-
vincialism. When the elements of public opinion seemed
to be in a state of fusion, he watched for signs of the new
form into which that opinion would crystallize. While the
result was uncertain he was a votary of equilibrium. As
soon as there were indications of the manner in whicu the
divided particles would coalesce his mind was made up. It

F2
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might perhaps be said that his conversion into an ardent
centralist was unworthy, but it mattered not what might be
said if only the manceuvre should succeed. A people willing
to be deceived can only be enlightened if the deceiver be
dull. If the New Zealand atoms were about to crystallize,
Mr. Vogel would be among the first, and would become
conspicuous in the new order of things. He would make
his defence as remarkable as his apostasy. If upbraided
for abandoning his principles he could rebut the charge as
“much ado about nothing”; and could truly affirm that
when he said he would die for provincialism, he did not
think he would live to destroy it. Before obtaining office
he had published a pamphlet to prove that the English
national debt might be paid off if England would borrow
money and lend it to the colonies at an advance of half per-
cent. on the English rate of interest. The colonies would
fatten, and at the same time would pay off the mother-
country’s debt in a hundred years.

It was fortunate that Dr. Featherston in stimulating
emigration from Germany to New Zealand had employed
German agents only. The English chargé d’affaires at
Berlin reported in 1873 that the Prussian government, to
discourage emigration, had resolved to expel all emigration
agents or sub-agents not of German nationality. Not
content with providing emigration to New Zealand, the
ministry devised a plan of annexation of islands in the
Pacific Ocean. 8ir G. Grey had during his first govern-
ment urged that England ought to assert dominion over
many of the island groups. In 1871, an emissary was sent
to the Navigator Islands to report to the New Zealand
government upon their capabilities. In 1873, Mr. Vogel
* respectfully submitted that a policy or line of conduct
should be decided on, not alone in connection with one or
two clusters of islands, but applicable to all Polynesia.”
In Feb., 1874, more precise propositions were made. Mr.
Vogel thought that New Zealand might ¢ earn for reluctant
.Great Britain—without committing her to responsibilities
she fears—a grand Island Dominion.” A company was to
be formed. A man who had been arranging preliminaries
for a bank at Fiji had furnished the idea of founding a
trading company which, like the East India Company, was




NEW ZEALAND AND POLYNESIAN COMPANY. 69

to acquire ascendancy; although, unlike that company, it
could procure no monopoly. The projector thought that
Mr. Vogel might be useful in ““floating the company.”
Mr. Vogel suggested that a commercial company should be
formed, and that New Zealand should give a guarantee of
5 per cent. on the share capital (£1,000,000 sterling) for
fifty years. New Zealand was to be the centre of opera-
tions. Factories were to be established there, and steamers
were to ply with their products to all the islands. The
campany was not to ship goods to the islands except from
New Zealand, and on all goods shipped to them ‘‘other
than the produce or manufacture of New Zealand” the
company was to pay a royalty of 74 per cent. The govern-
ment was to appoint a managing director in London and
another in New Zealand. How the company could contend
with the outer world which had no royalty to pay upon
trade was not explained. Like the Mississippi system of
Law, the New Zealand scheme was to shower benefits at
home and abroad. The islands were to be ‘‘ one dominion,
with New Zealand the centre of government.” The scheme
was submitted to the Governor in Nov., 1878. In Feb.,
1874, promoters had been found for ‘‘ The New Zealand
and Polynesian Company,” and Mr. Frederick Whitaker
negotiated for it with Mr. Vogel. He objected to the
royalty on shipments, and Mr. Vogel accepted, instead, a
provision impounding profits to repay advances made by
the government. The outer world, unfortunately for the
scheme, was still free. Voluminous papers on the capabili-
ties of the islands were laid before the Assembly in 1874,
but the Governor’s opening speech only said that ¢ the
civilization, settlement, commerce, and forms of govern-
ment of the islands present problems of great interest
and importance to this colony.” At the close of the
session, Mr. Vogel, in reply to a question, stated that he
““believed that instructions had been received to reserve the
bill if it had passed.””’® But the ministry submitted no bill

" In 1876, a Mr. Phillips petitioned for compensation for having made
known to Vogel the Polynesian scheme. In 1873, Phillips saw Sir James
Fergusson, and Vogel told Phillips afterwards that the ‘ quieter he should
be with regard to his plans the better.” In 1874, Vogel told Phillips that
he intende?l to carry out the schemé himself, and would not require help
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to the Assembly, and the England of 1874 escaped the
temptation of France in 1718. Lord Kimberley gave a
significant hint to Sir J. Fergusson, when Mr. Vogel’s
financial statement (of 1873) reached England. Passages
which asserted that the Imperial government were con-
cluded in an ‘““undisclosed guarantee™ for colonial loans,
and that “the Governor being an Imperial servant, the
Imperial government would be responsible if their nominee
did not respect the priority which the law established,”
were pointed out as totally unwarrantable, and the
Governor was enjoined to give a copy of the despatch to
his advisers.

Afier the session of 1873, disturbance about land was
apprehended between a section of the Ngatiraukawa and
Muaupoko tribes. McLean resorted to the telegraph, and
the Governor reported that the influence of Rangihiwinui
was effective in averting war. It was arranged that the
ease should be reheard by the Native Land Court. Released
from anxiety, Sir J. Fergusson visited Canterbury, Otago,
and Westland. His published despatches were neither so
numerous nor voluminous as those of his predecessors.
The Waitangi treaty, the Wairau affray, the wars of Heke
and of Rangihaeata had given exceptional interest to New
Zealand, and Parliament had been fully supplied with
information. With the triumphs of Sir G. Grey curiosity
languished, and was only revived by the rape of the Waitara
block, when again volumes of blue-books were produced.
The Waikato war and the wars in memorandum carried on
by Bir G. Grey exhausted curiosity and patience, and Sir
G. Bowen with discursive pen vainly strove as special cor-
respondent with Downing Street to stimulate curiosity.
Those who knew anything about New Zealand were satis-
fied that so long as Donald McLean was Native Minister
there would be no native war. Those who knew nothing
wished to know no more. Though Sir J. Fergusson con-

from Phillips. ‘‘ Under a promise of compensation of £2000 the petitioner
reluctantly resigned” his plan to the government, and Vogel in that year
told the House that Phillips was “¢ entitled to substantial compensation.”
A Select Committee examined the rival projectors, who cross-examined one
another. The Committee reported that Phillips had given information to
Vogel, and that he should receive £150 for it, and a like sum for his other
expenses. - :




SIR J. FERGUSSOI“T ON TRAINING OF CHILDREN OF CHIEFS.

tracted the limits of his correspondence he apprised the
Colonial Office of his movements. In March, April, and
May, 1874, he visited the east coast and the Waikato
district, travelling without unusual escort from Cambridge
to Rotorua. He reported with sadness the evident decline of
Maori morality. I wish,” he said, ‘‘that some systematic
effort were made to fit the children of chiefs by higher
education for their proper work among their people, and
even for taking a part in the future government and busi-
ness of the country. In spite of the comparative failure of
some former attempts, I hope, through private association
if not by the action of government, to set on foot some
definite organization for this purpose.” The very hope
thus expressed breathes sweetly among the dusty records of
New Zealand story.

Early in July the General Assembly met at Wellington.
In that month Earl Carnarvon wrote that on his recom-
mendation Her Majesty had promoted Donald McLean to
be Knight Commander of the Order of St. Michael and St.
George.
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bers or friends of the government. Mr. Waterhouse brought
no charge against the Native Minister, but urged that if the
Assembly would not entrust provincial councils with control
over the confiscated lands, still less should it be delegated
to one person. The Council carried a motion declaring that
the question ought to be regulated by Act of the Assembly
and not by orders ‘“made at the will of the government of
the day.” The Governor replied that so important a sub-
jeet could not be duly considered during the session, but
that his advisers would consider it during the recess. Mr.
Waterhouse also took up the subject of the *“indebtedness
of the colony.” Seventeen millions sterling, at which he
computed it, might be too great a burden. The Native
Lands Act of 1873 had justified the fears 'of some of its
opponents. Mr. Fenton, the chief judge of the Land
Court, with his brethren Messrs. Munro, Maning, Rogan,
and Smith, had drawn up weighty objections to the Act.
The clause which required a judge to make a preliminary
inquiry to ascertain whether an application accorded with
the wishes of ostensible owners of land, seemed ‘of all
things most likely to shake the confidence of the natives in
the justice and impartiality of the Court (which has never
hitherto been doubted); to impede its action; and to
jeopardize the peace of the country.” Moreover, the emis-
saries of the Maori king and others might make objections
and assert claims which no judge could disregard. ¢ Thus
in process of time few claims would survive the preliminary
inquiry.” They subjected the Act to careful criticism, but
expressed no opinion on its general policy. The fact that
they had sent a report to the government became known,
but for a time Vogel refused to produce it. When it was
obtained, the Committee on Native Affairs made sugges-
tions founded on the judge's remarks. McLean adopted
many suggestions, and an amending bill, in a shape which
left large discretion to the judges, passed both Houses at
the close of the session. One important provigion was
made. The concurrence of at least one native assessor
with the judge was required to justify any decision or judg-
ment. Mr. Mantell presented a petition from Maoris in
favour of this provision. Under the existing law the assent
"of an assessor was not necessary. ‘We ask you to amend
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this, so that the assessor or assessors may have authority,
when in court, equal to that of the European judges. Let
no one be greater or less than the other, lest the judgment
be wrong.”

Taiaroa renewed his motion for a Select Committee on
‘ the unfulfilled promises to natives in the Middle Island.”
¢ Let not members be annoyed at his importunity. It was
not his fault; it was the fault of the government in delay-
ing the question.” Mr. Vogel procured a postponement,
and although Mr. Fox admitted that there were ¢ unful-
filled promises,” the committee ‘was refused. On a later
day Taiaroa asked whether the Native Minister would agree
to arbitration, but McLean declined. Mr. Mackay, Com-
missioner of Native Reserves, reported that the claims of
the Ngaitahu tribe, in the Middle Island, were “ good on all
three grounds,”—1. Hereditary. 2. Conquest. 8. Occu-
pation or possession. Their ancestors had conquered the
territory 300 years ago, and the tribe had continuously
occupied the land from the time of the conquest. “1I
trust,” Mr. Mackay wrote, * it will be understood that in
advocating the cause of the natives I am not actuated by
feelings of sentimentalism.” Mr. Macandrew, in opposing
the committee moved for by Taiaroa, said that Taiaroa’s
resolution might ¢ cover a claim for 2,000,000 acres in the
Middle Island.” Mr. Vogel thought ¢ the House was not
in a position to come to the conclusion that there were
unfulfilled promises.” Mr. Mackay had reported that they
were ‘“ not entered in the deeds of purchase, as full reliance
at the time was placed in the honour of the Crown that
they would be fulfilled to the letter.” Mr. Vogel could not
find them in the bond. He knew as well as other members
how indignantly Mr. Mantell had discarded service under
the local government because it would not fulfil its pledges,
but his mind was exercised upon another matter—the ad-
visability of turning from provincialism to centralism!

A bill “to provide for the establishment of State forests
and for the application of the revenues derivable therefrom,”
was the solvent of the problem. He spoke for hours.

‘“The investment of £1 a year in creating forests would,” he said (14th

July), “in thirty-five years give back many many times £100.” Old
sinking funds were now proved delusive ; but the growth and value of
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forests was indubitable. “The government came to the conclusion that
if the provinces would allow three per cent. of the whole of their land to
be taken and set apart as forest-land, we would propose to Parliament to
release the provinces from the payment of the principal cost of their rail-
wa.{s—that is, would relieve them from the payment of the one per cent.
sinking fund they now pay . . . if the amount its railways will cost
is reckoned up, and the total of one per cent. sinking fund upon that
amount is estimated, the exchange which is offered wﬁl be found to be
very profitable to the province. . . . As far as can be done by bill we
put upon the State forests the charge of repaying the public debt of the
colony incurred for the construction of railways.” '

Mr. Stafford in supporting the bill exposed the manceuvres
of Mr. Vogel, who replied: ‘“The feeling with which the
bill has been received in the House and the approval it has
met with throughout the country have led the government
most earnestly to desire that the bill should become law
during the present session.” Mr. Fitzherbert in a trenchant
speech attacked the bill. Under the modest guise of three
per cent. of provincial lands it grasped 2,000.000 acres, and
those, if chosen as doubtless they would be, the best land in
provinces. The real intent of the bill was to take land in-
directly which could not be taken directly. It had nothing
to do with forestry, concerning which Mr. Vogel had culled
from encyclopedias to confuse the common sense of the
House. As to paying off the colonial debt by its means the
idea was absurd, and redounded neither to the credit of the
ministry nor of the colony. Mr. Rolleston told how Canter-
bury had in four years distributed 65,000 trees for planting,
and was further promoting the good work. In 1874, the
province had appropriated £18,000 to it; whereas Mr.
Vogel’s bill only contemplated an expenditure of £10,000 in
the year throughout all the provinces. Mr. Rolleston was
prepared to discuss the question of abolishing the provinces
at any time, on its merits, but not when under cover of a
beneficial object they were insidiously assailed. Mr. Vogel
complained of the bitterness of Mr. Fitzherbert’s speech.

.« « . “When we are told that the establishment of
State forests in the North Island is inconsistent with the
maintenance of provincialism, it seems to me there can be
but one reply :—Abolish the provinces in the North Island.”
There was throughout the island a feeling of real abhorrence
to provincial institutions. ‘I state fearlessly that such is
the fact. There is no one who has done more than I have
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to stem that feeling.”” It was plain that having discovered
the public feelings, Mr. Vogel would sacrifice his own, or
what he represented as his own when he had misunderstood
those of the public. But he was accommodating. He
would cut down the Forests Bill. He would ‘remove all
the provisions as to the acquirement of land.” ‘The State
forests should be such land as the General Assembly should
determine, and such as the superintendents and provineial
councils should request the Governor to set apart.”

Two days afterwards Mr. Vogel notified to the House
that the government had received assurances from many
members, and believed, that a large majority were anxious
to abolish the provinces in the North Island, the capital
being maintained at Wellington, and the compact of 1856
between provincial claims and the general government
being recognized in any Act to be passed. The government
would not ask the Assembly to give effect to their proposals
in the current session. They did not think it fair to the
country to take it by surprise on such a subject. Other
members, however, gave notices of motion, and the deter-
mination of the government was revoked in six days. Mr.
Vogel announced (12th Aug.) that he would, on the 18th,
propose that the provincial form of government in the
North Island should be abolished; and that in the measure
giving effect to the same there should also be included a
provision declaring Wellington the seat of government, and
continuing the localization of the land revenue in accord-
ance with what was known as the compact of 1856. If the
House should not agree to these resolutions, ¢ of course,
the government would pass into the hands of those who
hold other views.”” On the 13th, Mr. Vogel confessed that
the debate on the State Forests Bill had brought to light
facts which forced the government to adopt their new
policy. He admitted that he had at one time strenuously
supported separation of the North Island. But the pro-
vision of funds for carrying on settlement made changes
desirable. He ‘‘ recognized the widely-spread -feeling in
the House that it is not desirable these exceptional
assistances—not to use the term ‘sops’—should be con-
tinued.” But a field would be still left for the power of
the purse. Aid might be given to road boards clustered
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round a central board, as was the case with the Timaru
gystem in the Canterbury district. Something of that
kind might replace the provinces of Auckland, Hawke’s
Bay, Wellington, and Taranaki. It was probable that the
superintendent! of ‘““‘the great province of Auckland would
object.” Mr. Vogel would make a life-provision for that
honourable gentleman, who had devoted a lifetime in
serving the province. The compact of 1856 he would
respect, because ‘‘ any attempt to depart from it would be
simply dishonest, and, besides, would be to the last degree
impolitic.” The government having been questioned on
the subject, would *“ accept any provision the Middle Island
may think necessary to make it most clearly understood
that the land revenue of the Middle Island shall be
applicable to Middle Island purposes, and that the land
revenue of each province of the Middle Island shall be
applicable to the purposes of that province.”” The pro-
vinces were distrustful, for Mr. Vogel declared : ¢ There is
in the great provinces of Otago and Canterbury a feverish
impatience manifested to put apart land, or to sell it,
80 as to place it beyond the reach of the colony.” He
emphatically denied that his resolutions were ““ an attack
upon the Middle Island land fund.” He believed that the
general government could do provincial work better and
more cheaply than the provincial legislatures were doing
it, and there would be great gain in the removal of the
provincial opposition displayed in the North Island against
the immigration and public works policy of the govern-
ment. He declared that no personal ambition prompted
him to a change of opinions which might forfeit the con-
fidence of many political allies. Another minister then
.rose. Mr. O’'Rorke, member for Onehunga, Secretary for
Lands and Minister for Immigration, startled the House
by disclaiming all complicity with Vogel’s proposals, for
which, if he were to vote, he would ‘“deserve to be
branded as a base political traitor.” . . . I obtained
admission to this House on certain principles, and I
do not feel that I am at liberty to fling them to the winds,
either for the sake of office, or to suit my own caprice.”

! Mr. Williamson. He was in the House, and spoke vigorously against
Mr. -Vogel’s resolutions.
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With more words of like import Mr. O’Rorke disclaimed
any personal motives, and left the astonished House. Mr.
Vogel, rising to explain, was interrupted on the point of
order, but being allowed by the Speaker to make a personal
explanation, was arrested by that functionary when he
proceeded to reveal a discussion in the Cabinet. The pith
of his statements was that Mr. O’'Rorke had opposed the.
resolution from the first, but that Mr. Vogel was unaware
that he intended to retire from the government, or to speak
in the language which the House had heard. Mr. O’Rorke
lost no time in handing his resignation to the Governor.
Major Atkinson (member for Egmont), who was about to
succeed to the office vacated by Mr. O’Rorke, cast in his lot
with those who would abolish the provinces. Mr. Thomson,
member for Clutha, asked why there had been no hint in
the Governor’s speech of such vital change as Mr. Vogel
now proposed. *‘The stormy eloquence of the honourable
member for the Hutt” (Mr. Fitzherbert), in debate on the
Forest Bill had engendered the new idea, ‘“‘not a fortnight
ago,”’ in the excited Treasurer. Mr. Reid, quoting from a
speech delivered in 1868 the words, ‘‘ You cannot have a
greater curse in such a country as this than that the
general government should be constantly educating the
people to dissatisfaction with provincial institutions,” was
challenged to name the speaker. He answered: I intended
to do so, but I will do it now. It is the honourable the
Premier whom I am now quoting, whose opinions will have
great weight in this House. He goes on to say: ‘you may
take away the constitution, but you cannot give to the
people another which will earn so much of their respect and
veneration. . . . We have lived under it. We love it.
‘We shall never get another which we shall love as we have
loved this one. We will stand by and preserve that which
we have.’””’

By metaphysical aid it would almost seem that Mr.
Vogel, while keeping a shop in Victoria, transported his
affections elsewhere. Mr. Macandrew declared that if the
resolutions should be carried “no interest in the State
would be safe against the caprice or neediness of the
government of the day.” Mr. Montgomery, from Akaroa,
foresaw that to settle the Northern Island an enormous.
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debt would be created which the revenues of the Middle
Island would be seized upon to meet. Mr. Sheehan de-
clared that a fit of spleen against Mr. Fitzherbert had
exposed the fact that New Zealand was ‘‘suffering from
personal government in one of its very worst aspects.” A
constitution was to be uprooted because Mr. Vogel was
irritated, and members were meek enough to do his bidding.
Mr. Williamson, for whom Mr. Vogel had promised to make
permanent provision, declared that the people of Auckland
would return to the next Assembly no man who would sup-
port Vogel’s revolutionary proposals. On the 20th Aug.,
the foregone conclusion was duly recorded by a division in
the House. Vogel had not given notice of his resolutions
until he had ascertained that he could command a majority,
and Stafford had been the manager behind the scenes.
Taiaroa thought general government more likely than a
provincial government to be just, ‘I myself had a case
which I brought forward. It was discussed in the different
Parliaments of New Zealand, and they could not settle it,
neither could any court in the colony settle it; but when I
laid the matter before the Privy Council then the Super-
intendent agreed to pay.” By 41 votes against 16 the
resolution was carried.

Mr. Fitzherbert (24th Aug.), bowing to the decision
arrived at, asked the House to resolve that the change
should not be ‘“made without first testing the opinion of
the people through the constituencies,” and that the
Governor should be asked to grant a dissolution for the
purpose. Mr. Vogel denounced the dangerous doctrine
that a special appeal to constituencies should precede a
serious change in the law. Mr. Gladstone had stigmatized
it as ‘“ultra-democratic—more than democratic—anarchi-
cal,” and rightly so. But where, as in New Zealand, there
were several provinces with separate legislatures, the objec-
tions to such a doctrine were fatal in the abstract. To
appeal from halls of counsel to the hustings has indeed the
appearance of appealing from Philip sober to Philip drunk,
and in New Zealand there were several Philips to be con-_
sulted. Vogel had the courage of his position, though as
he had so newly assumed it, it could not be said that he
had the courage of his opinions. He moved an amendment
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recommending that the provincial government in the
North Island should be followed by ‘an inexpensive but
more thorough form of local government, under which the
island should be divided into districts and sub-districts,
endowed with substantial revenues, and the residents
therein be enabled to take a larger and more direct share
in the management of local affairs and the expenditure of
local revenues than is at present the case.” ‘‘Endowment
with substantial revenues” was a tempting bait, but the
term was vague. Who was to decide upon the substance ?
Stafford supported Vogel's amendment, and Mr. Fitzherbert
demolished Vogel’s speech. He pointed out that already
success had stirred the government to wider schemes, and
that the altered tone of the Treasurer in moving his
amendment implied that abolition of southern provinces
would follow speedily. Mr. Fox confessed his conversion
from ardent *‘ provincialism’’ to centralism. Mr. Johnston,
member for Manawatu, candidly said: ‘Now that the
Premier undertakes to endow each district with substantial
revenues my doubts vanish. I confess that I do not see
where the money is to come from, but inasmuch as passing
this resolution commits the House to a certain extent to
find it from somewhere, I will vote for it.”” The “‘sop”
system admitted by Mr. Vogel as to time past was trium-
phant in the anticipations of the Johnstons of the House,
and by 45 votes against 20 Mr. Vogel’s amendment was
carried. Mr. Swanson vainly moved that the amending
bill should be circulated *‘ at least two months before the
next meeting of Parliament.”” So far as the existing
House was concerned provincialism in the North was
doomed, but the southern majority did not foresee that the
measure they were meting to the North Island would be
forced upon themselves.

After such proofs of strength the government carried
their bill to amend the Native Lands Act of 1878. A bill
to authorize advances for provincial public works was more
successful than the Provincial Loans Bill of the previous
session. Lands in the provinces were to form the security,
and superintendents of provinces were authorized to agree
with the Treasurer upon terms of repayment. A Railways
Bill, appropriating money and empowering the government
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to purchase from the provincial authorities certain existing
lines in Otago and Canterbury passed the Lower House,
but was lost in the Council. On the same day which saw
the Railways Bill rejected by the Council Mr. Murray .
moved in the House—* That in the opinion of this House
the nomination of tenants of the Crown to seats in the
Legislative Council is highly objectionable and inconsistent
with the independence of Parliament.” In New Zealand,
as in Australia, the pastoral occupation of the country was
the avocation of some of the most intelligent settlers. The
original theory was merely to occupy temporarily until a
more permanent form of settlement might become as
necessary as it was natural, and freehold would be substi-
tuted for the lease or license held by the tenants of the
Crown. This was part of Gibbon Wakefield’s plans. He
argued that the annual grass crop could properly be so
availed of—the government holding the power to sell land
at a fitting time. How that theory was unwisely departed
from need not be here discussed. Mr. Murray’s motion
implied that there was danger lest servile submission
should pervade the Council. But he moved it at a time
when the Council had given proofs of independence. His
grievance was the rejection of Land Bills; and when he
said that ‘“interested persons who never ought to have
voted” had thrown them out, the Speaker called him to
order. Jealous of the honour of the whole Parliament
rather than of the aggrandizement of the House of which
he was Speaker, Sir F. Dillon Bell added that he had con-
sulted the Speaker of the Council, and if ‘* his colleague”
had considered the motion an improper interference with
the Council, he (Sir F. D. Bell) would have removed it
from the Order paper. The motion was withdrawn. When
the Appropriation Bill had passed in the Lower House,
Mr. Vogel moved the second reading of a second Railways
Bill divested of the provisions on account of which the
Council had rejected the first. It was passed through both
Houses without a division. An attempt was made o
authorize, by resolution, negotiations to effect a purchase,
at Otfago, contemplated in a defeated bill. Mr. Vogel
opposed it, and the Speaker pronounced that it was ‘not

Vol ITT, . G
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in accordance with Parliamentary practice for the govern-
ment to carry out by resolution what it had failed to carry
out by bill.” But the Otago province was supposed to be
weeping at the door. Mr. Vogel “felt that it was a
very hard thing that Otago, which required money for
the construction of branch railways, should go away
from the Assembly without any money in its pocket,
while other provinces went away with plenty,” and an
Otago Provincial Public Works Advances Bill, to enable
the Government to advance £60,000 for railways, on
terms to be agreed upon, was passed. An Immigration
and Public Works Bill was passed to give effect to
provisions of the Loan Bill. It dealt with the pur-
chase of land from the natives, for which £700,000 had
been authorized at various times. Friends of the Maoris
declaimed against artifices resorted to in obtaining their
lands; and Captain Fraser declared that in the Middle
Island, where temptation was not applied by colonists
covetous of land, “the Maoris had abjured drinking alto-
gether.” ““How would the Europeans have got theland in
Hawke’s Bay if the Maoris had not been encouraged to
drink? He paused for a reply,”—but none was vouchsafed.
“ Gross injustice had been done to the whole Maori race,
and he would never cease to express his opinion on that
subject.”” The question of payment of members of the
Assembly out of the public funds was examined by a com-
mittee, Mr. Rolleston’s contention, that the subject ought
to be dealt with as a matter of principle by a bill, being
ineffectual.

Sir J. Fergusson, having resigned office, introduced
valedictory words in the prorogation speech (81st Aug.).
He told the members that the session would be memorable
for having rung the knell of the provinces in the North
Island. He was advised to say that the decision was
accompanied by ample proof that the land fund would,
nevertheless, ‘“as far as possible, be localized,” and not
absorbed by the general government.

The Marquis of Normanby succeeded Sir J. Fergusson,
but the latter had various acts to perform before demitting
his authority. In place of the indignant Mr. O’Rorke,
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Major Atkinson, after the close of the session, became
Minister of Immigration, and as Vogel wished to go to
England to negotiate the new loan, Dr. Pollen became the
leader during Vogel’s absence, and on the 8rd Dec. the
new Governor (the Marquis of Normanby) arrived. He
received a petition from Sir G. Grey on the subject of
appropriation of funds arising from the sale of lands.
The petition urged that the Auckland province could justly
ask for time to enable it to come to fair terms with regard
to land revenues before vital changes should be made or
sanctioned by the British Parliament. The Governor
referred the petition to Dr. Pollen, who sneered at Sir G.
Grey’s statements. The Marquis transmitted the docu-
ments to the Earl of Carnarvon. Before any reply was-
received Sir G. Grey was elected member for Auckland
City West, and on the death of Mr. Williamson, the
electors conferred the office of Superintendent of the
Province upon Sir G. Grey. His speeches were received
with acclamation. It was sad, but not unnatural, that the
treatment he had encountered from more than one
© Secretary of State had jaundiced his judgment, and he
proposed that the Colonial Office should be set aside and
that New Zealand ‘“ should have a Secretary of State of our
own.” But he was facile and persuasive. Everything he
said was applauded. Those who did not agree with his
opinions admired his rhetoric.

In 1875, the meeting between the Maori king and Sir
D. McLean, so anxiously sought by the latter, was brought
about by the aid of Te Wheoro. MecLean went to Alexandra
(26th Jan.), and remained there while friendly chiefs con-
ferred. Te Paea, the king’s sister, had recently been
buried, and Te Wheoro and other chiefs attended at
Waitomo to take part in a ‘“tangi.” On the 8rd of Feb.
McLean was welcomed, and after formalities (a part of
which was an interval of strict silence), Tawhiao said that
his word was, ‘“ Let the Pakeha who are spread over the
world return to the appointed place (probably Maungata-
whiri, where General Cameron commenced the war and
which the Maoris had called their boundary). If they
return thither, I will follow and return to Waikato.”
Tawhiao thus made the demand which his deputies had

G2
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previously made. McLean replied that the abandonment
of the territory confiscated in Waikato was not feasible,
and Tawhiao said : ‘“Don’t suppose that this will be your
last visit to us. Come again.” McLean proposed: 1st.
That Tawhiao should exercise authority over tribes within
his district. - 2nd. That he should choose a council of
chiefs to keep order and repress wrong. 8rd. That the
New Zealand government should assist him. 4th. That
the government should build a house for him at Kawhia
and grant to him certain lands on the Waipa and Waikato
rivers. Nothing was agreed to, but much was thought to
have been accomplished. Tke Civil Commissioner, Mr.
Kemp, who accompanied McLean, wrote that the meeting,
¢ whether viewed politically or in connection with the
welfare of the settlers, could not but be regarded as of
paramount importance.”

Death was busy amongst the elder generation of Maoris.
Mohi Tawhai, a companion-in-arms of Waka Nene against
Heke, more than eighty years old, was mounting his horse
after attending Divine Service and fell and died. He it was
who was mainly instrumental in preventing Colonel Despard
from repeating at Ruapekapeka the assault so disastrous
under that officer at Ohaeawae.? His services were not
forgotten. At his funeral at Hokianga it was said that
every respectable European in the district joined in paying
respect. In Wanganui, Pehi and Tahana Turoa passed
away. The resident magistrate reported that he should
much miss Tahana, who as assessor and otherwise had
always given him wise counsel. Tahana was owner of
much land, and left a will which was duly proved in the
Supreme Court. Officers reported from various districts a
slight improvement in the condition of the Maoris. With
less dissipation there was more intelligent industry amongst
them.

Sir D. McLean busied himself in purchasing land. At
Maketu he conferred with chiefs, and the result was an
order to the Land Purchase Commissioners to discontinue
negotiations in the Arawa territory. He communicated
the result of his departmental labours to the Assembly.

2 ¢¢Life of Archdeacon Williams,” vol. ii., p. 120.
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The land acquired, or under negotiation, under the Public
Works and Immigration Acts was, in 1875 :—

I lete Tra: tions.
Purchased.  Lease. Plooplete Transactions
In Auckland... .. 490,784 391,601 1,618,686 1,214,667
In Hawke’s Bay ... 240,537 .- 37,000 —
In Wellington = ... 429,702 - 1,202,026 307,835
In Taranaki ... .. 170,499 -— 84,130 —

1,331,522 391,601 2,941,842 1,522,502

The prices paid averaged 2s. 5}d. an acre. Money paid
for completed and incomplete transactions was under con-
trol of the Native Department, and there were not wanting
men who denounced the mystery in which Sir Donald
McLean shrouded his proceedings. He urged the
Assembly not to press him unduly, but to leave him to
work out the problem ‘as the government may deem safe
and advisable.”

Again it was reported that Te Kepa Rangihiwinui’s
advice had restrained the passions of lis countrymen, who
would have resorted to violence rather than to the law in
the Wanganui district. At the Chatham Islands the
.Moriori race was said to be rapidly disappearing. Their
peculiar dialect was spoken only by a few aged persons.
The young were sickly. They presented a picture which
might haunt the minds of their late masters. The Maoris
might regard their own fate in that of their helots. The
education of the chieftain class, to which Sir J. Fergusson
had drawn attention, was little regarded. Two or three
boys at the Grammar School at Auckland and one at the
‘Wellington College were distinguished from about 1500 on
school registers throughout the provinces. Out of .£12,000
devoted to Maori education in the year nearly £2000 were
native contributions.

Like his predecessors, the Marquis of Normanby journeyed
throughout the ﬁrovinces. He told the Secretary of State
that, bold as had been the plunge into indebtedness,
he believed the policy sound, ‘ provided that it is not
carried too far’—a safe prediction, which seemed to hint
misgivings. The march of events had so completely
carried questions affecting the Maoris into the hands of
McLean that despatches rarely alluded to them.
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The speech opening the Parliament in July, 1875, proved
the truth of the contested prophecies of the opposition in
1874. The Assembly was to be invited to decide whether
it might not be well to abolish provinces as well in the
Middle Island as in the North. The meeting of Tawhiao
with McLean was spoken of as a herald of future good.
The negotiations of the new loan for £4,000,000 in London
was declared successful. Mr. Vogel had not returned to
the colony. His colleagues in negotiating the loan were
Sir P. G. Julyan, Dr. Featherston, and Mr. Sargeaunt.
He had differed from them. They thought it best to sell
the debentures in two instalments. He desired to sell the
whole at £94 to the house of Rothschild, giving a com-
mission of 2 per cent. to Messrs. Rothschild for their aid
in floating the loan,—they giving a guarantee for the
immediate sale of three millions. Reluctantly the other
agents yielded. The net price received, after deducting
accrued interest, was £9019s. 7d. Vogel became K.C.M.G.
and remained in England for a time. 'The absence of the
head of the ministry during a session was thought likely to
give umbrage. He tendered his resignation in May, and
his colleagues reconstructed their ranks in July. Dr.,
Pollen became their head. Vogel was Postmaster-General.
Major Atkinson took the post of Treasurer. MecLean was
immovable. There was no sign of weakness in the recon-
structed ministry, but the representatives unanimously
replaced in the Chairmanship of Committees, Mr. O’Rorke,
who had so indignantly severed his connection with Vogel
in 1874. Sir D. McLean and Sir G. Grey were his
proposer and seconder.

The question of abolishing the provinees was destined to
distract the Assembly throughout the session. Not much
was done with regard to native affairs. Taiaroa reminded
Sir D. McLean that the government had promised in 1878
to place a native chief of the Middle Island in the Legisla-
tive Council. McLean admitted the promise but alleged
that circumstances had prevented its fulfilment. The
government would consider the matter.

Mr. Alexander Mackay, having compiled a statement of
the lands purchased by Europeans in the Middle Island,
Taiaroa moved (80th Sept.) that it be printed in Maori.
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MecLean objected to the expense. But Wi Tako Ngatata in
the Council carried a similar motion there. Taiaroa
learned from the statement that the government had
bought land in the Middle Island for about an eighth of a
penny an acre. The chiefs of the north learned that
they had obtained more money, but that it was sprinkled
with blood. The Native Affairs Committee in the Lower
House reported on the petition of Middle Island natives
that a Commission ought to be appointed on the
alleged unfulfilled promises in connection with  land
purchases. Taiaroa had fought his battle in the committee
with the aid of counsel. Mr. Sheehan moved (6th Oct.)
that the report be referred for ‘‘ the favourable considera-
tion of the government.” Taiaroa ran over the years in
which he had vainly asked for justice as to the claims. He
would still consent, as in a former year, that the govern-
ment should nominate one commissioner, the Maoris
another. Mr. Carrington desired that a portion of his
evidence before the committee should be read. He had
therein declared that, ‘‘having knowledge of the matter
through meeting directors and gentlemen of the New
Zealand Company in 1839 and 1840, prior to coming to the
colony as the chief surveyor of the Plymouth Company of
New Zealand,” he thought it right to make a statement.
The value of his declaration may be shown in a brief
extract : ‘“ The question as to one-tenth of the land being
reserved for the natives in the inhabited districts, so far as
my knowledge goes in this matter, had special reference
to the North Island. . . . Hence I never heard
of its being contemplated by the New Zealand Company
that a reservation of one-tenth of the land of the Middle
Island should be set apart for its natives.” In the
agreement of the company with Lord John Russell it
was expressly stipulated that the reserves should be made
everywhere, and in the instructions issued by the com-
pany to Colonel Wakefield before he sailed in the ¢Tory”
in 1839—of which period Carrington claimed a know-
ledge—were these words: ¢ You will take care to mention
in every booka booka, or contract for land, that a pro-
portion of the territory ceded, equal to one-tenth of the
whole, will be reserved by the company, and held in
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trust by them for the future benefit of the chief families of
the tribe.” Those instructions were published; Mr. J, J.
Symonds in purchasing the Otago block expressly stipulated
““on behalf of the natives for one-tenth of each description
of allotment;” and the company was lauded for making
reserves on such an imposing scale. The company
was bound to hold the reserves in trust for the * chiefs,
their families, tribes, and successors for ever;”’ and on
surrender of the company’s charters their obligations
devolved, not only naturally, but by express stipulations,
upon the Crown.® It is disheartening to read such a
statement as that of Mr. Carrington. McLean having
characterized Taiaroa’s claims as extravagant, but admitted
that he was ‘“ quite aware that unfulfilled promises existed,”
the debate was adjourned. Mr. Macandrew moved an
amendment (13th Oct.) declaring that there were no unful-
filled promises, but could not carry it. Mr. W. Kelly
declared that ¢ there no doubt remained many unfulfilled
promises, and something should be done in the matter.”
McLean had stipulated that a decision arrived at by the
Native Land Court at Canterbury, which was ratified by
“the Ngaitahu Reference Validation Act of 1868, should
not be challenged. The Act in question will be remem-
bered as legalizing retrospectively an improper reference to
the Native Lands Court. The field of justice was circum-
scribed, but it comprehended ° schools, hospitals, and
other advantages.” Even this Mr. Macandrew would
have refused; and it was only agreed to by the members
on the understanding that for final decision it must
be again submitted to the House. McLean positively
refused to ‘“go behind 1868” (in which the Land Court
had overruled the claims of Heremaia Mautai). Mr.
Sheehan moved : ¢ That this House regrets to hear of the
scandalous and dishonest dealings of certain Europeans in
the acquisition of native lands at Hawke’s Bay, ..
and considers that such transactions are a stain upon the
good name of the colony.” He animadverted upon the
manner in which, after the Crown had waived the sole
right of purchase, the natives had been inveigled by artful

3 See p. 338, Vol. L., and notes pp. 264 and 364, Vol. L.
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agents. He showed how signatures had been extorted from
Maoris; how to relieve themselves from debts they had
been under duress persuaded to sell their rights; how
Henare Tomoana, who foiled Te Kooti, had in equipping
Maoris to fight the Hau Haus incurred a debt of thousands
-of pounds, the cancelling of which was the engine brought
to bear upon him to extort his signature; how Karaitiana
Takamoana, the Maori member, half brother of Henare
Tomoana and co-proprietor in the land, had moodily
resisted and vainly besought the Native Minister to avert
sale by such untoward methods. The freehold of the
Heretaunga block, close to Hawke’s Bay, comprising about
18,000 acres, illegally occupied by settlers before the go-
vernment abandoned the exclusive right of purchase had,
by the arts he described, passed into the hands of settlers.
Mr. Ormond, member for Clive, was amongst the pur-
-chasers, and Mr. Sheehan complained that, in bargains for
lands bought for Sir D. McLean himself, an agent had been
employed, who, having been previously dismissed from the
public service for embezzlement, had plied base arts against
Maoris with whom he dealt. The Native Minister and Mr.
Ormond replied at great length. Many members spoke. It
was admitted that wrong had been done in many cases.
Karaitiana Takamoana declared that if the House yielded to
Sir D. McLean and stifled discussion, he would appeal to
England. ‘“Maoris prefer to be destroyed themselves rather
than see their lands destroyed. Neither the Superintendent
of Hawke’s Bay (Ormond), nor the Native Minister (McLean),
had a good name with the Maoris at Napier. IftheHouse will
not deal with the matter, the Maoris will go on until they
lose their skins in the Supreme Court. . . . Ifthe
House will not agree with this question there will be mis-
chief in Hawke’s Bay. The Maoris consider that treachery
has been committed there.” Mr. Sheehan’s motion was
lost. Sir D. McLean met a motion of Sir G. Grey’s by
promising that, in future, agents should not be permitted
to traffic privately for lands, but neither he nor the House
would probe past transactions, and Sir G. Grey was defeated.
With regard to a transaction at the Piako swamp the
government had broken the law. The minimum upset
price of land in the Auckland province was five shillings.
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from 1844) of other persons in land, of which about 18,000
acres had been awarded to him by Mr. F. Dillon Bell. But
the natives had never surrendered their claim to about
14,000 acres of the block, and Whitaker abstained from
taking steps which Dr. Pollen declared might have created
a native disturbance. He had never taken possession.
Maoris were in occupation. Mr. Mackay, Government
Land Purchase Commissioner, reported that he could
negotiate for the purchase of 200,000 acres if the 14,000
acres claimed by Whitaker were abandoned to the natives.
Pollen’s bill proposed to allow Whitaker to select elsewhere.
The Council thought an undue advantage would thus be
conferred. The casting vote of the Speaker crushed the
bill for the time, but in after years the subject was revived.
Meanwhile Sir D. McLean was harassed by the checks
which he received. He passed in the Lower House a Con-
fiscated Lands Bill, which it was hoped would enable the
Piako swamp to be dealt with, but it broke down in the
Council.

A debate took place (8th Sept.), which awoke kindly
feehngs Mr. Williams moved an address to the Governor,
praying that a sum might be put upon the estimates to
maintain in “decent order the graves of the officers and
men who fell during the wars with the natives.” He told
how the Ngapuhi warriors, who under Heke and Kawiti
at Ohaeawae slew English soldiers, had in after years built
a church on the site of the fatal pah, and granted land as a
sacred resting-place for the dead; how reverently they had
assisted in placing the remains in hallowed ground, and

Jjoined in the burial service spoken in Maori by Archdeacon
Clarke, how volleys were fired over the graves as fit for a
soldier’s farewell ; and how the two races had joined in
hand and heart throughout the ceremonial. Mr. Kelly,
from Taranaki, suggested that honour should be paid to the
gallant Maoris who had fallen at Mahoetahi and Huirangi.
Sir D. McLean and Sir G. Grey chimed in with friendly
voice. Katene and Parata Welcomed the kindly feeling
shown by the House. Parata said: ‘I speak not now only
of those who fought for the Queen, but of all. There is no
fighting now, and the time has come when the Legislature
may pay equal honour to those who fought on both sides.
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said Mr. Montgomery, but ‘“history will say that the
government might have withstood unjust demands, that
they should not have been afraid of losing their posi-
tions, that it was the lust of power that made them
thus dispose of public property. . . . They regret
it, not for the wrong done, but for the amount of money
it cost to do it.” Mr. Tribe said that because change
was necessary he would vote for the second reading.
“If I have the honour of a seat in this House next session
I shall have to come down and take part in a seramble. I
suppose I shall have to fight the battle and log-roll as well
as I can.” Vogel’s method of ‘‘purchasing support’ had
g0 dulled the moral sense of the House, that no exception
was taken to this language. The government had a
majority in the House, and the fame of the devices of the:
opposition spread beyond the bounds of New Zealand. On
the 17th Aug., after long debate upon formalities, and fur-
ther debate when points of order had been set aside, the
House sat till daylight streamed in upon the Chamber.
That night Mr. Rolleston denounced the bill.  If it should
pass, separation of the two islands would follow. The min-
istry was governed by Mr. Stafford, and who guided Mr.
Stafford Mr. Rolleston could not tell. The House was
asked to launch into chaos. If the bill should pass, the
land laws of the provinces would soon be moulded on a
uniform plan, and the land fund would be common revenue.
He had but one hope; that the Council, which had
already averted many mischiefs, would refuse to pass the
bill. Mr. Bowen (Minister of Justice) admitted that-
Vogel had ‘““given way to provincial pressure, as all Colo-
nial Treasurers had to give way before him;” but he
did not quote the opinion of any other Treasurer that the
support was bought at a price.  He affirmed that if the bill
should not be passed ‘‘ a scramble would take place within
a year that would ruin the finances of the country.”
Stafford threw his #gis over the men who had hurled him
from office in 1872. He disclaimed the post of guide to the
ministry, but supported them. Mr. Fitzherbert ruthlessly
showed (20th Aug.) how earnest had been the praise
bestowed by Vogel and Fox in 1868 upon the provincial
governments, which Vogel and his colleagues in 1875-
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faithlessly strove to destroy. Mr. Stafford was in 1856 a
party to the compact to localize the land revenue. Then
he acted in a provineial spmt Now he ““comes forward as
the champion of centralism.” . . “Byall that is
honest, by all that is respectable, by all that is honoura,ble
in polltlcal life, and by all precedents in countries where
parliamentary government exists, I say most plainly that,
as men of honour, maintaining the opinions which they
came into office to support, the ministry should no longer
be sitting on those benches. They were pledged by all that
men hold sacred to vacate their seats. There is no term
of opprobrium too strong for men who so abandon their
principles. These are facts. I have proved them in the
course of my speech.” The second reading of the bill was
carried by 52 votes against 17. The struggle in committee
was yet to be encountered, and the government announced
(2nd Sept.) that to secure general support they would
introduce ancillary bills—to divide the provinces into
districts in which Boards of Works would be elected, and
in which the balance of the land fund would be appropriated
—and to create or confirm in each province Boards of
Education in which existing reserves of lands for educa-
tional purposes would be vested. Sir G. Grey had already
provoked ironical laughter by high-sounding allusions to
the rights and liberties of man, especially of man in New
Zealand, and he made a speech strangely compounded of
such sentiments and of assertions that the New Zealand
Assembly ought not to pass the bills without obtaining the
sanction of the British Parliament. The government
seemed determined to sit in silence until the opposition
speakers might be exhausted. Mr. O’Rorke, before the
committee sat, denounced the mode in which Vogel,
having ‘“floated into lucrative office” on the strength of
provincial professwns, “turned traitor to the cuuse which
placed him in office.”” The government remained silent,
and victorious. But the defeated did not abandon the
field. Every material for debate was seized upon. Public
meetings were held at Auckland and elsewhere to strengthen
the hands of the opposition, who were pertinacious in
committee, and battled throughout a night. At six o’clock
in the morning (10th Sept.) there was an adjournment
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unfil ten. All day long the battle—si riza est ubi tu pulsas,
ego vapulo tantum—was waged in the same manner. When
the time arrived for the ordinary sitting of the House (10th
Sept.) the mace was removed from under the table, and a
debate on the imputed irregularity of procedure arose. At
last progress was reported, and Sir D. McLean moved the
adjournment of the House until the 14th Sept., in order
that an arrangement might be made ‘to terminate the
existing differences.”

On the 15th Sept. he announced the terms agreed upon.
The bill was to be allowed to pass without unreasonable
opposition in committee, the government agreeing that the
date for bringing it into operation should be the day after
the prorogation of the first session of the new Parliament.
Sir G. Grey did not approve of the terms (made by Mr.
Fitzherbert and others), but agreed to respect them. They
were loyally adhered to. In dealing with the revenue
derived from gold, Sir G. Grey made known his subjection
to the mischievous delusion that the gold export duty was a
class-tax. He compared it unfavourably with an export duty
on wool. He spoke as if he were blind to the fact that though
sheep depastured on Crown lands produce wool derived
partly from the public property, they use only the annual
grasses which nature rears again (the soil remaining public
property) ; whereas the gold extracted by the miner has
been taken from the State treasures for ever ; and if no
royalty by way of Customs duty or otherwise be charged,
has been lost to the publie.

The mode of dealing with the land fund was earnestly
debated. The Speaker, Sir Dillon Bell, warned the House
that to pass a certain clause would force the land fund into
the general treasury. He shrunk from the ‘‘log-rolling”
which he dreaded as inevitable if the local bodies should
have funds placed at their disposal by the vote of the
House. With few changes the bill was carried and was
easily passed in the Council. A Local Government Bill
was to have complemented that for the abolition of the
provinces. But the government shrunk from proceeding
with it. Read a first time on the 80th July, it was after-
wards dropped. The ministry held in their hands, there-
fore, the strings with which they thought to move the
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minds of members, and to excite the hopes of constituencies.
Pliability of the first, and contentment of the second,
seemed yet in their control. The opposition vainly de-
manded that the new bill should be ¢‘ made public at least
one month before the next session.” A motion to that
effect was defeated.

But the government could not always command a
majority on all questions. A member of the ministry, Mr.
Reynolds, introduced a bill to lower the quslification of
electors. British-born or naturalized subjects, holding
freeholds of £50 value, and certain leaseholders and house-
holders of not less than £5 yearly value, as well as holders
of miners’ rights, were already voters. Mr. Reynolds
proposed to make the suffrage almost universal. Every
resident for twelve months, except a Maori, was to be
entitled to registration as an elector. Mr. Rolleston and
others objected to the bill. Taiaroa asked: ‘“What is the
good of allowing people to vote having no qualification
beyond simply living in New Zealand in a house for twelve
months? Why if such votes were to be lawful ghould not.
Maories have them?’’ He read a clause in the Constitution
Act which prevented infliction of disabilities or restrictions
on natives. Parata and the other Maori members opposed
the bill. Mr. Reynolds admitted that he could not blame
them. “I am not at all astonished that they should be
suspicious of me; for no doubt they have been reminded
that I have stood alone on the floor of this House and
objected to any Maori being admitted except under the
usual franchise.” The bill was thrown out. Mr. Wake-
field subsequently carried a Lodgers’ Franchise Bill in the
Lower House, and it passed easily through the Council,
where Mr. Waterhouse remarked that it might have the
effect of averting the misfortune of universal suffrage.

A bill to raise the number of the Representatives to 84,
exclusive of the Maori members, was carried through both
Houses. An Act was passed (Immigration and Public
Works Appropriation) which restricted the powers which
the ministry had exercised over the expenditure of borrowed
money. On the 21st Oct. the session, memorable for all
dwellers in New Zealand, came to an end, and the agitation
within was exchanged for that without the halls of legis-
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lation. Vogel did not return to New Zealand while the
Assembly was sitting, but his correspondence on the loan
was produced. There was, as usual, bitter animadversion
on Dr. Featherston by Sir J. Vogel, who could not forgive
the fact that the Crown agents, Sir P. G. Julyan and Mr.
Sargeaunt, agreed with Dr. Featherston. He endeavoured
to weaken the position of his colleagues by denying the
accuracy of their statements, though aware (he wrote)
“that you have the advantage of numbers.” Those who
knew Dr. Featherston knew also that the advantage was
not confined to numbers. Writing angrily about immigra-
tion to Dr. Featherston, Vogel communicated to him a
telegram from New Zealand to the effect that one of
Featherston’s despatches was ‘“intolerably disrespectful,”
and would not be recorded; and he rudely set aside
Featherston’s disclaimer that there was no intention to
be disrespectful. Simultaneously with making personal
charges, the Treasurer, as if bent on extruding the obnox-
ious agent, dictated elaborate changes in the agent’s
department. With sad dignity Dr. Featherston defended
himself by admitting that he had been compelled to write
much that he would have wished unwritten, as, during the
year—*‘there are not many charges that could be brought
against the character of a public officer respecting which I
have not had occasion to defend myself in replies to your
despatches. . . . It was my duty to my own character,
it was my duty to the colony in whose service I have spent
many and not useless or unhonoured years, not to leave
such charges unanswered.” Frequently called upon in
times of difficulty to serve the colony, he had ever received
ungrudging acknowledgment of his services, and conscious
of his rectitude he did not lose confidence that, notwith-
standing temporary misconception, the labours of his de-
partment would yet be appreciated by the people of New
Zealand. The followers of the novus homo of New Zealand
could hardly read such a paper without compunction, but
they did not free themselves from his yoke.

The position of members was found equivocal with
regard to a Disqualification Act of 1870. Passed in a
spasm of virtue, its provisions were found too cramping.
Qne member complained that because in his capacity as
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actions of Homer seem to have been as little cared for by
his contemporaries as were those of Shakspeare by the
bulk of Englishmen. If Shakspeare’s partners had not
printed his works soon after his death; if his dedications
of his poems to the Earl of Southampton had not furnished
unshakeable proof of his position among the besi spirits of
the time ; if Milton’s immortal praise had not hymned him
while the sound} of his voice still lingered in the ears of
his lovers ; if Ben Jonson and a few others had not vouched
for their knowledge of the man and of his works, there
mighi, even though printing had then been invented, be a
lack of evidence to resist the ridiculous fable that although
Shakspeare lived he did not write Shakspeare’s plays. It
was not likely that the pioneers would find favour if their
claims had been reasonable; and it could not be denied that
their opportunities as firstcomers had, like their difficulties,
been great. Many of them were still eminent amongst the
successful. For the others new men cared nothing.

The Governor sent a special report upon the Act to
abolish the provinces. When its provisions were analyzed
an impartial observer might well think that the opposition
to it had been based, if not upon distrust of its propounders,
upon the subtle influences of sentiment. It enacted (§ 11)
that contracts, &ec., with provincial superintendents could
be enforced against the Crown; guaranteed compensation
(12) to displaced provincial officers; appropriated certain
fees, &c. (14) to local boards and municipalities; appro-
priated (15) certain goldfields’ revenues locally (declaring
them to be no longer land revenue!); charged the land
fund (16 to 19) with all provincial encumbrances of principal
and interest, surveys and annual payments to local govern-
ing bodies; and imposed on the consolidated fund the
costs of police, gaols, harbours, and many charitable insti-
tutions. The provincial spirit breathed in the Act which
slew the provincial bodies. It might safely be predicted
that either the spirit would be exorcised in the future, or
that the central government would lose credit and useful-
ness. The land fund would be a bone of contention.

In the end of 1875 the Governor dissolved the House,
and elections were held immediately. In Otago and in
Auckland some members who had voted for abolition were

H2
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rejected ; but in other parts of the colony the result was
favourable to the ministry. Sir J. Vogel's return to the
colony induced Dr. Pollen to resign the leadership,
which the former reassumed. Before doing so he arranged
with Dr. Pollen that a sum exceeding £4000 should be
allowed to meet the expenses of his recent mission to
England. He wrote: “I do not pretend to have been
economical.”” About a third of the sum had been agreed
upon when the mission was undertaken, but no one seemed
to think it necessary to respect the agreement. Sir D.
McLean retained the office which had become his indefeasible
right. To facilitate the formation of an Executive Council
when the Governor visited Auckland, Mr. Swainson, who
resided there, was retained as an Executive Councillor.
His high character, his long acquaintance with New
Zealand, and his services as Attorney-General in former
times, rendered the compliment such as none would object
to; but it was understood that he would have declined to
accept it if political sympathies or services had been
included in the acceptance. A succeeding ministry con-
tinued the arrangement.

The deference shown to Sir J. Vogel was manifested by
postponing until his return the consideration of a circular
despatch on the subject of island annexation. The horrors
of abduction and brutality practised by white scoundrels in
the Pacific, the retaliation by islanders who slew their best
friend in revenge, the intercession of the colonies, and a
sentiment of honour, had induced England to annex the
Fiji Islands with the declared consent of the ruling chiefs.
In 1874, Lord Carnarvon had inquired whether the Aus-
tralasian colonies would join in contributing a small sum
(in no case exceeding £4000) to maintain the Fiji civil
establishment whose creation they had urged. The colo-
nies did not agree. ,New South Wales was ready to share
the burden with England. Queensland shrunk from all
responsibility, although the “labour traffic” amongst the
islands had contributed to her needs; New Zealand would
not assist unless with a voice in administration. Vie-
toria asked for more information, and suggested that no
colony should be permitted to acquire privileges in Fiji
from which any other ““should be shut out.” The burden
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remained with England. In July, 1875, Lord Carnarvon
asked whether any principle could be adopted by which
colonies advocating annexation might in future meet a pro-
portion of its costs. Pressure at the time was brought
upon the Colonial Office to colonize a part of New Guinea.
It was not until April, 1876, that his ministers enabled the
Marquis of Normanby to reply to the circular, and the
reply was more argumentative than precise. The Marquis
himself was of opinion that, in future, England, if urged
by a colony to annex islands, should arrange with the
applying colony as to the terms of contribution to maintain
the government to be established. Long before the New
Zealand reply reached England the Earl of Carnarvon had
decided not to take possession of New Guinea and other
islands, the annexation of which had been proposed to him.

Among other objects to which Vogel devoted himself was
the inscription of colonial stock. Mr. Westgarth, a colonist
-of Victoria, who had returned to London, had for some
time striven unsuccessfully to obtain the registration of
.colonial securities and to make them passable or not
passable to the bearer. The New Zealand negotiator was
more fortunate. The Bank of England agreed to inscribe
New Zealand stock. The Colonial Office undertook to con-
sider the propriety of introducing a bill to facilitate such
transactions for the Australasian colonies, by defining
the stamp duties payable, and fixing the rates at which
they might be compounded. Vogel left to Dr. Featherston
and others the task of promoting the bill. It was not con-
.cluded when in June, 1876, resignation, speedily followed
by death, removed Dr. Featherston from the scene in which
he had borne contumely from the man who was to succeed,
and who had been suspected of a design to supplant, him.
The Colonial Stock Bill was passed in 1877, while Vogel
was Agent-General for New Zealand. No Imperial
guarantee, direct or indirect, was attached to the stock.
By enabling colonies te convert bonds and debentures into
registered stock it was held that business in colonial
securities would be facilitated.

Reports from officers in native districts were in one sense
-encouraging. Major Mair reported that Tawhiao's advisers
had ‘introduced a temperance movement’ amongst his
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already intervened, and the government had been placed in
& minority in opposing the suspension of the Standing
Orders. Indisposition of the Maori petitioner having
debarred his attendance, McLean moved the dismissal of
the petition. A member pointed out that, if the petition
were dismissed and no fresh writ could be issued, the
Eastern Maori district would be unrepresented. Major
Atkinson revealed that the government weapon had two
edges. On dismissal of the petition a new writ might
be issued, and thus he presumed the House ‘ would
comply with the object of the petitioner.” Taiaroa said
that, pending inquiry, Karaitiana ought to take his seat.
The fault was with ¢ the government officers, who,
perhaps, were vexed at what Karaitiana had said in the
House.” Mr. Reader Wood suggested inquiry by a com-
mittee. Vogel, asserting that the government ‘had no
feeling in the matter,” desired an adjournment to enable
them to consider so ‘“novel” a case. As two of his
colleagues had proposed measures for dealing with it, the
assertion carried little weight. A select committee was
appointed. Mr. Curtis, member for Nelson city, was
chairman, and a proposition that, pending a decision,
Karaitiana should take his seat, was rejected. On the 4th
July, without having heard any evidence, McLean carried
in the committee a motion that as no member had been
returned a fresh writ should be issued. An interim report
to that effect was made to the House, and Vogel moved
that the Governor be requested to issue a writ. Mr.
Swanson asked for the evidence taken by the committee.
Mr. Tole dissented from its report. McLean vied with
Vogel in asserting the indifference of the government.
The speediest way to confer their electoral rights on the
Maoris was to issue a new writ. A member retorted that
the speediest way would be to direct Karaitiana to take his
seat. The Western Maori member, Nahe, though he would
have preferred a different representative, thought it but fair
that Karaitiana should at once take his seat.! After much

* Two years afterwards, Mr. Ormond, while endeavouring to disfran-
chise Maoris, unguardedly threw light upon the subject. The government
ho to reverse the first verdict of the electors with regard to Karaitiana.
¢ The truth was ” (Ormond said, 26th Sept., 1878) ¢ that it was in con-
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~bate Mr. Stout (Dunedin city) moved that the interim

“Dort e referred back to the committee with instructions
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“en “hereby altered. Vogel, fearing defeat, withdrew his
10ton. My, Stout’s motion was carried. The committee
K ~vidence. Thetribal influences prevailing were shown
1 ‘he returns produced. At Napier, Karaitiana, the
“llsahungunu chief, polled 127 votes. His three
"Ponents polled none. At Opotiki, Karaitiana polled one
polled 64 there, another Arawa

'®.  Une Arawga chief
Ngatiporou candidate 5. It was alleged that

95, and the N
\ ‘vu:: ::lac-e Where no poll was held the Ngatiporou, though
s .;," lihe Leneral returns, would have rf_acelved enough
Vas oo him at the head. Contradictory evidence
% veetved.  Henare Tomoana, the foiler of Te Kooti,
\:m::":"l." “S_t of eighty who had intended to vote for his
M g, .\t‘_“'mtmnn, but were prevented. Mr. Tole moved
wOwed \ ;l wnyg h.nd been duly elected, and should be
\hlliu)“t‘\‘ Rvke his seat. Mr. Stafford moved that an
e g MP(““ should be taken at Kawa-kawa, and t}}e
Wity ol to those already returned. Mr. .Sta,ﬂ’ord s
T (She third device to exclude Karaitiana) was
v Rtaply o] ole’s proposition was carried, together w;;ll‘;h
SERITT PN X b, though the evidence was conﬂlctmgl,] e
e of opinion that the result would notk ave
ERSETIN o ta poll had boen taken at Kawa- a:;'la.
e -uu\\“: 'S8 merit ot nocossity, announced t}(liattbe
Y g “ould not oppose the conclusions arrive adedy
o gy tee. The veturn was ordored to be amen a
VL Gan (.‘: Neh \tttust Kuenitinun took his seat, st
L .:\ 'W e elorta whioh hnd boon made fo exc uI;
LX \il\ \\\“‘; 'Qu\\'. [111] Q\.Q)“h“t“l o "“g“' RI(QLO&H co}l
O \‘“N W aE vl i ' o position.  On one occasion
IR N docliad that b hm\ kuown McLean from his
BRI YRR et Wiw works had been good-
Mo wichative o - -+ (who looked upon
T i e el i
\ MR LET LRI veburneld ""“"Im"“:wﬁculty

wlty. .
Tt VAt Wl (e ol of fomer
VIR St el e aiinedtio!

TUtL g, e 1



MEETING OF ASSEMBLY, JUNE 1876. 105

‘“The reserves made by the natives for themselves
at the time he was Commissioner had been purchased by
him. While he was minister, some of these lands were
passed through the court, and he bought them. He had
bought large blocks for himself. . . . Through plunder
he had gained his present position. . . . It was through
deceitful sales that he had got so much land.” .
Karaitiana, distrustful of the government, threatened to
go to England for the justice which was denied to him in
the land of his forefathers. Meanwhile he supported Sir
G. Grey, the accredited leader of the opposition.

War in New Zealand was transferred from camp to
<Council. The Governor’s opening speech (June, 1876)
invited the Parliament, in consequence of the abolition of
the provinces, to give to towns and country districts a
larger share of self-government than they had previously
enjoyed. Counties were to be established, with *powers
and revenues of an independent character, but with liberty
to adopt concerted action with boroughs and road districts.”
A Land Bill was promised. Before the government could
proceed to business, an act, done by them before the
meeting of the Houses, stopped their way. It will be
remembered that a bill, under which Mr. Whitaker would
have been enabled to make good a defective title at the
Piako swamp, was lost in the Legislative Council in 1875.
Mr. Whitaker was a power in the House. He had been
frequently a minister. It was convenient to strengthen
his friendship. Before the Parliament met, the govern-
ment ventured upon a bold step. They published an
Order-in-Council, making regulations for sale of the land
at the Piako swamp to Messrs. Russell, Whitaker, and their
associates. Before business was entered upon, Sir G. Grey
obtained the suspension of the Standing Orders in order to
move that the hand of the government be stayed until
the House could discuss the Order-in-Council. When the
motion to stay procedure was submitted, the government
secured 29 supporters against a like number of opponents.
Mr. Fitzherbert voted with the Noes, that an opportunity
might be given for further discussion.” (He had been
-elected Speaker on the motion of Sir J. Vogel, seconded by
Sir G. Grey. Mr. O’Rorke was again Chairman of Com-
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mittees.) The debates proved that Vogel had more than
once discussed the subject with Mr. Russell when the Piako
swamp was applied for (1878), but Vogel declared that to
assert that he would favour Mr. Russell or others was
beneath contempt. Yet favour had been shown. The
Piako swamp was open for selection between 1866 and 1871.
At the latter date, under fresh regulations, it ceased to be
eligible. Nevertheless, in 1878, the selection at 5s. an acre
was unlawfully permitted, with an arrangement that the
government should contribute at the rate of 2s. 6d. per
acre towards the cost of making aroad. Even these terms
were designated by Mr. Russell as ‘“ too hard;”” and Sir D.
McLean ¢ considering the heavy outlay” to which the
purchasers would be subjected ‘“in roads and drains,”
agreed ‘“to accept the payment of 2s. 6d. per acre within
two years.” Nor were these all the favours conferred.
The block was about 82,000 acres. There was an adjacent
block (Tawera) of 5370 acres of good land, and it was
added to the Piako block without allowing the public to
compete for it,—the government negotiating for its pur-
chase with resident natives, so as to enable Mr. Russell
and his friends to receive it. A member told the House
that the Tawera block was itself worth all the money paid
for the 87,370 acres. Such were the facts which furnished
debates extending through many days. But the time was
unpropitious for doing justice. The abolition of the provinces
seemed to demand that the ministry which abolished them
should complete the subsidiary arrangements; and at a
meeting of his supporters, Sir J. Vogel coupled continuance
of the government with support of the Piako transaction.
The members submitted. He carried a motion (22nd
June) : “That this House will not interfere to prevent the
issue in the ordinary course of the Crown grant for the
Piako swamp.” It was not until the ministry was thus
assured that an unopposed address, in reply to the
Governor’s speech, was carried. In the Council, in debate
on the address, Vogel’s former colleague, Mr. Wa,terhousq,
quoted a speech in which Major Atkinson urged electors, if
they “ desired to secure their interests, to elect Mr. Bryce
and Sir J. Vogel unopposed.” Another man wrote to
them : “I have no hesitation in saying that a vote of at
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least £100,000 might be obtained next session for harbour
works for Wanganui by the election of Sir J. Vogel for this
district, &e.” “If that is not an attempt at bribery and
corruption I do not know what is,” said Mr. Waterhouse.
The Piako swamp difficulty engrossed Vogel's attention at
the time; but when it was surmounted he called Mr. Water-
house’s attack ‘coarse and disgraceful.”” He insinuated
that the letter about the £100,000 was published to damage
his election. He did not deny that Atkinson had expressed
a hope that his colleague would be returned unopposed;
but the Major was pure and the constituents were pure.
Major Atkinson virtuously declared that he knew the con-
stituency too well to make such an offer as Mr. Waterhouse
had ¢ dared to insinuate.”

Early in July, Vogel’s financial statement was made.
The gross public debt was stated to be £19,548,194. The
annual charge exceeded £1,000,000 sterling. The general
revenue was about £1,708,000; land revenue, £750,000;
gold revenue, £85,000. To supplant the provinces, and
distribute monies locally, districts to be called counties
were to be created. The ministry were ‘“still willing to
give’ to the counties the license fees collected within them ;
and ‘ the subsidies payable by the legislation of last year,
amounting to £2 to £1, we intend to equally divide between
the road districts and the counties.” There would also be
granted from the Consolidated Revenue 5s. for every pound
raised by private subscriptions ¢ for charitable”” purposes.
To make the grants possible, the upset price of land was to
be changed. Wherever it was less than £2 an acre it would
be raised. The government were about, by ‘ a revolution
in the system of native land purchasing,” to crown the
edifice of New Zealand greatness. The formal resolution
moved was to sanction the demand of increased price at all
future sales of land, but the amount of increase was not
defined. As might be expected, the finger of the govern-
ment was' dreaded. At Canterbury and Otago the pro-
vinces had always striven to conform to Wakefield’s idea of
a sufficient price. At Canterbury it was £2 an acre. At
Otago it varied according to classification, reaching some-
times £2 5s. an acre. At Auckland first-class land was
.15s. an acre; second-class, 10s.; third-class, 5s.;—and
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ment,”” One of the resolutions was moved by Mr.
Whitaker, a beneficiary in the Piako swamp transaction.
On the 1st Aug., he moved that the law by which the land
fund was made provincial revenue ought to be revised.
“All assets and liabilities of the several provinces
should be assets and liabilities of the colony.” When
Whitaker had been defeated, Sir G. Grey moved
that the state of the colony required revision of its
financial and constitutional arrangements,—that ‘¢ the
unity of the colony should be maintained,—and that
there should be two local governments, one for each island.”
Auckland was to be the seat of the local government of the
North Island ; Christchurch of the South ; and Wellington
was to remain the seat of the colonial government. Mr.
Woolcock remindeds the House that Vogel had in 1874
declared ¢‘that £1,500,000 had been diverted from its
original purposes through the log-rolling pressure of pro--
vincialism. On that point I blame the present occupants
of the ministerial benches, and I say to them now that it
would have been far more dignified, and would have been
far better for their own good name, if they had adhered
more firmly to their policy and less closely to their seats on.
the benches.” Mr. Stout sarcastically showed that in 1870
Mr. Vogel lauded the Public Works and Immigration Acts
because they tended to constitute ‘“ one provinee within each
island.” “ The greatest torture you could give him now
would be to compel him to read his speeches in the past.”
But victory remained with the tortured. It was while the
case was undecided that Vogel said that the government
could not consider the appointment of an Agent-General.
When Takamoana supported the resolutions, Mr. Tole, who
had urged that the chief should take his seat in the House
pending an election inquiry, pointed triumphantly to the
demeanour of the ¢ gentleman whom it was sought by
every possible means—by summary jurisdiction I may
say—to oust from the seat in this House to which he was.
so justly entitled.”

A new member, Mr. Edward Wakefield, made an
onslaught upon the government. He had been private
secretary to Mr. Stafford. Though now arrayed against
Stafford, it was not against him that his shafts were.
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‘ontrary, it was to him he attributed the
¢ of abolition. He declared that he sup-
€y's resolutions as the complement to
scked McLean as an incubus upon the
:d that McLean had secured peace. He
wrosperity of recent years was due to
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zent Premier since 1869, has been the
ary that ever held office in this country.”
xated by Stafford from the heart; by
ais tenure of office.”
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than in the old Housey and Vogel recog-
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bt wet be taled. 1 admat,” he said,
batasity, but was it not intended if the
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government remained in office that Sir J. Vogel should
cease to be Agent-General and that (Stafford) the friend
and guide of the honourable gentleman was to be appointed
in his stead? Major A.—If he wished it. Mr. Stout.—
Exactly. If he wished it. And the honourable gentleman
does not call that an arrangement. Major A.—An official
offer had never been made. Mr. Stout.—It was arranged
behind the scenes,® and that is why we want a Disqualifica-
tion Bill, because arrangements of this sort do not tend to
the purity of Parliament.”

These things were studionsly concealed when, with the
potentiality of place in the eyes of Stafford, and commission
on inscription of stock looming large in his own, the
budding Agent-General of the hour addressed the House in
1876. With much truth and equal affectation of sorrow he
affirmed that the land, ¢ which would always remind him
of the successes he had won,” would be left by him with
great regret, but he felt he was pursuing the right course.
Mr. Rolleston said that Vogel, employed on his return from
England, in order to carry out the loan policy, was now, by
grasping at a subordinate post, inflicting an unconstitu-
tional wrong upon New Zealand. Mr. Waterhouse in the
Council declared that just as a crucial period of the loan
policy had been reached, and it was imperative to substi-
tute a new form of government for that which had at
Vogel’s instigation been destroyed, Vogel, on a plea of ill-
health, was slipping from his responsibilities. The plea of
ill-health might be disregarded inasmuch as the office of
Agent-General was engrossing and responsible. Moreover,
no steps should have been taken to appoint him to that
post while his unauthorized drawing of an advance of £4000
from the Agent-General in 1875 was unexplained to Parlia-
ment. The ministry formed under Major Atkinson on the
1st Sept. did not live a fortnight. Mr. Ormond was a
member, and so was Mr. Whitaker, who had a few days
before divided against the ministry on Sir G. Grey's separa-
tion resolutions, and was therefore hostile to the policy
which Major Atkinson announced that the new ministry
would maintain. Mr. Waterhouse (4th Sept.) showed that
under a Disqualifications Act there could legally be only

* See p. 143.
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seven ministers sitting in Parliament, and that Mr.
Whitaker (under the Attorney-General’s Act 1866) was
incapable, while Attorney-General, of being a minister or
sitting in Parliament.

In the Lower House Major Atkinson had no sooner
announced the formation of the ministry than Mr. Andrew
asking the House to disapprove of the offer of the post of
Agent-General to Vogel, reminded it that the Crown agents
in London had requested that ¢ their names might not in
future be associated with that of Sir J. Vogel,” and con-
temptuously added that if the friends of the latter wished
to set him up in business in London, it would be better to
vote him ‘¢ £3000 or even £4000, and have done with the
matter.” The ¢ previous question’ averted sentence, but
could not silence censure. One member denounced the
appointment as ¢ the most infamous job that ever disgraced
* the annals of the colony.” Mr. Reader Wood reminded the
House of the insults cast by Vogel upon the unsullied
Featherston—‘“evidently as 1t appears to me with the
object of driving him to resign his office as Agent-General
in order that he might accept that coveted position into
which he has schemed himself at last.”” Taiaroa was sorry
that Vogel was going away before the public works he
boasted of could be completed, and the loans definitely dealt
with. He saw no harm in employing Vogel in England if
he wanted employment, but he was by no means the only
man of knowledge in New Zealand. ‘I think there are
many other people here wiser than he. . . . The govern-
ment say he is the only man. Who knows whether he is ?
The colony has done him much honour. Let him be treated
as Mordecai of old ; let him be put upon a horse . . . . let
him be sent away from New Zealand.” Mr. Whitaker
affected to be ignorant whether Vogel would accept the
appointment under the conditions with which it would be
clogged. Vogel raised his voice no more in the House. On
the 16th August he had complained of the * foul-mouthed
abuse” he had heard in the House, which made him
“almost ashamed at times to be a member.”

His words were taken down, and he said the result was
‘¢ eminently unsatisfactory” to him.® :

¢ The censure was expunged, with others of like nature, in 1892.
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On more than one occasion, and in more than one
Australian colony, deliberative institutions have been abused
by a resort to the physical force represented by bodily
endurance. New Zealand became the scene of such a dis-
play after Major Atkinson’s junction with Mr. Whitaker.
The Disqualification Committee of the Council reported
(8th Sept.) adversely to Mr. Whitaker’s contention as to
his position, and on the 12th the Council adopted the
report. In the Lower House a committee was appointed
(7th Sept.) to consider whether the law had been
. infringed by the ministry. Confronted by inquiry,
Mr. Whitaker did not adhere to his first opinion.
He introduced an Attorney-General’s Bill to save his
position. It was set down for the second reading (8th
Sept.) but the government had not circulated it to mem-
bers, and it was postponed. On the same night the
government by a large majority carried a Waste Lands
Bill, which extended the principle of deferred payments
throughout the colony. On the 11th Sept. Major Atkinson
moved the suspension of the Standing Orders, in order that
he might force through all its stages a Civil List Bill then
exhibited for the first time. Mr. Whitaker had (4th Sept.)
invited Mr. Rees and Mr. Stout to test his opinion in the
Court of Appeal, and Sir G. Grey put the law in motion to
test the value of Whitaker’s invitation. The Civil List Bill
was an ample reply. Sir G. Grey assailed the ministry for
breaking their pledge to test the matter in the courts.
The ministerial whip retorted subsequently that Sir G.
Grey was ‘‘ 8 common informer,” for endeavouring to act
upon the pledge. On the 12th Sept. Mr. Whitaker, whose
position afforded the main butt for the missiles of the
opposition, moved the second reading of the Civil List Bill.
Mr. Stout answered him, the debate was adjourned, and the
ministry sought to evade difficulties by a resignation of
office by all except Major Atkinson, and the resumption of
office by the limited number permitted by the law. The
Disqualification Committee made an interim report (18th
Sept.), not obscurely hinting that the ministerial position
was unsound, and Major Atkinson promptly announced the
fact that the resignations had been tendered. The House
adjourned for a few hours, and reassembled again to hear

Vol. III. I
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from the distressed Premier that a further change had
boen found needful. He also had resigned and had been
ve-appointed, and the once-confident Whitaker, abandoning
his position as Attorney-General, had become, temporarily,
Postmaster.

Before the new state of affairs was discussed, Taiaroa
moved the second reading of a Maori Representation Bill.
He wished to give five members to the North Island and two
to the Middle. The House generally sympathized with him,
but Whitaker and Sir D. McLean urged that the bill
should only be read a second time, and that the matter.
should then be left to the care of the government in the
recess. Taiaroa reminded the House that the existing law
would expire in the following year. In 1872, he and
Katene had saved the Maoris from electoral extinction by an
early visit to Sir G. Bowen. ¢If this matter be put off
till next year, and a dissolution should occur before the
end of the year, what will be the pesition of the Maori
members? I suppose we shall be expected to go betimes
in the morning and wake the Governor again.” Four
Maori votes were of some consequence, and Taiaroa carried
his bill. In committee the provision to increase the
number of members was rejected by a majority of 15, Sir
D. McLean voting against the increase. In the Council,
Captain Fraser, Mr. Hall, and Mr. Holmes remarked, in
passing the bill (27th Sept.), that the legislature had
profited much by the intelligence of the Maori members. .
Captain Fraser said :—‘ The conduct of the Maoris in the
Council would compare very favourably with that of the
European members.” The European members in the
Lower House were meanwhile presenting a strange spec-
tacle to the Southern world. By 37 votes against 15, Mr.
Montgomery carried (18th Sept.) the second reading of a
bill to preclude the acceptance of paid offices by members.
Throughout Thursday, Friday and Saturday, night and
day, wordy war was continued on points of order and
amendments in the House. The government having
maintained their position, Major Atkinson introduced an
irregular Indemnity Bill, which relieved the ministers
from all expenses of the actions initiated after Whitaker
invited Mr. Stout to test the question of disqualification
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in the courts of Law. The bill was passed. When Mr.
Whitaker denounced the conduct of the opposition as dis-
graceful, Mr. Wakefield retorted that every honourable
member must recollect the infinitely more disgraceful scene
in 1868, when Sir J. Vogel was scheming to expel the
Stafford ministry, and the House was made ‘‘a perfect
pandemonium.”  Favours secret and precious had con-
verted the foes of 1868 into the co-mates of 1876.

Atkinson’s new ministry was formed on the 18th Sept.,
and the Counties Bill was successfully proceeded with.
Power was given to the Governor in Council to alter the
boundaries of counties by proclamation. A scale of voting
was fixed, by which persons rated at less than £50 were to
have one vote; persons rated at £50 to £100 were to have
two votes; those rated at from £100 to £150 were to have
three votes; those rated at from £150 to £350 were to have
four; and those rated at £350 and upwards were to have
five votes. An analogous provision had been in operation
in Victoria for many years in boroughs and shires. It did
not extend to elections for either House of Parliament, nor
was it proposed that it should do so in New Zealand.
Strenuous efforts were made by a minority, including Sir
G. Grey, to excise the provision from the bill. The third
reading was made a vehicle for opposition to the abolition
of provinces, to which the bill was ancillary ; but there was
a majority of 21 in its favour. Rates, tolls, fines, and
other endowments were secured for the counties, and under
a separate Financial Arrangements Act a portion of the
land fund in each district was allotted to them. The
Legislative Council objected to the borrowing powers con-
ferred, and more than one free conference was held before
mutual concessions secured a final agreement, and the bill
became law. The same fate attended a Rating Bill. The
Financial Arrangements Bill provided for subsidies to
county councils, to road boards, and to river boards. A
member complained that provincialism had been abolished
only in name while its evils were kept alive; but the bill
was passed.

It will not have been forgotten that when Vogel was
Treasurer he declared that a million and a-half sterling
devoted to railways had been diverted to provincial pur-

12



116 NEW ZEALAND.

poses, and represented the amount paid to purchase
support in the provinces. The evil which he privately
pampered and publicly bemoaned was kept in vigour by the
measures of his successors. The fourth section of the
Financial Arrangements Act having charged the land fund
with interest on provincial debts and subsidies to county
councils, road boards, and river boards, and various
local wants—and the 18th section having commanded the
consolidated fund to issue for five years to every borough
council a sum equal to its general rate not exceeding
one shilling in the pound, and to every county council
and road board a ‘‘ sum equal to the sum payable to such
county or board out of the land fund”—the 15th section
kept alive the purchasing power of the government by
enabling the Treasurer to make temporary advances ‘ to
meet payments authorized by this or any other Act, before
it i8 known to which of the accounts provided by section 4
the same are chargeable.”” It was in vain that the
opponents of the abolition scheme averred that the evils of
the provincial system, if any, were stereotyped under
another name, by the new law, while provinecial independ-
ence and local government were destroyed. A Waste
Lands Act (40 Viet., No. 51) defined the territories
which were to become land districts throughout the
colony, and substituted the word Governor throughout
for the familiar term of Superintendents of the provinces.
Sent to the Legislative Council a few days before the end
of the session, the bill was amended, amid many com-
plaints that more time had not been afforded for its con-
gideration. After conference between the Houses, it was
passed confessedly as a temporary measure. It did not
abolish the existing differences in the upset price of land in
various provinces, and left a legacy of trouble to a future
gsession. The prophet of the age in burning words had
denounced the gospel of mammonism which he saw, like a
many-handed monster, crawling over Europe, and choking
the nobler aspirations which from the truer heart of man
teach that the end of government is ““ to guide men in the
way wherein they should go, towards their true good in
this life, the portal of infinite good in the life to come; to
guide men in such way, and ourselves in such way, as the
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Maker of men, whose eye is upon us, will sanction at the
great day.””” That against which he raised his trumpet-
voice in the old world was unchallenged in the new. To
make well-ordered and to train for infinite happiness the
dwellers in New Zealand was not the task to which its law-
makers were invited. To make the land clank with the
multitudinous noises of labour, to swell its lists of exports
and imports, to wrest from it its mineral wealth regardless
of the ends to which it was to be applied—this was the
highest hope of those to whose guidance the land was com-
mitted, and they were mainly enabled to perform it by the
scrapers for gold who controlled elections in the populous
-gouth, which first sent Mr. Vogel to the halls of legislation.
More money was required in 1876, and a new Loan Act
(£1,000,000) was passed. The public debt at the end of the
year exceeded £20,000,000 sterling. Sir G. Grey protested
against the new loan on the grounds that Auckland ¢ had
not received anything like that share of the loans to which
it was entitled,” and that the Abolition Act had been
passed without fair appeal to the constituencies; but, as
the House in which he spoke had been elected in the
beginning of 1876, members paid little heed to him. In
his wrath at the destruction of the provinces, whose cradle
he had rocked, and at whose funeral obsequies he was so
piteous a mourner, he embittered the enmities existing
between himself and others. Nor was he scrupulous in the
use of weapons. There is no greater danger to public
order in a population injected in a random manner from
abroad, rather than growing up as a community on the
spot, than the plots of party leaders, who, failing to carry a
measure, gratify their spleen by seeking to subvert the
Constitution. In lands where law has broadened down
from precedent to precedent, and where generation after
generation has entwined with the love of country veneration
for ancestry, the danger has culminated in rapine and
disaster. In a colony where eager adventurers carve with
strong hand their own way, they are, from the nature of
things, procacious, and, when thwarted, turbulent. The
responeibility and the sin are the greater in him who incites
them, and Sir G. Grey must bear full blame for the steps
7 Carlyle, ¢ Past and Present.”
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he took to effect his objects. Only reverence for the prin-
ciples of English common law preserves English colonists
from dangers which men from other countries have found
sufficient to debar them from founding prosperous com-
munities; and that reverence Sir G. Grey did much to
impair. If existing institutions would not bend to him, he
would impeach them. Like angry Juno,® thwarted above,
he turned to those below. On their passions he might
play. The disease of democracy, an ignorant tyranny of
numbers, might waft him into power. The base Cleon
persuaded the select citizens of Athens, where all menial
work was done by voteless slaves, to decree the destruction of
all citizens of a Greek town, and the sale of their wives and
children. What might not an eloquent demagogue hope
to do when the mainstay of his power resided not in
citizens of ancient lineage, but in the proletarii of the age,
thousands of whom had swarmed to the shores of New
Zealand to gather gold, and were endowed by the folly or
arts of her politicians with as ample power over her happi-
ness as the soberest of her sons? On the 21st Oct., Sir
G. Grey having failed to carry a Manhood Suffrage Bill,
brought in a bill to establish Triennial Parliaments.
Triennial Parliaments, unless they produce the same
men for the most part, and thus show that a fresh election
was not needed, are violent disturbances. They tend also
to neutralize the efforts of the patriotic. In the first
session of a new Parliament an appreciable proportion of
new members has not acquired a fitness for its work.
If the third session be also the last, their minds are
unsettled by the approaching dissolution. There is but
one session in which they can hope to be of use. They are
driven or led to shun the function of representatives by
accepting the meaner task of delegates. Thus only can
they hope for a renewal of what they call public confidence,
but feel in their hearts to be a negation of principle. Sir
G. Grey averred that ‘ public opinion changed so rapidly
in colonial countries’ that triennial parliaments would be
an improvement. His bill was shelved by 82 votes against
22. His enemies decried him for the wild opinions which
he advocated with the apparent desire to grasp power; and

* ¢ Flectere si nequeo Superos Acheronta movebo. ™
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not in New Zealand alone there were many regrets that a
man who had done good service to the State should strive
to destroy the temple in which he was not allowed to act as
high priest. To aim at constitutional changes for their
own sake is one thing. But for a statesman sworn to obey
the Constitution to aim at change in order to wreak his
own will is another. It is the act of the discontented
gambler, who, having been a loser, breaks up the tables.
In this instance the laws had been for the most part
framed by the loser. But he had many friends and
admirers in New Zealand. His reputation, as to know-
ledge of Maoris and their language and laws, was superior
to that of Donald McLean, who was no longer the accepted
oracle that he had been when on each side of the House
candidates for office were suppliants for his aid. Sir G.
Grey was a power in the House with which McLean had
no pretensions to cope, and men said that the Native
Minister’s life was embittered by the attacks made against
him. The old man found defenders; but it was evident
that his day had departed.

Sir G. Grey did not improve his own position by entering
into controversy with the Marquis of Normanby. Forget-
ful of his own contests as a Governor, he threw obstacles
in the way of the Marquis which should have been repug-
nant to a noble mind. Once he had wrestled, and not in
vain, with the rash injustice of Earl Grey. He had
resisted the clamour of Fox and others for popular institu-
tions, which would have been wrested to the wreaking of
wrongdoing upon the Maoris. Again, when Fox, wanting
the heroic faculty himself, would not recognize the qualities
which in the person of Te Oriori rebuked him, Sir G. Grey
had occasion to feel how critical and galling the position of
& Governor could be made, and how right it was that no
man should run even the slightest risk of dragging into the
arena of public debate the name of any Governor who was
himself sensible of the impartial duty of his position. Yet
he strove to embroil the Marquis of Normanby in the
political discussions arising out of the abolition of the
provinces.

A Taranaki land-claim bill deserves special mention
because it throws light upon the methods by which Vogel
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and his colleagues carried their measures with the aid of
Mr. Stafford. Mr. F. A. Carrington, Superintendent of
the Taranaki province, was a member of the House. In
August he moved for a committee upon what he called the
Sartoris and Downe claims. Money had been paid for
land selected at Taranaki under the supposition that the
transactions of the New Zealand Company in 1840 could
confer a title. Mr. Carrington, who had been employed at
Taranaki, went to England in 1844, and importuned the
New Zealand Company on behalf of his clients. He
averred in 1876 that it was through his means that a
clause in the Imperial Act 10 and 11 Victoria provided
that ‘“those lands whenever they were acquired should be
the property of the parties who held the land orders.”
The claims and liabilities of the company had fallen upon
the government when the company expired. A local law
(Liand Order and Scrip Act 1856) appeared to Carrington
to ‘ deprive the parties of the land originally selected.”
He interceded, and the Act was amended in 1858. The
rape of the Waitara was in 1860. War and confiscation
followed. But, according to Carrington’s statement, when
the booty had been seized the robbers disagreed about its
distribution. In 1866 an Act was passed against which he
appealed to the Secretary of State. Further steps were
taken on the spot, and in 1872 Carrington, having obtained
a seat in the House, was instrumental in the passing of
the ¢ Taranaki New Zealand Company’s Land Claims
Act 1872,” which authorized the valuation of the land
(originally selected) by a commissioner. Blood-value was
to be the reward, not of the land-order holders, but of the
province. The land was valued, and Carrington ‘“ got the
land orders. When he produced the land orders he was
told that there was no land.” Such was his tale on the
17th Aug., 1876. He obtained a committee, which (4th
Oct.) reported that the order-holders could best be satisfied
by money awards, or by grants of land in other parts
of the Taranaki province, howsoever acquired by the
government. :
Major Atkinson brought down a message from the
Governor (26th Oct.), with a bill “to settle certain land
claims in the provinece of Taranaki.” ‘It was proposed to
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set apart a block of land . . . and to allow the Waste
Lands Board of Taranaki to fix the conditions and the
price of the land which the claimants (represented by
Carrington) were to take.”” The Taranaki land fund was
‘““very small,” and the bill, thus suddenly thrust upon the
House on the eve of prorogation, proposed to recoup the
province from the general revenue one-third of the amount
of the award to the claimants in order' that ‘‘ the road
passing by this land” might have a certain expenditure
““upon 1t in order to carry out the settlement of the
country.” Major Atkinson said little to rouse suspicion.
But a member from the south ‘“did not see why the
colony should be compelled to spend £6000 when the claim
was entirely on the land fund of Taranaki.” Stafford
rushed to the rescue. The demand was moderate. He
trusted Mr. Reynolds would not persist in his opposition.
.But other members scented danger. One said the affair
““looked very much like a job, as the Premier came from
that province, that this money should be given to it at
the expense of the rest of the colony.” Nevertheless,
Atkinson carried the bill through all its stages on the
same day. On Saturday, the 28th, it reached the Council,
and Dr. Pollen moved the second reading immediately
after the first. He dissented from the Act of 1872, and
the award made under it, but considered that the honour
-of the colony was committed to the principles in the
bill. Mr. Waterhouse had met Mr. Carrington in a
lobby, and that gentleman had ‘‘assured him on his
honour that it was all right.”” Mr. Waterhouse was con-
fident, nevertheless, that it was not right that, in such
a bill, there should be a clause foreign to its title, and
applying the sum of £6000 out of the public works account
to the purpose of a road. The Governor could not assent
to such a provision in such a bill. Some members thought
that the claimants would be severely treated if they should
be made to suffer because the fourth clause was irregular.
The Speaker, remarking that the bill had only at that
moment been put into his hands, thought that the tack of
an appropriation clause made it necessary for the Council
‘“ either to reject the bill altogether or accept it.” Mr.
Mantell declared that he would vote against the third read-
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put an end to by prorogration, which decided at the same
time the fate of the bill.? On the 81st Oct., 1876, the
wearied Houses were dismissed to their homes without the
usual vice-regal speech.

After the colonies in the Pacific became self-governing,.
their public debts advanced with gigantic strides. In 1873
the New Zealand debt was little less than £11,000,000. In
1877 it exceeded £20,000,000, and there was little prospect
that Treasurers would resist the pressure which, according
to his own statement, had made one of them misappropriate
a million and a half sterling. The payment of interest on
the debt was not oppressive while trade was prosperous,
but there were ominous signs that when more money might
be needed there were partisans who would, to elude economy,
raise funds by class legislation which would be but a thinly
veiled act of plundering those who were, or were thought to
be, rich.1®

One or two facts as to the revenues of the provinces will
explain the feverish excitement about provincial land funds, .
and at the same time furnish a striking proof that the
colonization principles of Edward Gibbon Wakefield had
borne best fruit where most faithfully adhered to. New
Zealand contained nearly 68,000,000 of acres: of which,

® There were many comments upon Mr. Carrington’s position, and on the
patronage afforded to him. In the session of 1877 he read documents to
prove that his claims were righteous, and that he had made no contract for

rsonal remuneration. He looked to ‘‘the House to put him right.”

r. Stafford read a letter from England in confirmation of Carrington’s
statement. Subsequently Major Atkinson expressed a hope to settle
during the session ‘‘these long outstanding claims.” Accordingly a bill
was introduced, but it was killed by the fall of the ministry, whose
successors deemed it desirable to satisfy the claimants with money rather
than with land. On the 6th Dec., 1877, Sir G. Grey being Premier, the
bill was discharged from the paper, and on the same day, without a
division, £15,000 were voted for the ‘‘land claims of Sartoris, Downe, and
others, final settlement.” When it was voted Carrimgton had become a
supporter, for the time, of the new government, and Mr, G. McLean, a
member of the expelled ministry, moved a reduction of the amount in
order that Carrington might redeem his undertaking, that °‘nothing
would induce him to take more than 10 per cent.”

1©1894. Sir H. Maine in his ‘‘Popular Government” (London, 1885)
thus sanctioned the prediction (1883) of the text. ¢‘There are two kinds
of bribery. It can be carried on by giving to expectant partisans places
out of the taxes, or it may consist in the more direct process of legislating
away the property of one class, and transferring it to another. It is this
last which is likely to be the corruption of these latter days.” P. 106.
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omitting fractions, there were 17,000,000 in Auckland,
18,000,000 in Otago, 8,000,000 in Canterbury, 7,000,000 in
Nelson, and smaller quantities in the other provinces. It
was undisputed that Canterbury had striven to adhere to
Wakefield’s principle of demanding a sufficient price for
land :—sulfficient, ¢.e., to bar the employed from becoming
landowners until it was desirable for the general weal that
they should do so, and to bar capitalists from acquiring
large areas at insufficient prices. It was equally undeniable
that, surrounded by provinces some of which offered land at
a cheaper rate (and not remote from Australian colonies
which did likewise) Canterbury was compelled to test
Wakefield's theories under great disadvantage.

Yet Canterbury, out of her 8,693,000 had sold 2,300,000
acres for £8,608,000, while Auckland out of her 17,000,000
had for 2,144,000 acres received only £274,000.)! Otago had
striven to adhere to Wakefield’s principles. She had re-
ceived for little more than 2,000,000 acres £1,787,000.
Joining together the results in Canterbury and Otago (in-
cluding Southland) the comparison with other provinces is
startling. Out of 11,915,898 acres sold, from the founda-
tion of the colony till 81st Oct., 1876, for £8,101,859,
the enormous proportion of £5,895,000 had been received
by Canterbury and Otago for less than 4,500,000 acres.
For about the same quantity of land as that sold by Auck-
land, Canterbury had received thirteen times as much
money. And Canterbury was so prosperous that the hearts

Area. °£ Acres sold.

n Ayuckland ... ... 17,000,000 274,000 2,144,000
Taranaki ... . .. 2,290,000 23,000 70,000
Wellington... e ... 7,000,000 585,000 1,640,000
Nelson . - ... 7,000,000 424,000 1,337,000
Marlborough - ... 3,000,000 176,000 540,000
Canterbury ° ... ... 8,693,000 3,608,000 2,300,000
Westland ... ... 3,045,760 51,096 65,000
Otago - .. .. 13,257,808 1,787,000 2,047,000
Southland ... .. 2,780,592 760,000 779,000
Hawke’s Bay ... 3,050,000 409,000 991,000

It must be borne in mind that Marlborough, Southland, and Westland
were created in 1859, 1861, and 1868. (Returns laid before New Zealand
Legislative Council in 1876.)

* Cash received for land from foundation of colony to date of abolition of provinces,
omitting fractions.
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of Gibbon Wakefield’s pupils might rejoice. It was not to
be wondered at that the dwellers in Canterbury, while
aiding to abolish the provinces, strove to retain for them-
selves the reaping of that which they had sown. It was
perhaps impossible to see what was plain to unbiassed
observers,—that no sense of justice would restrain the new
central government from opening the purse which they had
seized. Having combined with others to override the will
of her neighbours, Canterbury was to learn that others
would combine against her.

It could not be doubted that the special advantages
secured for Canterbury by the sagacity of her founders and
the exertions of her settlers would be swallowed up by the
needs of a minister in search of money, assisted by craving
representatives from other parts of New Zealand. The
waste lands of the province to which peculiar value had
been given by local laws, and which would under them
have been applied for local needs, were to be clutched by
others than the dwellers in the province. Raising the price
of land elsewhere was likely to promote purchases in -
Canterbury, and to alienate rapidly the territory on which
she had relied for her own aggrandizement, and to which
her regulations had given exceptional value. It was little
consolation to think that in after times the value of land in
other districts might be enhanced, for that also would
disappear, and then taxation would lay its hand upon the
accumulations of the past to meet the demands (for interest
and principal) of the millions, which, at the rate of about
£1,000,000 a year, were being added to New Zealand debts.
There was much to be said for the policy of centralizing
the colonial administration on general grounds, although
it was bitter for the provinces to receive their death-draught
from the hands of him who gained confidence as their
champion. Bitterer still would it be for the men of
Canterbury to feel in after times that the safeguards on
which they had relied to protect their local revenues would
be rent asunder by the centralism they assisted to create..
Their remedy was about to be sought under a ministry of
- which a Canterbury settler was the leader, and it consisted
in a rough resort to single electorates of equal population,
because at the time when the experiment was made.
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Canterbury and Otago were more populous than other
districts.

An event, of which the significance was felt beyond the
confines of New Zealand, occurred during the recess. The
man whose existence as Native Minister had made ministries
possible passed away. A sufferer from rheumatic fever in
bygone times, worn by anxiety, and harassed by the fierce
light thrown upon his official position by unfriendly
critieisms, Sir Donald McLean died in Jan.,1877. He had
resigned office in December, and had entreated the Maoris
to support the government in which his successor (Dr.
Pollen) would pursue McLean’s policy. He left devoted
friends, Pakeha and Maori. The latter assembled to hold
a tangi, or mourning celebration. The ancient war-dance,
the imported funeral volleys, the orations by chiefs, the
chants, and wailing of hundreds of natives, declared the
grief of the tribes. Mr. Ormond addressed them, and Mr.
Douglas McLean expressed his gratitude for the love shown
to his father’s memory. A grand war-dance closed the
obsequies in honour of ‘‘the great Maori mystery-man.”

Dr. Pollen had an interview with Rewi, who agreed to
.diseuss matters within his own territory, in order that he
might stand on a good footing. The chiel recurred to the
burden of Tawhiao, ‘‘the return of the Waikato to their
aneestral lands;’’ but Dr. Pollen adhered to the policy of
Sir Donald McLean. The re-cession of the confiscated
Jand was impossible, but the government would deal liber-
ally with such of the tribe as might return and settle on
unalienated reserves available for the purpose. Diplomacy
was at a stand. '

Litigation meanwhile raised hopes. The Hawke’s Bay
purchases had afforded opportunities to Mr. Sheehan.
When all the legal talent at Hawke's Bay had been secured
for the purchasers of the Heretaunga block, he had been
invited from Auckland as the Maori advocate. At Napier
he had, in 1878, appeared before a commission appointed
under an Act of 1872 to inquire into the alienation of
native lands. Judge (C. W.) Richmond presided. The
Pakeha Maori, Mr. Maning, assisted, with two Maori com-
missioners, Hikairo and Te Wheoro. The report and

-evidence filled 256 pages of a New Zealand blue-book, and
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Judge Richmond feared that its mass would seem ‘‘as
untractable as was the business with which we had to
deal.” Fraud in transactions was the gravamen of the
complaints of the Maoris. Inadequate consideration, pres-
sure of old debts, the appropriation of * part of the purchase-
money to pay off old scores for spirits” (at a time when it
was illegal to allow such debts to be created), incomplete-
ness of payments, secret gifts to procure signatures, decep-
tive acts on the part of interpreters, want of explanation
and of legal advice, were some of the grounds on which Mr.
Sheehan’s clients impugned the Hawke’s Bay purchases.

The European commissioners intimated early in the
proceedings that they would not allow the payment of con-
sideration in spirits to vitiate a transaction otherwise
unexceptionable. In one case £370, or nearly 40 per cent.
of the total, had been so paid. Mr. Justice Richmond
reported :—

““This resolution of ours was adopted as members of a court of conscience

-expressly freed from the obligation of legal precedent. Whatever the law
may say upon the matter, it appeared to us that it would be unconscientious
-on the part of a native who had received value in this shape to attempt to
rip up the transaction. . . . At all events, that the law allows repudi-
-ation cannot make repudiation honourable or right. On this ground we
.determined that the native vendor was, in foro conscientie, debarred from
raising this objection.”
'There was a flaw in this reasoning to which the judge made
no allusion. The signatures of the vendors were signatures
of those who had become Crown grantees to satisfy the
New Zealand land laws. They were fiduciaries for their
tribes, and were so deemed by the Maoris. By Judge
Richmond’s dictum, if a wily agent could obtain the signa-
ture of a drunken trustee the rights of innocent hundreds
would in a court of conscience be set at nought. It would
have been possible to punish an offending Maori trustee
without defrauding the innocent. As Judge Richmond has
occupied, deservedly, considerable space in New Zealand
story, he may be permitted to explain the moral grounds of
his dictum.

“That a breach of law should be remunerated by allowing one of the
offenders to break a contract is an anomaly with which it is to be hoped that
the native people will not be allowed to make practical acquaintance, as it
wotild tend doubly to weaken their still feeble sense of legal and moral ob-
ligation. It woulg make the matter worse that to the Maori should belong
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all the pleasure and the profit,’ while on the Pakeha would fall the whole

nalty of wrong-doing. No worse lesson could be given to a people who
E:.ve yet to learn that they must themselves bear the burden of their own
follies and misdeeds, and not hope to shift it on other shoulders.”

‘No one denied that it was unlawful to include a charge for
spirits in the accounts, and that many transactions were
completed in public-houses.

Hikairo could not agree with his brother commissioners.
He declared that the ten grantees were *‘chosen as
trustees” by the majority of those interested in Heretaunga;
they were not to sell. He challenged the inclusion of store
and spirit debts in the price for the land, the undue
pressure brought separately to bear on the trustees,
‘“ gometimes on the roads, sometimes in public-houses,
sometimes in bedrooms, sometimes upon the sick. I do
not think this was a proper way of making a sale of land.”
He thought the interpreters, ‘‘ acting only for the lessees
and storekeepers,” had caused trouble; and it was elicited
in cross-examination that they were to receive from the
purchasers a special fee on the sale. On this point Judge
Richmond sympathized with Hikairo. *The position was
a false one. . . . I cannot wonder at the distrust
of the interpreters displayed by the native vendors.
. . . The interpreter who translates and explains the
contract or conveyance ought to be absolutely neutral.
. . . His private business may send him to serve a
writ sued out by the purchaser to compel specific perform-
ance. . . . Something very like this occurred in the
case of Heretaunga.” Nevertheless the judge thought
that the interpreters had at Heretaunga acted uprightly ;
although the double functions assumed by them would
have * strongly affected his mind’’'® if he had doubted
whether the sellers knew what they were doing. He did
not close his report without admitting that simple as were

1z ¢¢Resolute against a decision which might weaken the moral sense of
a drunken Maori trustee, Judge Richmond gave legal effect to his unlawful
acts, and in so doing rewarded the unlawful and immoral act of the
debauching and corrupt Pakeha. To him the judge awarded the profit of
the debauch. From the widow and orphan that award may have torn the
means of living.”—Aureretanga, Ridgway, London, 1888.

3 ¢ What would have been the result of his ‘ mind being affected’ did
not appear.”—Aureretanga, p. 151.
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the requirements that the native ownership should be
ascertained, and the general consent to its extinction
secured—*‘ they have been disregarded in the existing law
" as practically administered.”” He recommended alterations
in the law in which he substantially agreed with sugges-
tions made by Sir W. Martin and Dr. Shortland. They
had also advised a very crucial check upon fraud, viz.,
that all purchase-money for native land should be paid
into court; but the Commission thought such a provision
unnecessary if other improvements should be made in
the law.

In the evidence tendered to the Commission, Mr. Ormond
was shown to have been one of the purchasers of the Here-
taunga block. He was at the time Government Agent and
Superintendent at Hawke’s Bay. When he persuaded
Henare Tomoana to enter upon a campaign against Te
Kooti, Ormond had induced a man named Sutton to stay
proceedings against H. Tomoana, and Sutton adroitly ob-
tained judgment by default against Tomoana behind his
back in the matter of a writ. It was after consultation with
Tanner, the lessee, that Ormond obtained suspension* of the
proceedings against Tomoana. Various devices were resort-
ed to by Sutton and others to procure signatures to deeds
of sale. Originally the Heretaunga block had been leased
for 21 years, and the lessees inserted improvement clauses
the tendency of which might incommode the Maori owners
if they should wish to re-enter into possession. But more
rapid improvement was desired. There had been an invalid
lease in the first instance. Another was made after the
Crown grantees were constituted in 1867. In 1869, various
trains were laid to extort their consent to a sale. With
grantees who were drunkards little difficulty was appre-
hended. One of them, Kawatini, was persuaded, without
consultation with the others, to convey his interest to a
butcher, who served Tanner, the lessee, with notice to pay
to the butcher Kawatini’s proportion of the Heretaunga
rents. Tanner (to bar expensive proceedings, though at
first he had slighted Parker’s position on the ground that a
grantee could not sell without consent of the others)

. " Mr. Ormond’s evidence before the Heretaunga Commission.

Vol. II1. J
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employed a solicitor (Nov., 1869) to watch for him an action
in the Supreme Court, which Kawatini (said to have been
seldom sober at the time) had been induced to bring against
Parker. The case was discontinued by consent. It was
arranged that the friendly Tanner should buy Kawatini’s
interest ; and an equally friendly solicitor, Cuff, kindly
examined the accounts with Kawafini. ‘I see an entry
(Cuff deposed) ¢ Attending on Waaka (Kawatini) and going
through accounts.” 1 went through the accounts with
Waaka several times.” The result was that Tanner
secured the signature of the drunken grantee to the sale
of the Heretaunga block. The evidence filled nearly 300
pages. Two will exhibit some of its peculiarities. Mr.
Ormond admitted that an additional sum was paid after the
execution of the deed. ‘‘ We took advice and were advised
to pay it.”” Some of the grantees were to receive annuities.
One of them was Pahoro. Asked if it was ever proposed
to give him an annuity, Ormond replied in the negative,
adding: ‘It would only have been an additional drunk in
the course of the year.” Asked by the chairman (C. W.
Richmond) if the after-payment was understood to be a
secret matter, Ormond replied : ‘“No. My understanding
was that we had to pay a bribe to secure his co-operation,
and the simple question in my mind was whether it was
worth doing so or not.”?® According to Mr. Ormond public
opinion had been so far educated that it was unnecessary
to conceal what was understood to be a bribe in obtaining
signatures of trustees who were fiduciaries for their tribe.
Amongst devices to obtain signatures of the grantees was
paying sums of money for them, in order to make them
debtors to the plotters. Mr. Sutton was asked if he paid
away a large sum shortly after an arrangement about
" Pahoro’s and Paramena’s claims. He said: ““£250 for a
steam-threshing machine. I suspect it had been bought
previously with Paramena’s money.” “Then” (said
counsel) “he had the satisfaction of paying for it twice
over?” ‘I believe s0,” responded the knowing Sutton.
““Why did you retain Pahora’s money instead of paying it
over?” ‘ He has never asked for it. He has come o me

'* Hawke’s Bay Native Lands Alienation Commission. Napier: 1873.
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for sums of £5 or £10, which I have always paid when he
has been sober.” ‘Then you are still in his debt?” said
the chairman. ‘There is a small balance of £40 or £50
still.” “‘Is he aware of this?”’ ‘I believe he is—as much
as & man can be aware who is almost constantly drunk.”
One Davie, an hotelkeeper, was in the habit of dealing with
Paramena. The negotiators resorted to him. The inter-
preter whom they employed told Davie that it was desired
to obtain an order from Paramena. Davie went to Para-
mena with the interpreter. ‘It was useless to ask
Paramena for so small an order as £80, as I could get that
sum from himat any time. . . . He had settled with
me only a week or two before. I had no doubt he would
pay when I asked. I was unwilling to go at all, thinking
it was coming rather sharp on him.” Forty pounds was
the amount fixed upon. Paramena was unwilling ‘ to
receive money on account of Heretaunga,”” but the inter-
preter overcame his scruples and he signed. The order was
drawn on Williams, one of the purchasers, but he did not
pay it. Davie asked Williams twice and Ormond once for pay-
ment. When Ormond was reluctant to pay Davie said : “ If
he would not give me a cheque I would tear up the note.
He then gave me a cheque.” The careful Sutton, accord-
ing to Paramena’s evidence, obtained a power of attorney
from Paramena, and when the latter was asked to sign the
conveyance he did so, saying : ‘‘ There is nothing for me
to do but to sign. I am always signing. Iam not desirous
to sell.” Tanner asked him in court if he raised any
objection to the terms of the document, and he replied: ““No;
because you said it would be useless for me to oppose it.”
Pahoro said that when the agent went to him to procure
his consent at a public-house, ‘“ we drank a good deal.
There were twenty persons drunk.” The interpreters
employed by the purchasers were promised (irrespective of
their authorized fees) a bonus of £800 if the purchase
should be negotiated. The chairman (Judge Richmond)
condemned such a procedure. ‘“As soon as an inter-
preter takes a lump sum for his success, he necessarily’
becomes a negotiator. The notion that a mere interpreter
can have a client is monstrous. With perfect propriety the
government regulations afterwards prohibited negotiation
J2
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by interpreters.” Nevertheless the procedure was not
allowed by the chairman to invalidate the transaction
before him.16 "

The Maori assessors vainly objected to sanction the arts
employed against their countrymen. A licensed interpreter
having asked permission to correct his evidence, Hikairo
said: ‘‘You appear to correct your statement a great many
* times; is this the last?”’ and the conscious witness replied:
I hope so.”

Unsuccessful before the commission, Mr. Sheehan’s
clients resorted to the Supreme Court. The arts by which
purchases had been made in the first instance were freely
used to protect them. Mr. Sheehan told the House in 1877
that a Maori girl, eight years old, was induced to *“sign a
deed of mortgage to secure payment of certain sums of
money,” and that an interpreter endorsed the deed, with a
““ golemn declaration that he had explained the deed, and
that the child fully understood it.” This, he said, ‘“is only
one of scores—absolute scores—” of the Hawke’s Bay
transactions. The report of the Heretaunga Commission
reproached by its recommendations the practices which it
had not condemned. It advised that the power of selling
land under mortgage should be abolished, together with
that of selling land under a Supreme Court judgment; and
that costs against natives in cases against Europeans
should be forbidden. It admifted that the absence of legal
advice “would in an English Court of Equity be a very
gerious objection;” and Sir D. McLean, in 1878, intro-
duced a bill to remedy the defects pointed out. The
weakness of the original transactions was patent; and, to
shelter them, the purchasers resorted to strange devices.
It was hoped that want of money would bar the prosecu-
tion of actions. But self-interest was strong, and many
transactions defied justification. To secure a title, where
the original purchase-money was about £2000, one set

* How one chief, to escape the. importunity of Tanner and the inter-
preter, hid himself in a willowtree one day and in & loft on the next, but
tinding that others were receiving money he also submitted and signed, and
how he was told that the £1000 he became entitled to thereby was
swallowed u}) in paying his previous debts—may be read by the curious in
the report of the inquiry.
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of conspitators paid no less than £17,500. Numerous
cases were pending when the General Assembly met in
July, 1877. 3

In September, 1877, Mr. Rees moved that a committee
be appointed to inquire into all dealings with native lands
by landed proprietors in Hawke’s Bay. Mr. Ormond, the
Minister for Public Works, in reply, quoted the words of the
Chairman of the Commission, exculpating him from any
blame with regard to the Heretaunga purchase. He assailed
the ¢ organization in Hawke’s Bay . . . known as the
Repudiation .Association,” which stirred the Maoris to ill
deeds. He rashly charged Sir G. Grey with having, while
Governor, striven to become one of & company to acquire
from the natives, in 1867, an estate of more than a quarter
of a million acres, near Lake Taupo. Sir G. Grey demanded
inquiry. Ormond promised to produce convincing letters,
and when the House expected compliance it was found that
Whitaker (the Attorney-General), custodian of -certain
letters, declined to produce them without permission from
two persons, although he had allowed Ormond to base
charges upon the letters, and to say that they would be
produced. In debate, ohe of the members of the company
alluded to by Ormond declared that Sir G. Grey ‘‘had no
more connection with the partnership, no connection mean-
while with the negotiations, paid no money,” and no more
interfered with the matter than the Speaker ¢ or anybody
else in this House not belonging to the company.” Whitaker
himself was found to have been one of the company.
Unable to prove their charges, the ministry endeavoured to
shelve the subject by means of the ‘‘ previous question.”
In debate, a member proved that the company spoken of by
Ormond never intended to buy an acre of land. Ormond
retorted : “‘I said ‘acquiring’ country, which I knew just
as well then as I do now referred to leasing and not
purchasing.”

The effect of such proceedings was to damage the reputa-
tion of the ministry. But members were unwilling to see
Sir G. Grey, the foe of abolition, placed in power. The
ghost of provincialism still stalked in the land. The
government secured a majority by 41 votes against 84.
But subsequent events weakened their position. Ormond’s
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and Whitaker’s speeches were found to have been signifi-
cantly altered. Their speeches, revised by themselves,
contained no allusion to the ¢ purchase” of land imputed
to Sir G. Grey. The letters asked for were produced by
their writer, Mr. H. R. Russell, who declared that Ormond’s
statement that Sir G. Grey used his position as Governor
in the transaction was ‘‘ absolutely and entirely false, and
without a shadow of foundation.” The engineers had
been “ hoist with their own petard.” On the 2nd Oct.,
the letters and Mr. H. R. Russell’s statement were laid on
the table by the Speaker. On the 8th, the select committee
submitted to the House in parallel columns Mr. Ormond’s
speech as first reported and as altered by him. On the
10th, the ministry was declared by 42 votes to 88 not to
possess the confidence of the House.

Some of their measures deserve mention. Taxation had
troubled them. The Treasurer made his financial state-
ment on the 81st July. He proposed to raise a loan of
£2,000,000, but not to interfere with the incidence or
character of taxation. On the 3rd Aug., one of his sup-
porters (Mr. Woolecock) moved that ¢ the time has arrived
when a change in the incidence of taxation has become
necessary. . . . Mr. Whitaker having in the meantime
brought a Native Land Court Bill into the House, Mr.
Woolcock’s proposal was discussed on the 17th Aug. On
that day Mr. Bowen (Minister of Justice) suggested an
amendment, accepting the principle of Mr. Woolcock’s
proposition, with the proviso that ¢ the financial proposi-
tions of the government next session should embody it.”
The motion that the Speaker do leave the chair having
been negatived, Sir G. Grey moved—That the system of
taxation should ¢ immediately be altered,”” with a view to
lighten the Customs duties and impose burdens upon
income and property. His desire was to put ‘“an acreage
tax upon all landed property.”” Mr. Macandrew supported
him. There was a succession of amendments, but on the
23rd Aug. it was resolved in words proposed by Major
Atkinson, with alterations accepted from Sir G. Grey, that

7 Taiaroa said: ‘‘I am much ashamed of the manner in which this debate
has been carried on. I can only think that the words of King David were
right, —All men are liars.”
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‘““the incidence of taxation should be so adjusted as to
impose on property and income a fair share of the general
burdens entailed on the colony, and thereby afford means
for the reduction of taxes on necessaries; and that the
financial proposals of the government next session should
embody this principle.” Sir J. Vogel’s successors were at
last brought face to face with the result of purchasing
support in the provinces, and of abolishing the provinces
at the risk of confiscating the land resources of one district
and employing them for the behoof of another. Probable
reprieve to another session had been gained; but the dread
of politicians—an abstract resolution—was to haunt the
ministry if they should obtain a recess. Scarcely had
the equivocal haven of postponement been reached when
Mr. Reader Wood barbed the darts of the huntsmen afresh
by moving that, as the government could not equalize their
receipts and expenditure ° without interfering with the
appropriation of the land fund made by the 16th section of
the Abolition of Provinces Acts 1875, the land fund should
be at once made part of the ordinary revenue, and appro-
priated annually by this House.” .

The Abolitionists of the Middle Island were alarmed.
Mr. Reynolds, so ready to blow to thin air all treaties or
compacts with Maoris, rose in disgust. The Compact of
1856, the Abolition of 1875, the Financial Arrangement of
1876, would be broken by ‘‘even entertaining for a
moment any alteration of those laws. . . . If the
southern part of the colony is goaded by such motions (as
Mr. Reader Wood’s) there is sufficient moral strength to
make any government of the colony impossible.” A
member retorted that Reynolds must have been simplep if
he had failed to see that the natural consequence of
abolition would be that which he now deplored, and which
was foretold by many members of the House. There were
acrimonious debates. A month elapsed before it was
determined whether the House would gratify the govern-
ment by going into committee of supply. Mr. Fox, who
had recently returned from England, shielded them when
he could. Mr. Stafford did the same. An Education Bill
which the government passed in mutilated form in 1877
may be mentioned here in order to disconnect it from
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the confused proceedings of the session of 1877. The
proposals of 1873 had been abortive. Mr. Bowen, the
Minister of Justice, proposed in 1877 to establish school
districts, local boards, and a capitation fee of 10s. for
each child, in consideration of which all school fees
were to be remitted. The State was to contribute about
£3 10s. for each child. He thought it unwise by making
education gratuitous to sap the moral responsibility of
parents. The compulsory clauses of the bill were to be
carried out by the local committees. He wished the Bible
to be read in the schools, and startled some members
by citing a passage in which Professor Huxley hymned
its praise as noblest and purest English ‘‘ woven into the
life of all that is best and noblest in English history.
. .+ . By the study of what other book could children
be so much humanized and made to feel that each figure
in that vast historical procession fills, like themselves, but
a momentary space in the interval between two eternities,
and earns the blessings and curses of all time, accord-
ing to its effect to do good and hate evil, even as they
also are earning payment for their work ?”’ The bill pro-
vided that there should be Bible-reading at the opening of
the school. From such reading parents could withhold
their children. The bill was generally well received. Dr.
Wallis ¢ supposed the time would never come when a
minister would be so atheistic as to take all the school-
books and erase the name of God from them.”’® On the.
8rd Sept. the second reading was carried. The clause
empowering local committees to levy capitation fees was
struck out. The reading of history was opposed by six
members, of whom Mr. Stout was one; and it was deter-
mined that no child should be taught history if his parents
or guardians objected. The provisions by which Mr. Bowen
hoped to leave religion in honour in the schools, without
enforcing instruction upon conscientious absentees, were
all struck from the bill. In the Council, Dr. Pollen carried
the second reading without a division, but he and his

's Strangely enough, what Dr. Wallis considered im({)osaible was soon
afterwards recommended in Victoria by a Minister of Education. For an
account of the preaching of St. Paul at the Areopagus, the government
substituted a treatise on Manchester and bags of cotton.
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colleagues had ceased to hold office during the later stages
of the bill. The Council restored the provision for reading
the Bible and made other alterations, but the more im-
portant were subsequently abandoned.”® An amendment,
making the voting for school committees cumulative, was
agreed to by the Representatives. There were in both
Houses some qualms about relieving parents of the solemn
duty of contributing, when possessed of means, to educate
their children, but the profaned name of liberality was
appealed to, and it was resolved, in defiance of reason and
experience, that, because it was to be compulsory, education
must be free. There was no other subject on which such
a fallacy was allowed to prevail, but it is popular to
dispense money. The exchequer was to be robbed with
clean hands. The bribe to parents blinded them to
their demoralization. No member had the hardihood
to point out that many things are compulsory which
are not free—that a man is compelled by law not
to starve his child’s body, and is bound by solemn
considerations not to starve the mind. Nay, more—the
law steps in in numerous cases to compel, without providing
funds for the compelled. It is not wonderful that the
study of logic has been found repulsive to the bulk of
mankind. Men are creatures possessed of reason with a
violent repugnance to use it. Sir G. Grey was not
ashamed to lend his abilities to the prevailing fallacy.
There was one measure, of which Whitaker the Attorney-
General was sponsor, which deserves notice. He declared,
¢ that the object should be, not only to have the surplusland
dealt with, but to put the whole under a Crown title, whether
retained by the natives or not, because it is of the greatest
importance that the native title should be extinguished as
speedily as possible.” Such had ever been the object of
Whitaker and his congeners. By law or by war they had
striven to attain it. By confiscation of the joint rights of
tribes they had attained it in Waikato. Mr. Whitaker

" Protests were recorded in the Council against the bill because it
¢ failed to provide for any recognition of the Christian religion or even
of the Supreme Being.” Mr. Hall and Mr. Menzies protested that ‘such
a law is not only absolutely wrong, but is opposed to the general wishes
of the people of New Zealand.”
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~wbea.”" My, Bunny declared that ‘““a more pernicious
W was never brought before the Assembly. It would
subject the Maoris to a few rich men.” Mr. Ballance ““did
uut helieve that the House ought to legislate upon what he
wight call a bagis of immorality.” The Maori member,
Nahe, disapproved of the bill. His countrymen condemned
it. *“ Clauses 83 to 87 took away the land of the Maoris.”
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Taiaroa declared that the government had not explained the
real objects of the bill.

“1 pro to call it another Land Bill to take away the land of the
Maoris—that is, to plunder them of theirland. . . . The bill provides
that the assessor may sit with the judge, but he has no authority in the
decision. Of what use is it to place men in such a powerless position ?
. « . It is provided that the government, or some capitalggt, may
advance money for survey of lands; but if the Maori has no money to
repay the cost of survey, the land is to be seized and kept till he can pay
the cost. If he cannot pay, the land is to be taken. This is but a metgaod
of mortgaging to make our lands pass away from us.” '

Mr. Rees, calling to mind the time when Henare Tomoana
raised troops and foiled Te Kooti, said the government had
not reimbursed a sixth part of the cost incurred by Henare.
I tell you this, as it ought to be made matter of history.”
The chief and his brother, having contracted debts, were
threatened with imprisonment unless they signed convey-
ances of land. ‘Under such pressure these men who
saved the country from the rebel natives actually signed
the deeds.” Was not Mr. Ormond (a minister) now part
owner of the property so acquired ? One Maori described
the bill as a ‘“monster called the new government Land
Bill ; and oh! Maoris! regard the teeth of this monster,
and see how you like them.” The debate was adjourned
(7th Aug.), while yet the government was strong in the
House. On the 14th Aug., Major Atkinson moved that the
order of the day to resume the debate on the Native Land
Court Bill be discharged. The government would with-
draw the bill and would consult with the natives during
the recess. Mr. Gisborne invited attention to the insidious
clauses in Whitaker’s bill which Taiaroa had assailed, and
which enabled a speculator to lend money for survey pur-
poses, taking security and becoming mortgagee in anticipa-
tion so that without his consent a Maori could not obtain a
certificate of title. He believed in his ¢‘ heart that Sir D.
McLean would sooner have cut off his right hand than
have allowed it to affix his approval to this bill.” Captain
Russell, a ministerial supporter, with strange simplicity
observed that it was natural for Maoris to oppose the bill,
‘“ because the 85th clause distinctly takes away the ¢ mana’
from the chiefs.”” He averred that the ¢ supposed
unscrupulous swindlers in Hawke’s Bay never robbed
the natives to the extent the government did.” He
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designated the Maori as belonging, according to Judge
(C. W.) Richmond, to “an age prior to morality.” He
¢ considered Henare Tomoana one of the most accomplished
liars it had been his misfortune to listen to,”” and sat down
as he quoted the words in which Shakespeare makes Iago
descant on the blessings ¢ of a good name.” The borrowed
eloquence roused Henare Tomoana’s half-brother, Taka-
moana, who (16th Aug.) read a petition concurred with by
8050 Maoris. It complained :— :

1. That in the bill too much power is given to the Governor. 2. Too
much is given to the judges. 3. The entire absence of power in the native
assessor. 4. The authorizing one man to apply for investigation of title to
land. 5. Authorizing one man to sell or lease land. (We do not like
these provisions. It would only be right if done by the majority in the
grant.) 6. Authorizing one man to subdivide land. This is not right ;
the application should be from the majority. 7. Authorizing children to
sell land. This is not right. Authorizing married women to sell or lease
land. This is not right. This law does not exist among Europeans. If
you authorize your children and your married women to sell their lands,
then only will it be right to let this become law for the Maoris. 8. Autho-
rizing people to mortgage. This must not be. We have suffered very
greatly indeed through mortgages. 9. We have fully seen the evils of
these clanses, viz., 12, 17, 18, 35, 38, 40, 41, 47 to 56, 58, 63 to 72, 77 to 87,
95 to 98, 110 to 112, 113 to 116, and 120 :—all of them. And we pray that
the investigation of titles to Maori lands should be by the chiefs and men
of knowledge of the Maoris.”

Takamoana read the petition, *“on account of the speeches
made by Sutton and Captain Russell.” The natives had
been robbed of their land ¢ through the law and under the
law.” Captain Russell called Henare Tomoana a liar, but
gave no reason for doing so. Henare's evidence was
confirmed by others, but nevertheless it was not believed.
 Who had got justice from the Hawke’s Bay Commission ?”
Nahe, the Western (Maori) member, said : * In every year
the government upsets its own laws. I conclude therefore
that they must be bad, seeirlg that the ministers bring
them in, and then throw them out.” If they were just
they would not need to be discarded. I suspect that the
Europeans are not so expert at legislation as I once
supposed. Though they may seem to have great legal
talent, it appears they do not know how to make permanent
laws, and it would be well for the Maoris to make an
experiment in drafting bills. I think they would make
quite as good a bill as the Europeans can.” Tawhiti, the
Maori member of the ministry, advocated the withdrawal of



MR. WHITAKER BRINGS AN ACTION FOR LIBEL. 141

the bill and consultation of all natives as to a new one. Mr.
Bryce said that members were in error who supposed that
Maoris would be irritated if prevented from selling land.
" The fact was otherwise. ‘At present they entertain a
suspicion that every one is trying to grab their land.” The
bill was withdrawn.

It may be mentioned cursorily that a virulent article in a
newspaper published at Oamaru induced Mr. Whitaker to
move (16th Aung.) that it was * a breach of privilege.”” The
whole of it ‘“was absolutely false.” It suggested that
Whitaker’s Native Land Bill ought to be entitled a bill to
further enrich at the expense of the colony the Attorney-
General and his colleagues in land speculations. The
printer was ordered to appear at the bar. When he ap-
peared he averred that the article complained of was written
in compliance with duty. It was desirable to check the
growth of land-monopolies. He quoted speeches of members
which were as denunciatory as the article. He was sorry
to come into collision with the House in doing his duty,
and should it be held that he had ‘“ acted with indiseretion’
he was prepared to submit to the judgment. It was
resolved that ‘ the Attorney-General be instructed to pro-
secute . . . for a libel on a member of this House in
his place in Parliament; and in the event of the verdict on
the trial being for the defendant, or should the jury
disagree, all costs incurred on behalf of the defendant
should be defrayed by the government as between attorney
and client.” Mr. Whitaker said in the debate, *I feel this,
that either Mr. Jones ought to be placed in gaol, or I
should be turned out of this Parliament.” When the trial
took place Mr. Whitaker was out of office. His counsel
resorted to dilatory pleas—but in vain. The counsel for
Jones called no witnesses. The jury found a verdict for
the defendant. Whitaker, having failed to put Jones in
gaol, retained his seat in the House, and the taxpayers of
New Zealand paid the costs.



w2

CHAPTER XIX.

1877—1881.

THE ‘‘ WAKA MAORI’’ NEWSPAPER.

Mr. OruonD's refuted charges against Sir G. Grey cooled
tho fviendship of some ministerial supporters. A news-
papor was to furnish the weapon with which the ministry
was to be slain. Mr. H. R. Russell, a member of the
(Council, had brought an action against the “ Waka Maori”
nowspaper (edited by the government). The action was
ponding when the Houses met, and Mr. Whitaker said
(1st Aug.) that the plaintiff would probably pay the costs.
On the 2nd a member moved that it was unconstitutional
for a ministry to use influence in defending one citizen
ugainst another, and that the carrying on of the ““Waka
Maori,” after its dole had been struck from the estimates,
was ‘‘ highly reprehensible.” Mr. Whitaker thought that
while an action was pending the subject ought not to be
discussed in Parliament, and an interrupted debate was not
resumed until the end of September. Meanwhile the law
officers advised that a ‘‘ plea of justification could be main-
tained” against the prosecutor. Mr. H. R. Russell, how-
ever, gained a verdiet for £500. Mr. Larnach, member for
Dunedin city, gave notice that he would move : ‘“ That this
House disapproves of the action of the government in con-
tinuing to publish the ‘“ Waka Maori’" newspaper at the
public expense in defiance of the vote of this House, and in
allowing its columns to be used for the publication of
libellous matter.”” The government accepted the challenge.
Mr. Whitaker denied that the government had disobeyed

—
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the wish of the House. The ‘ Waka Maori” had ceased to
exist when condemned, but many chiefs had petitioned for
it, and it was decided to carry it on,—‘‘a number of gentile-
men guaranteeing to subscribe towards the cost.” Dr.
Pollen, who succeeded McLean as Native Minister, had
supervised the publication, which was continued until July,
1877, when Parliament assembled. Stafford and Fox still
clung to the remnants of the ministry which the latter had
constructed to do Vogel’s pleasure, and to which the former
gave his adhesion when Vogel determined to abandon his
provincial pledges and support abolition. Mr. Rolleston
marked his sense of the occasion by alleging wider issues
than the existence of a newspaper:—

““We find Sir J. Vogel with a considerable number of the present
ministers buying support to what I consider to be a most wicked and
foolish change in the constitution of the colony by giving three distinct
pledges. The first was that the counties should have substantial endow-
ments and higher powers of local self-government. The second was that
the compact of 1856 should be carried out in its entirety, or that there
should be what is now termed localization of the land revenue. .
Well, we have now in power the same ministry, or at any rate a ministry
which is genera.lliv1 looked upon as representing the abolition policy, and
these gentlemen have entirely falsified those gledges and promises. The
subsidies have been taken in support of charitable institutions. The
localization of the land fund is being gradually refined away by the Colonial
Treasurer, and a gross fraud has been perpetrated upon the province of
Canterbury in taking, upon no principle of justice, a portion of the fund
it has in hand.”

Mr. Stafford, in defending himself, explained the secret
of his sudden conjunction with Vogel in destroying the
provinces. Studholme was entrusted by Stafford with the
task of ‘‘ sounding” Vogel and the government supporters.
Stafford undertook to sound the opposition. Thus was the
abolition scheme secretly ascertained to be safe, and thus
were Vogel’s arts transferred from one camp to another by
the counting of heads. Denying that he had licked the
hand that smote him, Mr. Stafford claimed to have made
marionettes of the actors who strutted on the ministerial
stage. Of the secret negotiation by which he was, ‘“if he
wished,” to become Agent-General if Vogel could secure a
commission on conversion of New Zealand stock, Mr.
Stafford said nothing.!

! Vide supra, p. 111.
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It will be remembered that a needless insult to Donald
McLean shook Stafford in his place in 1869. He now
adverted to it as ‘‘ an unfortunate difference,” which made
Mr. Ormond adhere to McLean. Mzr. Stout criticized the
“ humbling confession” in which Mr. Stafford acted so
ignominious a part. Mr. Murray reminded Stafford that
he had “ played into the hands of a government which he
formerly denounced as corrupt.” Mr. Ballance inveighed
against the manner in'which ministries maintained their
position. *“When honourable members are taken over from
the opposition—its distinguished members, its debaters—
by such a course you destroy all reasonable hope of any
constitutional opposition being formed. . . . Thisis at
the root of all the demoralization and obstruction that have
taken place in this House.” On the 1st of October Mr.
Larnach’s proposition was rejected by 42 votes against 38.

It was on the 2nd October that Mr. H. R. Russell declared
that Ormond’s statement about Sir G. Grey’s conduct in the
Lake Taupo affairs was ‘‘ absolutely and entirely false.”
On the same day Sir G. Grey moved that the reporter’s
proofs of the debate on the Hawke’s Bay land purchases be
laid on the table. Major Atkinson saw danger to ‘‘the
character and privileges of every member” in Sir G.
Grey’s proposition. Fox agreed with Atkinson. On the
production of Ormond’s alterations (of his reported speech)
Mr. Larnach moved a direct vote of want of confidence.
.There were rumours thrat the opposition hoped to per-
suade Sir W. Fitzherbert to quit the Speaker’s chair and
form a ministry. Mr. Larnach in a few words charged
the government with mal-administration, and by 42 votes
against 88 the ministry at last received its deathblow.
Like those animals of low type of which the different
organs can perform functions when an animating principle
no longer pervades the whole, it had occupied the post
of power under many mutilated forms, but had at last
exhausted its resources. Mr. Larnach did not obtain the
co-operation of the Speaker. It was rumoured that Sir W.
Fitzherbert could find no precedent for the step he was
asked to take, and considered it unbecoming, unless in
response to an unanimous or almost unanimous desire of
members.
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Sir G. Grey was appealed -to, and (13th Oct.) he, Mr.
Larnach, Mr. Macandrew, and Mr. Sheehan, became
members of the Executive Council. On the 15th, Mr. T. W.
Fisher joined the new band. Sir G. Grey was the leader,
Mr. Larnach was Treasurer, Mr. Sheehan was Native
Minister. Colonel Whitmore on the 18th became Colonial
Secretary, and explained the ministerial policy in the
Council. The ministry accepted the abolition of the

- provincial system as an accomplished fact, and hoped *to
localize a certain portion of the land fund.” In the
Council, where men did not toil to make or to mar
ministries, Colonel Whitmore’s statements were received
without dissent, and public business was proceeded with.
It was otherwise in the Representative House. The tentacles
which had been riven from place were sore, and the creatures
to which they belonged were waving their invertebrate
members in search of the places of old attachment. Five
days after Col. Whitmore joined the ministry Major Atkin-
son said that he would move that the ‘ House has no con-
fidence in the government.” Sir G. Grey asked the repre-
sentatives to allow ‘‘one clear day”’ to the government, go
that they might make themselves ¢ masters of the subjects”
to be discussed, and on the 26th October, Major Atkinson
conducted the assault. He denounced Sir G. Grey’s
aecession to power as a surprise. ‘It is perfectly certain
and beyond dispute, that more gentlemen voted against the
late government than the actual majority which displaced
them, who would not so have voted if they had believed
that the honourable gentleman would succeed to power.”
Sir G. Grey, after declaiming upon the abstract advantages
which would accrue to the colony, if not to the human
race, by giving him an opportunity of applying his
principles, and after declaring, with an eye to the votes of
Middle Island members, that he would have scorned to
plunder the revenues of Canterbury and Otago as the
Atkinson ministry had plundered them, said : ‘‘ Honourable
members may try to ostracizeme . . . . but every effort
they make in that direction . . . . will only endear me
more to the people of this colony, and will ensure my
speedy return to office if I am now driven from it.”

Vol. ITT. K
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There was a singular solution of eontinuityin the House.
Mr. Reynolds, who' stepped in to the rescue of the new
government, had voted to retain the Atkinson ministry in
office. Mr. Gisborne, who had voted with the majority
which expelled Atkinson, supported Atkinson’s proposition
to expel Grey. Mr. Curtis said that with about ten other
members who had also voted against Atkinson he had
agreed to support Atkinson’s motion. The ‘‘ middle party™
to which they belonged having swung too far in one
direction, was resolved to show a balancing power by
swinging equally far in another. Mr. Fox attacked Sir G.
Grey. A baser policy than his “ was never heard of, and
it must result in inevitable ruin though it may lead to the
temporary elevation of a demagogue.” Mr. Ballance
pointed out that if there was one member who should
sympathize with Sir G. Grey in advocacy of provincialism,
Mr. Fox was the man. How long had Fox advocated
abolition ? He had been the staunchest of provin-
cialists. ‘“In 1874 he was a provincialist; in 1874
Sir J. Vogel converted him in a single night, and
now he stands forward as an ardent centralist.” Taiaroa
grim{{ told the House that the site of the capital con-
sorted with the wavering opinions of members. It is
a very good thing that the meetings of this Parliament are
held in Wellington, because it is a windy place, and we
hear the wind blowing about here every day. I liken the
wind to the speeches of members. The winds blow from
all quarters. 8o it is with the votes of honourable gentle-
men; they are given this way to-day, and that to-morrow
—and another way the next day.” Let the government
have trial for a year. Day after day the debate was
a.djoumed. On the 1st Nov., Mr. Stout interrupted it by
raising a question of privilege. The ministry had asked
the Governor to call Mr. J. N. Wilson to the Upper House.
The Marquis of Normanby declined to make the appoint-
ment ‘‘pending the decision of the Assembly’’ as to the
‘support of the ministry by ‘a majority of the House.”
Mr. Stout averred that the privileges of the House were
involved. The maneuvre was successful. A select com-
mittee, of which the Speaker was chairman, reported that
notice by the Crown of a matter in agitation in Parliament
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was an’ infringement of constitutional privilege, and Mr.
Travers, in moving the adoption of the report, wished that
an address to the Governor should state that the infringe-
ment was inadvertent. The resolution was adopted by 88
votes against 19. Fox, Atkinson, Ormond, and Whitaker
were in the minority. The Governor without delay re--
sponded that as soon as he might receive the advice of his
ministers he would forward his reply to the address.
Meanwhile the debate on Atkinson’s motion was resumed.
On the 6th Nov., the member who had moved the adjourn-
ment did not respond to the Speaker’s call, the question
was put, and voices were given. A member rose to speak,
but the Speaker interposed on the ground that as the
ayes and the noes had been called for, the debate was
at an end. Three ex-ministers, Atkinson, Reid and
McLean, strove to arrest the putting of the question,
but the Speaker was not brow-beaten, and 89 voters
eyed theit opponents from each side of the House. To
give ““a further opportunity for the House to know its
mind,” the Speaker gave his casting vote with the Noes.
Atkinson attempted to move that ¢ as the government has
not a majority it should immediately resign.”. There was
much debate on points of order, and eventually the word
‘‘that” remained on the paper. '

- Escaped from the snare of the fowler, the gasping
government, eagerly watched, proceeded with business.
The fact that in the struggle temporarily postponed, several
members who had voted (8th Oct.) to expel Atkinson had
within one month abandoned Grey, lent a dramatic interest
to the scene, which was heightened by other members,
who, having striven to arrest Atkinson’s fall, now deserted
his standard for that of Grey. Atkinson canvassed so
eagerly that Mr. Sheehan said in the House that if it had
not been openly announced that Atkinson was leader, he
would have ‘looked upon him as the principal opposition
whip,” On the 8th November, Atkinson moved the post-
ponement of the orders of the day with the view of
proceeding with the remnant of the * want of confidence
motion.” Mr. O’Rorke (chairman of committees) versed
in Parliamentary lore, promptly pointed out that, by the
standing orders, on the resumption of the chair by the

X2
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fore ministers were solely responsible.” The ministry, in
reply, a,dmltted responsibility for ‘‘acts done on their
advice.”” OQOut of respect for him they *‘refrained from
offering further advice” when their advice had been ¢ twice
rejected.” They respectfully pointed out that the present-
ation of the memorandum, made by their advice, was not
styled by the House a breach of privilege. They suggested
a message in the following words: ‘“The Governor has
received the resolution of the House of Representatives, by
which -he is informed that he has ma,dvertently commltted
4 breach of the. privileges of that House. ' The House is
oonstitutionally guardian of its own privilegés. The
Governor having now called Mr. Wilson to the Legislative
Council in accordance with his promise to his adyisers, does
not think it will answer any useful purpose to discuss the

uestion any further, but he will transmlt the papers to the
%ecreta.ry of State for the colonies.”

The Marquis did not choose to condemn hlmself in the
language of others. He did not accept the limitation of
responsibility claimed for themselves by the ministry,
““because if the act of the Governor is such that the govern-
ment cannot accept or defend it, it is their duty to resign,
in order that the Governor may be a,ble, if he can, to form
a government who would support his views, in which case
he would have, of course, to justify his conduct to the
Secretary of State, to whom alone he is responsible.” In
Mr. Wilson’s case the Marquis concurred in thinking that
the ministry were not called upon to resign, but they
accepted and were responsible for the Governor’s act, and
the question should then have been.at rest unless they
pressed further advice upoh him. But the constitutional
principle which he contended for—that ministers, so long
as they retain office, are alone responsible to Parliament
for the acts of the Governor—was of such vital importance
to the colony and to the position of a Governor that he
would be recreant to his duty if he ““did not try to the
utmost of his power to have the matter finally and definitely
settled.” He was ready to assume that the ministry did
not see that his memorandum could be construed as a
breach of privilege when they asked for its production. He
would be sorry to impute to them ‘‘any intention of
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On the 14th Nov. Sir G. Grey formulated a demand for
a -dissolution, but the Governor thought there was no
evidence in favour of Sir G. Grey’s opinion that an appeal
to the electors would secure a large working majority for
the ministry. As far as the Governor was aware no supply
had been granted, and though such a condition involved
no difficulty in England, because Parliament there ‘‘ uni-
formly voted the supplies necessary for an appeal to the
country,” .in the colonies the case was otherwise. He
reminded Sir G. Grey that in October he had said that if a
dissolution were accorded to him he would dissolve with or
without supply. The Marquis could not grant a dissolution.,
If, however, Sir G. Grey could satisfy him that three
months’ supply had been granted, he would be ““ happy to
reconsider his determination.” Sir G. Grey admitted that
he might have said that if *duty demanded it, he would
dissolve without supply,” but urged that throughout his
conversation he *‘ unfalteringly maintained that it was in
his belief impossible that such a case as the Governor put
could arise” in New Zealand. The Governor regretted
““that there should be the slightest discrepancy between
the impression left” on his mind and on that of Sir G.
Grey, and was, ‘“of course, quite ready to admit that he
must have misunderstood what Sir G. Grey said. Not-
withstanding this, he must still adhere to the decision he
has expressed as regards a dissolution.”

Loose language is often used about the prerogative which
summons and dissolves Parliaments, and the ministry
thought the Governor mistaken in deeming the power of
dissolution ‘“‘a prerogative of the Crown” in New Zealand.
It was derived from the Constitution Act. Ministers claimed
for themselves and for the people the same constitutional
rights which existed in England, and maintained their
right to a dissolution, unfettered by any condition with
regard to supply. In a separate memorandum, Sir G.
Grey argued that the Governor’s expressed ‘‘desire to
secure a government, no matter how constituted,” com-
manding the confidence of a majority in the House, would
be destructive of the principle of party government de-
liberately adopted by the people. The Marquis briefly
replied that the Constitution Act, without mention of an’
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Executive Council, empowered the Governor to dissolve,
and that his commission from the Queen delegated to him
the Royal powers of summoning, proroguing, and dissolving
the legislative body. He could not admit that ministers
had the unqualified rights they claimed. They (21st Nov.)
“felt it their duty to point out the mistakes into which
they cannot but think the Governor has fallen.” They
discussed the abstract ideas of a Privy Council, a. Cabinet,
and an Executive Council. The Governor respectfully but
distinctly declined for the future ‘“to enter into any con-
troversy or discussion of a general or abstract character
regarding his constitutional position, his responsibilities, or
his duties.” On all occasions he would give most attentive
and favourable consideration to any particular matter on
which he might receive advice. Ministers, of course, had
an undoubted right to complain of any act they might
think ¢‘illegal, unconstitutional, or wrong,” and he would
at all times forward such complaints to England with any
necessary explanation. The ministry (who had just been
permitted to go into Committee on Supply) answered (28rd
Nov.) that they had regarded the questions raised as
practical, not abstract, points, the maintenance of which
was essential to the welfare of the colony.

By one of those involutions which entangle men’s
reasoning faculties when self-interests are at stake, the
ministers thought, or affected to think, that the prerogative
of the Crown in dismissing representatives of the people
was really one of the rights of the representatives. The
Governor was hardly called upon to controvert such allega-
tions. Meanwhile Mr. Sheehan (15th Nov.) had made a
statement on native affairs which was well received. The
Treasurer’s financial statement (20th Nov.) was also
applauded. The ministry waxed bolder. They pressed the
Governor (26th Nov.) to waive his objections to a dissolu-
tion. Delay added greatly to their difficulties. He cour-
teously but firmly held his ground. He was at all times
willing to consider the subject under any new light thrown
upon it, but could not, under existing circumstances, alter
his decision. An unreserving promise to dissolve would
put un(;ue pressure upon: Parliament, which he felt bound
to avoid. :
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The ministry threaded their way through the parlia-
mentary labyrinth, adroitly shunning the blow which
Atkinson longed to deliver. Their Financial Arrangements
Bill was so commended by Sir G. Grey’s eloquence (8rd
Dec.) as to command 41 votes against 18. Twenty mem-
bers paired. Atkinson voted for the bill, while three of his
recent colleagues, McLean, Bowen, and Reid, opposed it.
The majority of the House had plainly determined to
support the policy of the new men during the current
gession. On the 6th Dec. the ministry again pressed the
Governor for power to dissolve. On the same day he
declined to accord it. Frequent dissolutions, tending, in
the words of the great Sir Robert Peel, to blunt the edge of
‘‘g great instrument in the hands of the Crown,” were to
be avoided. The Marquis did not wish to deny that in
matters not affecting Imperial interests ministers had
similar rights to those of English ministers, but did ‘“‘not
believe that under similar circumstances a minister in
England would ask for a dissolution.”®

It is proper to notice the result of the discussions be-
tween the Marquis and his advisers. As to the calling of
Mr. Wilson to the Legislative Council, Lord Carnarvon
commended the Governor’s conduct. As to the dissolution
of the Assembly, Sir Michael Hicks Beach, who (4th Feb.,
1878) succeeded Lord Carnarvon, supported the Marquis.
A Governor “ought to pay the greatest attention” to the
representations of his advisers, ‘‘ but if he should feel
bound to take the responsibility of not following his minis-
ters’ recommendations, there can, I apprehend, be no doubt.
that both law and practice empower him to do so.” Sir G.
Grey’s views ‘seemed ‘‘ unduly to limit the prerogative of
the Crown.” There was a further important point on
which it would have been difficult for even the weakest
functionary to fail to support the Governor. When the
session was about to end, leaving Sir G. Grey in power
(10th Dec.), he advised that a Land Bill, then ready for
the Royal Assent, should not be assented to. Introduced

- * The Marquis of Nommnﬁj’s eonduct is'dwelt upon at some length,
because it furnishes proof that the allegation that Governors in colonies
have not such duties to perform as demand political sagacity, is a shallow
one. v '
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by the Atkinson government in August, it was in committee
when the government fell. On the 15th Oct. Sir G. Grey
included it in a list of bills which his ministry would take
up. In committee there were divisions in which Whitaker
and Taiaroa were found voting with Atkinson and Reynolds,
against Larnach and Stout. There was a division (19th
Nov.) in which Atkinson, with the aid of Stafford, Whitaker,
Rolleston, and others, foiled by one vote a proposutlon
made by Stout and supported by Sir G. Grey. Col.
Whltmore, the Colonial Secretary, took charge of the bill
in the Council, and it was passed with amendments with
some of which the Representatives declined to concur.
Reasons were prepared by Messrs. Stout, Ballance, and
Reid for insisting on certain provisions. Stout and Bal-
lance were supporters of Sir G. Grey. The House adopted
the reasons. The Council waived some amendments, but
eventually asked for a free conference, which was held. A
report from the conference was adopted by both Houses,
and the bill thus hammered on the anvil awaited only (in
the words of Lord Hale) the Royal Assent to give it “‘ the
complement and perfection of a law.” Conceived by the
Atkinson ministry, duly produced in the House, adopted by
Sir G. Grey and his colleagues, the subject of conference
between the two Houses—the bill might be looked on as the
genuine offspring of the New Zealand Assembly. Yet Sir
G. Grey strove to strangle it. There was an Executive
Council meeting at half-past twelve o’clock on the day
fixed for prorogation at half-past two. Many members of
the Legislature had gone to their homes. At that meeting
Sir G. Grey advised the Governor to refuse to assent to the
bill. The Governor declined to withhold his assent. The
Clerk of the Parliaments, after the Executive Counecil
meeting was concluded, carried several bills to the Governor,
who observed that, with regard to the Land Bill, Sir G.
Grey had not attached his name to the customary formal
recommendation for assent. The Marquis determined
neither to veto the bill nor to assent to it in an unusual
manner. The hour of prorogation drew near. The Speaker
arrived with the Appropriation Bill. That lever of the
House of Commons against the Crown became an instru-
ment in the hands of the Crown to foil the strange device
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of a colonial minister bent upon frustrating the action of
the two Houses and foiling the Governor. The Marquis
requested the Speaker to retain the Appropriation Bill,
while Mr. Macandrew, a minister, took a memorandum
from the Marquis to Sir G. Grey. After some delay Mr.
Macandrew obtained from Sir G. Grey the usual recom-
mendation, and the bill was signed by the Governor. Sir
M. Hicks Beach laconically said: “I approve the action
taken by you in declining under the' circumstances which -
you record to refuse your assent to the Land Act of the
last session of the New Zealand Parliament.”

When the approval of the Secretary of State reached him
the Governor communicated it to his ministers. Sir G.
Grey railed at the Secretary of State as an ‘exterior
authority”” unknown to New Zealand law. He declared,
in terms which the difference between the Lord Stanley of
1843 and the Duke of Newcastle of 1860 ought to have
made it impossible for him to use, that it had ‘“long been
universally admitted that in the Colonial Department the
real power vests in the permanent Under-Secretary.’”
With much subtlety he spun webs of words. He declared
that the Governor was making his ministers not advisers
but servants, when he submitted constitutional questions
to the Secretary of State without their advice, and then
commanded the correspondence to be published. He would
not consent that his conduct in relation to the Assembly or
to the Governor should be submitted to the Secretary of
State, whose decision upon it he would not ‘‘recognize or
accept.” He would not discuss New Zealand questions
“with any officer who is outside the Constitution, or who
has no responsibility in the matter, or who has no lawful
right to interfere with it.”

So far as subsequent misdoing could _]ustlfy former ill-
usage, Sir G. Grey laboured to indemnify the Duke of
Newcastle and Earls Carnarvon and Granville for the
past. He had complained that they would not do their
duty. He now contended that a Secretary of State had no
duty to do. The Marquis declined to discuss the ¢ position
or authority” of a Secretary of State. ~Such an argument
was ““ too serious to the future interests of the colony to be
dealt with in a correspondence of this kind.”” He remarked
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that Sir G. Grey had in 1876 invoked the authority of the
Secretary of State ‘with regard to the abolition of the
provirices. He was ready to admit that correspondence
which in any way might commit mmlsters ““ghould be done
by their advice and at their instigation.” But the Governor
had asked the Secretary of State for a decision on his own
action. A Governor had “certain rights and duties to per-
form.” He ‘“was as much a part of the Constitution as
either branch of the Legislature.” ¢ While he had no wish
to trench in the slightest degree upon the rights and privi-
leges of the other branches of the Constitution, he is bound
to preserve intact those which have been entrusted to his
care by his Sovereign. Should the Governor exceed his
powers or commit any action to which exception can justly
be taken an appeal is at all times open to the Secretary of
State; but the Governor cannot admit his responsibility to
any other authority.” Sir G. Grey retorted that the Sec-
retary of State ‘“was the constitutional adviser, not the
mouthpiece of the Sovereign,” but did not show how the
Crown prerogatives could be exercised without a channel of
communication. The Governor declined to make any
remarks upon Sir G. Grey’s paper, on the ground that “no
public a.dvanta.ge could be derived by a prolongation of the
correspondence.” The despatches were published in the
“New Zealand Gazette’’ in June, 1878.

" The financial proposals of the government secured its
position, to the disgust of those supporters of abolition who
had hoped that local revenues would be locally appropriated
after ““local habitation and name” had become an ‘airy
nothing”’ under the treatment.of Atkinson and Vogel. They
had been warned in vain. They were now punished. The
Grey government had no difficulty in showing that the
provineial land funds had been o encroached upon by their
predecessors that *“ the idea that a large proportlon was
available for localization was a delusion.” The govern-
ment would by law appropriate locally 20 per cent. of the
land revenue in each provincial district, and would ask
parliament to pass '‘a land law ﬁxmg uniform prices
throughout the colony. - They would ask for a new loan of
£4,000,000 rather than increase taxation; but would con-
sider that subject in the recess. They found & deficiency of
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more than £700,000 on the 80th June, and would endea-.
vour ‘“to secure a state of equilibrium.” Such was Mr.
Larnach’s statement (19th Nov.). Major Atkinson disputed
it. The short sight of those representatives from Otago.
and Canterbury, who had thought to procure abolition of
provinces without loss of provincial funds, was apparent.
The two provinces which, by partial adherence to Gibbon
Wakefield’s principles, had accumulated wealth, were about
to be plundered by their professing friends. The first
serious defection from the opposition was on the 22nd
Nov. Mr. Gisborne, thinking the Grey. ministry ‘“ a stand-
ing menace to the unity of the colony,” had been hostile
to it. The financial propositions justified him in opposing
it no longer. Mr. Ormond had made charges against Sir
G. Grey which the House compelled him to withdraw; yet
even he, pleased with the prospect of plundering the Middle
Island, announced that he would support the government
in ““ generalization of the land fund, and, when that was
carried,” strive to eject them. The Financial Arrange-
ments Bill which dissolved the opposition was read 4
second time (8rd Dec.), Sir G. Grey, in the absence of the
Treasurer, commending it to the House. It was broadly
stated in a newspaper that as Canterbury had divided land
revenues amounting to more than three-quarters of a
million sterling amongst its local bodies in a part of the
year ‘it was high time to make a:change, but of course
Canterbury does not like it.”” Atkinson, the promoter of
abolition, though he spoke against the ministry, voted for
the bill. Grey, the opponent of abolition, thus consum-
mated it when in office. The men of Canterbury, who had
been potent in procuring abolition, in vain deplored its
consequences. By 41 votes to 18 the second reading was
carried. It made the land fund throughout New Zealand
a part of the consolidated fund. It enacted that out of the
latter there should be paid to each county a sum equal to
20 per cent. of the land revenue accruing in such county.
Mr. Fox was absent when the death-blow of his * compact
of 1856’ was thus dealt. When the bill went to the Legis-
lative Council, Mr. Hall, who had been Fox’s colleague in
1856, was unable to restrain his feelings. The measure
constituted- (he said) “‘a breach of the compact solemnly
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enteéred into between one portion of the colony and another’’
in 1856. In Canterbury, by selling 2,381,000 .acres on
Gibbon Wakefield’s principles, £8,671,000 had been ob-
tained. - In Otago, in similar manner, for about 2,000,000
of acres, £1,807,000; while, by neglect of those principles,
Auckland, for 2,144,000 acres, had obtained only £274,000.
Was it fair to rob the south of the profit of its prudent
management? Mr. Hall might as well have .questioned
with the wolf. The Council passed the bill. A Crown
Land Sales Bill regulated the price of land throughout
New Zealand. Lands taken under free selection were in
no case to be obtained at a less price than £2 an acre. The
upset price at auction was not to be less than £1 an acre.
The bill which Sir G. Grey wished the Governor to disallow
swept away fifty-six provincial-and general Acts. It
classified all lands as town, suburban, or rural. The first
were to be sold by auction at not less than £30; the second
in like manner at not less than £8 an acre. - Rural lands
were not to be sold in larger quantities than 820 acres, nor
in less than 20. Land would be taken on deferred pay-
ments in proclaimed areas. The New Zealand government
thus avoided the profligacy by which in portions of Aus-
tralia the selection of land was converted into an engine for
robbing the public treasury, and for levying blackmail
upon pastoral tenants of the Crown. The New' Zealand
legislature avoided another evil created by the land laws of
New South Wales (1861) and Victoria (1862), where, if
more applicants than one selected the same site, the land
agent was to determine by lot the fate of the site. .If there
were more applications than one for the same allofment on
the same day in New Zealand, the land was-to be put up to
auction, at which the bidding was limited to the applicants.
Corruption or favouritism could thus be excluded, while the
public might derive benefit from an increased price. The old
provincial arrangements were not altogether - abandoned.
The ten new land districts were bound to -certain con-
ditions embodied in the Act. Sir G. Grey and his
ardent admirers contended that undue advantages were
conferred on pastoral lessees of Crown lands; but the
rent of runs was to be determined by the Land Board:of
the district within a range fixed in the Act—the board,
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and not the lessee, determmmg the ca.rrymg capacity of
the run.

A Government Native Land Purchases Act deserves
mention. In August Major Atkinson withdrew his Native
Land Court Bill, intimating that a bill would be intro-
duced to stop all private dealings with native lands ‘“until
after the close of the next session of Parliament.”” He
brought in the bill (6th Sept.), but it did not reach a
second reading. Its author expressed his regret when,
after his ministry fell,’ the bill was by the order of the
House discharged from the paper (28th Nov.) on the motion
of the new native minister, Mr. Sheehan, who declared that
“ ginking all party feeling, forgetting all past differences, it
would be unfair to deny that to Sir D. McLean we are
largely indebted for the fact that from 1869 up to the
present time we have been at peace with the native people.
. + « Ihold that on entering upon the immigration and
public works policy it would have been an act of su1c1de to
have provoked or sought for a native disturbance.” There
were few natives not loyal to the Queen Less than 8000
Maori men were ‘“in the king country,” and though Maori
women could fight, the fact that ¢ we have 25,000 or 80,000
loyal natives on our side showed that the chances of a
native outbreak are simply nil.” He deemed the
£8,200,000 already spent. by the colony in putting down
native disturbances as ‘‘simply thrown away.” He ap-
proved the policy of teaching the English language to the
Maoris, which McLean had encouraged; and proposed to
increase the sum, £11,000, placed on the estimates of the
year. He did not approve the manner in which land pur-
chases from Maoris had been effected by the government.
The official return of land negotiated for'(after 1870), was
—freehold, 4,618,000 acres; leasehold, 1,540,000—but
‘“of the freehold transactions only 1,967,000 acres have
been completed” . . . and “at least in regard to one-
third of (them) it will bé found that the titles are invalid,
and it will require more money to be paid away and other
acts to be done in order to make those titles good.” He
proposed. that native chiéfs should ascertain the native
titles, and that the Eufopea,n judges should be ‘‘ simply for-
legal purposes only.” 'He regretted the abandonment of
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the pre-emptive right of the Crown in 1862, but the step.
could not be retraced. He wished to raise the number of
Maori members in the House from four to seven, hoping
that after some years, ‘“ by the operation of a suitable land
law and by the conversion of native titles to a freehold
tenure under Crown grant, we could call upon them to give
up all special representation of the race and to vote as
Europeans do.”” With regard to the dual vote which
Maoris would exercise, he stated that it was almost inope-
rative—such votes being ‘‘not more than 5 per cent. of the
whole,” although the proportion of Maoris to Europeans
was very much larger. He took credit for the influence
of Sir G. Grey, which had elicited friendly missives
from Tawhiao. His statement was favourably received.
He introduced a bill “to amend the Native Land Act
1878,” which passed through both Houses without dis-
cussion. One of its provisions may have been necessary,
but it was capable of being rendered oppressive. The Act
so easily passed enabled the Land Court to award costs,
provided for their recovery, and gave the court-power. ta
order a deposit as security for costs, .and to refuse to
proceed with a case, or ‘““hear any person who does not
comply with such order.” The Native Minister was
empowered ‘‘at any time” to obtain from the court a
determination of the ¢‘‘interest in any block of land
acquired by or on behalf of Her Majesty,” and all
la.nds declared by an order of the court to have been
acquired were, from the date of the order, to be * absolutely
vested in her said Majesty.” Whether the Maoris in the
Legislature could have qualified the measure by guarding
the rights of their countrymen unwilling to submit joint
tribal rights to the court it is impossible to say. Perhaps
they trusted that Sir G. Grey and Mr. Sheehan would not
abuse or strain the law. The chief, Rangihiwinui, and
others, petitioned for postponement of the bill in vain.

In the course of the session the sum of £5000. in final
gettlement of native claims on account of the Dunedin
Prince’s Street reserve was voted as already described. 8.

It is necessary to. watch occurrences in the New Zealand
Pa.rha.ment as regards the condition of the Maoris. It is

¢ See Vol. IL, p. 409.
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also desirable to scan the increase of the colonial debt.
The new South Sea scheme for which Mr. Vogel at last
obtained a favourable hearing differed from his earlier
proposals. He had once suggested means by which to
astonish the world and handle hundreds of millions of
pounds sterling. With the trifling difference of half per
cent. between the borrowing and lending rates the national
debt of England could be paid off by an agency under Mr.
Vogel. If half per cent. would do so much for England,
what might not twice that amount do for Vogel? Warned
by experience, the men in power declined to promote
a project suspiciously related to that of the scrivener
Blount. '

After floating into office, Mr. Vogel, in 1874, propounded
a scheme by which, if the provinces would yield 3 per cent.
of their land to be afforested, he would be able to release
them from their railway obligations. By an excise of 8 per
cent. upon provincial lands, the modern alchemist would
convert into untold wealth the possibilities of growth of
trees, although, under the colonial rule, the ancient forests
were being wasted at a rate which created alarm lest even
in that ocean-cradled land sterility should be brought about
by diminishing the moisture of the atmosphere. Schemes
"for enrichment abound at all times. It was but in the
18th century that Cagliostro received money to arrest the
foot of time. Schemers of every kind crave the handling of
other men’s wealth. The straightforward rogue advertises
now, as in 1720, that if ready money deposits be sent to his
office as earnest, and a few hundred pounds be remitted at
a future time, untold wealth will acerue to his dupes.
After a few days or weeks he decamps with the remittances
of those who had, at the most, less wit than cash. The
South Sea Bubble and the Pacific Islands’ schemes were
framed on a different model. Shareholders were not to be
robbed. In the handling of money the promoters would
perforce find that some adhered to their palms, if only as a
business percentage. There is, however, an indestructible
commodity on which rests the security of nations, and the
hope and the pride of their people. On land all usurers
will lend. The Public Works and Immigration Scheme,
based upon that principle, had poured many millions into

Vol. IIL L
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New Zealand, and waifs of the stream had attached them-
selves, or had been attached, to its propounder. There was
occasional demur ; but a glamour of assumed public good cast
a mist over the eyes of men in general, and they were grateful.
In 1876 the House had refused to vote the sum proposed for
8ir J. Vogel by the Atkinson government. In 1877, a few
members, more careful of New Zealand than of him, dis-
puted the propriety of awarding a sum far exceeding the
amount stipulated for when Vogel had undertaken his last
mission to England. There was a sharp debate, but the
money was voted. Though Vogel’s personal applications
might disappear from the Treasury the fruit of his labours
was to be more enduring. Abolition of provinces had in-
creased colonial burdens. Both Atkinson and Grey were
compelled to deal with the financial problem. The day had
not yet arrived when capital would be openly borrowed or
encroached upon to meet demands for interest; but the
policy of “ purchasing the support of the provinces” had
made many mouths gape. Only more loans could enable
the appetite to be gratified. In July, Major Atkinson had
announced that he would ask for a loan of £2,000,000.
There was an invested sinking fund which he proposed to
respect. The gross debt in December, 1876, had been
almost £19,000,000 sterling. Mr. Larnach in November
declared that there was a deficit in revenue of more than
£700,000, and proposed to ask for a loan ef £4,000,000, and
do away with a multiplicity of local loans by creating one
consolidated colonial debt. Major Atkinson impugned the
accuracy of Larnach’s calculations.

The Loan Bill was read a second time (5th Dec.) without
a division, but after discussion the loan was limited to
£2,500,000, of which £800,000 were to discharge provincial
claims; £800,000 to redeem guaranteed debentures; and
£1,400,000 to carry on public works and immigration.
No provision was made for a sinking fund, although the
maximum rate of interest was fixed at six per cent. The
Legislative Council accepted the bill. In committee on a
Consolidated Stock Bill the Speaker, Sir W. Fitzherbert,
departed from his usual custom, and seriously addressed
the House. As agent for the colony, in 1867, in negotiating
a large loan, he was entitled to speak with authority, and
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was heard with respect. In the loan negotiated by him,
one per cent. was devoted annually to the cancellation of
the stock. Earnestly he implored the House not to damage
future prospects by grasping at deceitful present gain. To
convert securities from other forms into one compact
responsibility was good; but in so doing, to absorb the pro-
vision (by way of sinking fund) already accumulated to
about a million and a-quarter sterling, was fraught with
danger, and would alarm the dealers in New Zealand
stock. ‘“ Heretofore we have evaded our stern duties; in an
uncourageous spirit we have shut our eyes to them.
If we do not act prudently our credit will fall.”” No one -
attempted to reply, and on the following day, without dis-
cussion, by 88 votes against 13 the principle of the bill was
sanctioned. In public and in private life there is no subject
on which men’s consciences are more elastic than on one
which holds out hope of immediate gain, although it may
lead to distant disaster; and there is such a weakness as
unconscious gambling. The Immigration and Public Works
Appropriation Bill of 1877, though dealing with millions of
money, caused no debate in the Lower House. In the
Council, the Speaker, Sir J. L. C. Richardson, on putting
the question of the second reading (8th Dec.) pointed out
that the privileges of the House had been infringed by
clauses which authorized certain acts to be done by the
corporation of the Thames county, and vested certain pro-
perty in that body. He assumed that the infringement
was unintentional, and suggested that a message should be
sent to the other House, to the effect that the Council
would waive their objection to the insertion of the clauses,
‘“in the full belief that it was not the intention of the
House of Representatives to annex clauses to one of their
bills of supply, the matter of which is foreign to and
different from the true matter of such Bill of . Aid or
Supply.” ' .
Colonel Whitmore, on behalf of the government, assured
the Council that there was no intention to infringe their
privileges. Mr. Hart and Mr. Mantell thought it would be
desirable to guard privilege against invasion; and Sir F. D,
Bell (a former speaker of the Lower House) thanked Sir J.
Richardson for his watchfulness and Colonel Whitmore for
L2
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the manner in which he had met it. Sir Dillon Bell raised
a warning voice against the extravagance with which, in
the Appropriation Bill and the bill under discussion, votes '
were ‘‘ crowded on to the supplementary estimates at the
last moment, in utter disregard of the certain fact that we
have not money to pay them.” Nothing would ‘“save the
country from insolvency unless the government of the day,
let them be who they will, sternly set down their foof
against this madness.” The New Zealand Legislature
seems to have shrunk from seriously considering the ques-
tion of payment of its members, originally sanctioned
merely to reimburse members for the difficult task of jour-
neying to the seat of government when means of convey-
ance were rarely to be procured. In 1877 Mr. Stevens
(from Christchurch) moved a reduction in the item, which
was called ‘“‘honorarium;” but he found little support.
The session ended on the 10th December. The members
were dispersed with irritated feelings. The men of Canter-
bury who had supported abolition felt the iron in their souls
when the prophesied seizure of their provincial land fund
became an unwelcome fact. The extension of the pastoral
leases in Canterbury roused the wrath of Sir G. Grey. His
reputation served to procure a friendly interview, in
January, with Tawhiao, and his bitterest foes acquiesced in
the belief that, as regarded the Maoris, his influence might
prove useful. At Wellington he addressed the electors, by
invitation, and harangued them on the policy which he
fondly said would make them happy, and give the world
assurance of beatitude unknown on earth before. Taxation
was to be imposed on all holdings exceeding 350 acres.
Universal suffrage and equal electoral districts were to con-
vert ignorance in the halls of legislation into supreme
wisdom. All would be well if the people would support Sir
G. Grey.

At an election of a member to supply the place of Mr.
Reader Wood at Parnell, an Auckland suburb, a supporter
of the government was elected without opposition, and the
high hopes of the Vogel party that in 1878 they would easily
drive Sir G. Grey from office began to wane. Nevertheless
Major Atkinson, Mr. Whitaker, Mr. Ormond, Mr. Bowen,
and Mr. McLean, recently expelled from office, addressed
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their constituents with success. The endeavour of Sir G.
Grey to strangle the Land Bill furnished a weapon which
"they were not slow to use. He, in the meantime, addressed
crowded audiences at Westland, Canterbury, and Otagd.
At Christchurch, Mr. Rolleston and others vainly endea-
voured to check the tide. The local magnates were howled
at, and Sir G. Grey was received with acclamation. After
a triumphal progress he returned to the North Island to
meet again the Maori King. The ministry received an ad-
dition to its ranks in the person of Mr. Stout, who became
Attorney-General. Two representatives from the Otago
district still held office with Sir G. Grey, although Mr.
Larnach, the Treasurer, resigned his position and went to
England, bearing powers to represent New Zealand in
negotiating the new loan. Mr. Ballance succeeded Mr.
Larnach as. Treasurer. Mr. Stafford had left the colony.
The star of Sir G. Grey seemed for the time in the ascendant,
and the failure of the prosecution of Jones for libel against
Whitaker seemed to show that outside as well as within the
walls of Parliament the Atkinson ministry was condemned.
- Long as the peace between Pakeha and Maori had
endured, there were fears that, at any moment, a rankling
sense of injustice, a superstitious confidence in a leader, and
carelessness about consequences, if not absolute love of
fighting, might bring about a Maori rising. A man named
Moffatt was tried in 1877 for unlawfully manufacturing
gunpowder, which it was said the Maoris were secretly
accumulating. The resident magistrate at Wanganui
reported (May, 1877) that at Mokau, Waikato, and’' Tuhua,
the man had long been traitorously supplying powder and
repairing firearms. Two chiefs took umbrage at Moffatt’s
conduct towards them, and executed a warrant for his
arrest. He was tried before Judge (C. W.) Richmond.
Evidence to support some serious charges was defective,
but a conviction, on the ground of manufacturing unlaw-
fully, was followed by the maximum penalty—imprison-
ment for two years—the judge telling the prisoner.that
hanging would not have been too severe a punishment for
his murderous crime of supplying a semi-barbarous and
merciless foe with means for rapine and destruction of
unvffending settlers.
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There was a cloud at Parihaka. The great block of land
declared to be, with reservations, confiscated by proclama-
tion at Taranaki in 1865 comprised all the coast line of the
Cape Egmont promontory from Waitotara on the south to
the White Cliffs on the north. Within it there were
patches held by Maoris under English tenure. The
government had pledged itself to make reserves for Maori
uses, but had not made them. Even awards made to the
natives by the Compensation Court in 1866 had not been
carried out. Content with his practical autocracy in
native affairs, Sir D. McLean, in 1872, permitted the
scattered natives to return, with the public sanction, to
their old homes. *‘I think it would be politically undesir-
able, and I fear practically impossible, to attempt to prevent
their occupying the country north of Waingongoro, the
confiscation of that country having been abandoned by the
government so long as they behave themselves and keep
the compact about not crossing Waingongoro.” These
words (written by one of his staff) were officially approved
by McLean in 1872; and the Waimate Plains were in-
cluded within the territory over which confiscation was
thus treated as abandoned. So completely did McLean
recognize the resumption of their land by the Maoris, that
he entered with them into formal deeds of cession and sale
by them of lands within the confiscated block.” The
Ngatiruanui tribe originally held the coast from near
Opunake to Waitotara. The fertile Waimate Plains were
part of their heritage. It has been seen that although the
joint tribal rights ought naturally, by accretion, to have
devolved upon the unoffending, if by treason or otherwise
any deminutio capitis had been incurred by any outlawed
persons, the colonial government had not adopted the wise
suggestion of Mr. Cardwell to take by cession, and not by
confiscation, lands required in order to punish Maoris who
had taken up arms against injustice and had been worsted
in the field. The proclamations of the colonial govern-
ment, nevertheless, invited the rebellious Maoris to come
in, and land was promised in those proclamations to those
who would do so. Even to Titokowaru, Sir D. McLean had

* In accordance with ‘‘arrangements” made by McLean, lauded by the
Governor, and sanctioned by the Secretary of State. ¥ide supra, p. 39.°
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declared that if he would be peaceful he would not be
molested, and he had settled at Okaiawa, near the scene of
his exploits at Te Ngutu-o-te-Manu. But he was not now
the accepted prophet of the people. Te Whiti was their
guide. Month by month—year by year—he convened
meetings and harangued his countrymen with an eloquence
of which they did not tire, though he sometimes spoke for
hours. Mr. Parris, the agent employed in 1859 to create
war at the Waitara, reported (1872) :—

““The general character of Te Whiti’s influence is altogether in favour
of peace, and I think that if he be prudently dealt with it will continue so,
as 1t corresponds with the essentially peaceful and amiable nature of this
singular man. . . . His total want of sgmpathy with, and indeed his
scorn for, our action of progress, and the absence of all desire for money,
or anything that we have to offer him, renders it difficult if not hopeless
to obtain any active aid from him in facilitating the work of coloniza-
tion.” i
He had acquired * predominating influence,” not only over
his people at Taranaki, but in far distant tribes. Thus
said Mr. Parris. .Te Whiti was described as being in 1879
about 50 years of age, as having clear intelligent eyes quickly
flashing, a well-chiselled nose, almost European features,
which in repose appeared Spanish, and a muscular frame
of fine. fibre, symmetrical like his hands. His voice was
powerful and clear, and as he stood

““erect and bareheaded, it could be heard all through the village, now
thrilling with passion, anon replete with scorn, and then plaintive in
entreaty. He revels in mystery, and for copiousness of language and
imagery, for gracefulness of action, modull)ation of voice, for self-
Eossession, and command of his audience, Te Whiti certainly ranks

igh as an orator. To the usual (Maori) metaphor, he adds all that can be
gleaned from Scripture. His memory in private conversation with
visitors shows that he is well informed on both ancient and private
history.”®

The colonists wondered whether he was mad or cunning;
whether under the cloak of prophecy he was secretly
organizing resistance, or was the dupe of the enthusiasm
which asserted that he was inspired. His figurative speech
fomented doubt. He spoke as if in him the Deity uttered
oracles,® but it was the custom of his countrymen to

8 me of eye-witnesses.

* “ When I speak of the land, the survey, the ploughmen, and such
sicall matters” (Te Whiti said), ¢ the pencils of the reporters fly with the
speed of the wind, but when I speak’of the words of the Spirit, they say
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impersonate thus; as a chief would often say, ‘I slew a
tribe,” when he meant that his ancestor had done the
deed arrogated to himself. Of his commanding influence
there was no doubt, but there was no sign that the
followers of Tawhiao encouraged him. Some persons
thought he hoped to test the validity of the confiscation
proclamations before the Privy Counecil ; or that by mingled
demonstrations of power among his own people and passive
martyrdom before the colonists the justice of the Queen
might at last be invoked. There were others who saw with
chagrin that his influence rebuked that drunkenness which
'was 8o profitable to dealers, and so potent in decimating
the Maori race. At Parihaka, between Mount Egmont and
the sea, his admirers assembled in such numbers that it
was said there had not been seen 80 much Maori cultivation
in one locality since Europeans had inhabited New Zealand.
Men from distant tribes were assembled under his protec-
tion. In May, 1877, a magistrate reported: ¢ The Maori
prophet, Te Whiti, still holds his periodical assemblies at
Parihaka, in the Taranaki country, and the natives con-
tinue to attend, and have not yet lost faith in his prognos-
tications.” But though he preached peace no man doubted
that at his command any follower would gladly take life at
rigk of his own.

"~ Te Rangitake maintained a peaceable demeanour, but
dwelt apart from Europeans, high upon the Waitara river. .
Scattered in various places on the confiscated territory
were many of the Taranaki, the Ngatiruanui and others
formerly hostile, who professed to rely on the assurances
of the government that they would not be molested. As

this is the dream of a madman ! They are so greedy for gain that nothing
seems to concern them except it be in some way connected with accumula-
tion of wealth. The dealer who gains wealth by short weights and vile
goods, and by the numerous modes of picking and stealing known to the
initiated—the men who steal the land of the %\daon, and acquire flocks of
sheep and herds of cattle—the men who would snatch the bread out of the
mouths of the widows and the fatherless, and become rich by so doing,
are all looked upon as respectable persons of pro rt whlle the humble
seeker after truth is passed by un ﬁnown and The time is at
hand when their goods will rot in their stores, thelr shlps will rot in their
harbours for lack of sailors, their merchants will wring their hands in

esﬁa.u- when they shall see their 1ll-gotteu ga.ms melt away like the mists

e morn at the rising of the sun.”
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far as various officers could ascertain, there was no likeli-
hood of troubles if those promises should be respected.
There were occasional dangers from native feuds. Even
among the friendly Arawa strife was at one time appre-
hended, but it was averted by the mediation of a com-
missioner with the aid of native assessors. Cultivation of
land and sobriety were reported to be on the increase in
several districts, but the decay of the race had not been
appreciably arrested. In Canterbury, the Rev. Mr. Stack
wrote (June, 1877) that the old order and reverence among
Maoris which had been displaced by the loss of influence of
chiefs and the voluntary abolition of slavery had been
succeeded by a coarseness which degraded the morals of
the people. They still craved education for their children.
Many of them had been impoverished by their efforts to
provide funds to enable Talaroa to appeal to the Privy
Council in the matter of the Maori reserve at Dunedin.
The returns laid before the Assembly showed that 1181
boys and 789 girls attended native schools; the average
attendance being respectively 791 and 565. The cost con-
tributed by the government was £15,392. Maoris had
given towards salaries £464, and for erection of buildings
£578 = £1087; total, £16,429. There were about 50
village schools. The superior schools for which Sir J.
Fergusson ‘had touchingly pleaded had not been altogether
forgotten ; 26 boys and 18 girls were stated to have received
education at provincial district schools; and there were
boarding establishments at which 99 boys and 126 girls
had been taught. A petition signed by nearly 1000 Maoris,
in 1877, might be styled a general grievance petition, with
thanksgiving for certain acts. They declared their loyalty
to the Queen. It was good that the tribes should meet
every year to lay their grievances before the Assembly.
‘“We say that the present Maori Representation Act should be repealed,
—i.e., the law whic onlg' allows a few representatives for the Maori
le in proportion to the European representation. We say that the
conduct of the native land purchases under the Act now in force is very
oonfuam and bad, and that purchases under these regulations should be
Ee Land should not be sold while the original title exists. If the
tribe, the ha u, and the chiefs consent to survey and to have the title
mvestxgated the court, then only will it be right that such survey and

investigation should take place. If all consent to sell the land, then onl
will it be right to sell. "hen the consent to sell has not been abtained,
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PETITION OF NEARLY 1000 MAORIS. V3§
such evils; and the meeting says vhat Mr. Sutton’s words in Parliament
should not be listened to, and that members from all other places should
try to discover the reason why such a man as Mr. Sutton is allowed to fill
Sir D. McLean’s seat. The meeting approves of the action of the ;l)eople
of Ngatahira—that is their keepin hoﬂ) of it, lest Mr. Sutton should get
it ; and the meeting asks that neither the Parliament nor the Government
should support Mr. Sutton in doing this great wrong to the Maoris under
cover of the sacred name of the law (i raro o te ingoa tapu o te Ture).
.« All the chiefs of the tribes are utterly to overthrow the drinking
of Eirituous liguors (waipiro—lit. stinking water), and the Parliament
should pass an Act inflicting penalties on persons taking waipiro to Maori
settlements.. This meeting desires that Parliament will not put any
obstacle in the way of the Maoris in reference to lands wrongly taken
from them. It is better that the courts of law should decide such cases.
These thoughts of all the Maoris are committed to the consideration of the
Parliament of the colony. ?

" The Chairman of the Committee on Native Affairs
reported (7th Aug., 1877), that the petition deserved careful
consideration, but the committee were not prepared to—

‘“make specific recommendations in relation to the numerous political
opinions expressed by the petitioners—that inasmuch as the petitioners
threw great light upon the opinion of the natives as to the shape which
should bé given to legislation upon native lands, the committee would
recommend that the petitions be printed. . . . The committee desire
to express its disapproval of the insertion therein of that portion of it
which reflects lﬁon the character of a member of this House, and hope
that, in future, Maoris petitioning the Legislature will refrain from making
such reflections.” ;

Such was the aspect of native affairs when at the end of
the long reign of the Fox, Vogel, and Ormond party, sup-
plemented by Atkinson and Whitaker, the reins fell into
the hands of Sir G. Grey. It was believed that only the
tact of Donald McLean had averted dangers which men
deemed possible, if not probable. The unruly Maori had
his counterpart in the low European. No traveller' could go
into public places without finding that there was a section
of colonists (happily in a minority) thirsting for another
war in order that the weakened condition of the Maoris
might lead to their extinction. But though in a minority,
that section was not powerless. It could by crooked methods
thwart a ministry which would not pander to it. There was
another section composed of speculators, who, without any

" The reader may find an instance in a work written by Mr. Kennedy,
a member of a Scotch family, which travelled from colony to colony
in d?.ustml&sia, singing the songs of ‘“Auld Lang Syne” to gratified
audiences.
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wish for war, looked upon questions of war, of right and
wrong, and of the treaty of Waitangi, as trifles in ecom-
parison with the acquisition of Maori lands. Their morality
was couched in their ledgers. They abominated the despatch
in which Lord Stanley trampled into dust the 'vile image
which the New Zealand Company wished to set up.

Bir G. Grey and Mr. Sheehan encountered opposition.
Some Maori experts, who had followed McLean, and
expected no patronage from the new government, strove to
inspire Maoris with distrust of Grey and his friends. The
interpreter’s license of Mr. C. O. Davis, already familiar to
the reader, was cancelled ; and after a time Mr. Mair and
his brother and Mr. Searancke were removed from office.
The personal government which had been condemned in
McLean was repeated, and was to be defended by Mr.
Sheehan, who could not or did not assign reasons for
ostracizing some whom he displaced, and was to discover
that, in the instances of Mr. Davis and Major Mair, he
offended men whose aid might have been potent in over-
tures to Tawhiao.

Amongst documents printed during 1877 was one con-
cerning the claims of Mr. Whitaker, which had been the
subject of the bill passed through the House but rejected in
the Council in 1875, in spite of the efforts of Dr. Pollen,
Whitaker’s colleague. Mr. Murray obtained a select com-
mittee, which reported that a proposed exchange of land
between Whitaker and the government was judicious, and
that delays had subjected Whitaker to loss which ought to
be ascertained and settled. The committee gravely stated
that they had not ‘‘the means of examining the natives
interested, but had taken all available evidence.” Much
labour would be avoided by inquisitors if suchi a mode of
inquiry should become the rule. The original claim was
based on an alleged purchase (Maukoro) near the Piako
river, by one Webster in 1839, and Sir G. Gipps’ wise
edicts had rendered that transaction nugatory. Governor
Fitzroy, nevertheless, made certain irregular grants of land
in 1844, and Sir G. Grey’s Quieting Titles Ordinance of
1849 was alleged to have invested the claims of Webster
with validity. Rights under awards of the Land Claims
Commissioner were purchased by Whitaker and Heale, and
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there were protracted negotiations to gather in the native
interests. Mr. F. D. Bell, being & Commissioner under a
Land Claims Settlements Act, heard the case in 1861, and
made an award of 12,065 acres to Whitaker and Heale.
He admitted that under Gipps’ law only 2560 acres could

have been awarded, but urged that the Quieting Titles
" Ordinance enabled the court to validate the wrongful grants
of Fitzroy. But, in 1861, it was one thing to make an
award and another thing to act upon it. By the seizure of -
the Waitara block in 1860 Mr. Whitaker and his friends
postponed the day of the gown, and he slept upon his
rights. In his evidence in 1877 he plumed himself (and
was congratulated) upon not having urged his claims, for
fear of creating a ‘ native difficulty.” He must, as one
concerned in the ‘rape of the Waitara,” have smiled at
the imputation of such weakness. After the war the
native titles were still undealt with at the Piako, and to
enable a government land-agent to purchase a tract
of country, it was proposed that Whitaker should agree to
exchange his Maukoro block if the government would
permit him to select an equivalent elsewhere. Dr. Pollen
made the bargain, but the Maoris did not wish to lose
Maukoro. The land-agent told the committee that they
‘“lived on the land, and would not”’ allow Mr. Whitaker to
take possession . . . ‘because their ancestors and
chiefs of the tribe were buried there, and they did not wish
to give it up.”’? Dr. Pollen was very gracious to Whitaker
in 1874; but the burial-places of ancestry could hardly be
wrested from the natives, and McLean might not have
consented to such an act.

It was agreed that Whitaker should surrender his title, and
that the government should allow him to select 14,783 acres
elsewhere (Puninga) between the Piako and Waitoa rivers,
of which he was to receive a Crown grant. Whitaker
thought the transaction was to be completed without delay
under an Act passed in 1858, but a law officer told Pollen
that the Puninga block had to be paid for out of a loan
raised under the Immigration and Public Works Act, and
money thus devoted was inapplicable to lands .selected

2 N.Z. P.P. 1877; L 15.
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inder any scrip, and could not be awarded by way of

wsation. Whitaker pleaded that a bond fide exchange
| was outside of the scope of the Act, but Dr. Pollen
not depart from legal advice. Then followed the
Land Exchange Bill, which was lost in the Couneil,
‘hitaker complained that he was ‘ badly treated,”
: obtained no *satisfactory answer.” He returned
kland and *‘ reopened negotiations” with the Maoris,
after the dilatory proceedings which always” attended
arranged to give the chief the Maukoro block with a
title in exchange for Puninga, for which the chief

> obtain n Crown title. The latter put his case
the Land Court, but so largely had civilization

whed wpon the tribal domains while he was at
wo that he could only prove a claim to 8000 acres.
wan suflicient for Whitaker. The chief then
ated (Whitnker deposed) * with other natives, and
| {0 give them Bs. an acre, which they accepted.
1o nant ditoulty was the money; Terapipipi declaring
o had none, and urging me to pay it, and he would
} wlvanced about £2000 for survey fees, and to

p the outstanding claims, which was done. . . .
w weantime Terapipipi has made a selection at
ww, atl I have had it surveyed, so that I am in a
w I abtain a Crown grant on application ; but I do
o hoouuse Terapipipi wishes the Crown grant to be

wy hin name, which I cannot agree to till my title at
s in wade good, Thus the matter stands at
+.'' Whitaker did not tell the committee whether—
the wmatlter was thus standing—interest for monies
wtraying the native inheritance, but an item in his
wima for compensation, as put before the committee
v 11th Oet,, 1877, aroused the worst fears for the
laced at his mercy: “ Date, Nov. 15th, 1854. Puar-
(original), Abercrombie. Acres, 5000. Price, £2000.
a June, 1876, 21 years 199 days. Simple interest at
cent,, £6809 0s, 10d. Compound interest at 10 per
£16,609 7s. 104.” It may be remembered that in
)r. Pollen made piteous moan for a chief who, for a
wmount of survey fees (£150 or £200) was, by litiga-
lundered of an estate of 80,000 acres. His mind
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had suffered change in 1877. When examined before the
committee he was indignant. He was asked: “ Did the
government think it desirable to acquire this block of land
which witnesses say is apparently worthless, and to give
up this Puninga block, part of which, we are told, was
sold at £1 an acre by Mr. Whitaker before he acquired it 2
He replied : * That is a question you can hardly expect me
to answer. I think it is exceedingly undesirable that, as
chairman, you should put such a question to me. I expect
courtesy at least, and not to be accused of dishonesty.
My hands are infinitely cleaner of native land dealings
than yours are.”” ‘“My honour (retorted the chairman),
‘““as a gentleman, in dealing with native lands, has never
been impugned. What actuated the government in making
this exchange?”’ Dr. Pollen could give no explanation.
Asked why Whitaker had been allowed ¢ to acquire 4000
acres in addition to the 14,000 he was to get from the
natives,” he replied, “ I cannot say.” Yet he was able to
say, ‘I think Mr. Whitaker has reason to complain that
the agreement made with him by me, on the part of the
government, has not been carried out.” Writers of fiction
have drawn terrible pictures of the rapidity with which the
human mind can slide down an inclined plane. Yet surely
nothing more lamentable has been seen than the conversion
of the Pollen of 1863 and 1878 into the apologist of 1877.18
The picture has been necessary to show the condition of
the colony. The state of the Maoris cannot be estimated
without a knowledge of the arts of those by whom they
were pursued, in the attorney's office, in the camp, and in
council ; and last, not least, where ¢ waipiro” was brought
to oppress them.

When the Parliament of New Zealand assembled in July,
1878, the Governor congratulated it on the friendly relations
which Sir G. Grey and Mr. Sheehan had established with
‘“‘the leading chiefs” of the Waikato and Ngatimaniapoto
tribes. He added: “ The question of the survey and settle-
ment of the west coast of this island has been firmly taken
in hand, and the immediate survey of the Waimate Plains
has been ordered.” By what obliquity of judgment the

3 Supra, pp. 52, 54, 55.
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Grey ministry were led to announce so peremptorily the
survey of the Waimate Plains it is difficult to understand.
All men knew that McLean had guaranteed possession to
Maoris who might return to the land. Nor did their claims
rest only on his words and the concurrence of the govern-
ment. A proclamation of peace, issued on the same day
. (2nd Sept., 1865) as that of confiscation, had announced—
““the Governor (Sir G. Grey), will at once restore consider-
able quantities to those of the natives who wish to settle
down upon their lands, to hold them under Crown grants,
and to live under the protection of the law. For this
purpose commissioners will be sent forthwith, . . .
who will put the natives who may desire it upon lands at
once. . . .’ The words ¢forthwith” and ‘‘at once”
had indeed been neglected, but Donald McLean had so com-
pletely recognized the right of the returned Maoris to the
confiscated lands, that in 1875 he had negotiated for the
purchase from them of 185,000 acres, and full information
of the conveyances to the government was regularly given
to Parliament. His arrangements for acquisition of land
by purchase (within the confiscated block) * with the good
will of the natives,” were reported to and approved by the
Secretary of State.’® His system, if that could be called
system which depended so much upon the blank charter .
entrusted to him, was to invite all natives to return, to
promise them undisturbed occupation of lands which they
might settle upon, to purchase from those who claimed,
under awards of the Lands Compensation Court, land at
the rate of £1 an acre, and to rid himself of the general
rights of the tribe over particular areas by compensation
not exceeding 5s. an acre. This rate, defined in 1872, was
in 1876 raised by him to 7s. 6d. an acre, and the formal
instructions which empowered the Civil Commissioner so to
raise it dwelt especially on the fact that it was most
important to secure for settlement the valuable plains

" West Coast Commission, second report, 14th July, 1880.—N. Z. P. P.,
1880; G. 2. A. A return (N.Z. P.P. 1879; A. 8, A.) showed that on the
10th July, 1879, ‘“sums of money paid to natives within the confiscated
block -on deeds of conveyance to the Crown” were £54,412, on 434,702
acres.

18 Supra, p. 39.
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between Waingongoro and Stoney river. Of those plains
the Waimate were esteemed the most precious. The Civil
Commissioner, Major Brown, encountered opposition in
surveying the Waingongoro river, but negotiated success-
fully for several blocks to the south of that river. Added
to former acquisitions by his predecessor, the concessions
thus purchased within the confiscated boundary were
863,000 acres. In 1877 he reported that after finishing
“gouth of the Waingongoro” he proposed to cross that
river and settle the question of the Waimate Plains. At
that date Dr. Pollen was Native Minister, and Major
Atkinson was Premier. The method pursued by Major
Brown and others was called bribery by some persons and
gratuity by others. Its native name was takoha, or
‘ gpread abroad,” but some of it was dispensed secretly. A
portion he paid publicly to buy up the tribal rights, and a
portion (Brown said) was * to cover the mana of the chiefs,
which was privately paid.’® To acquire the Waimate
Plains large sums were disbursed, but he deposed (March,
1880) that he had gained nothing by his largesse. In
1878 he charged, to his Waimate Plains ¢ takoha”
account, £1000, which he had paid to a Ngatiawa chief to
defray the cost of a feast at the Waitara, and he pleaded
that Mr. Sheehan, the then Native Minister, econsidered
such a charge justifiable although the native feasters
were of the Ngatiawa tribe, and the Waimate Plains were
the inheritance of the Ngatiruanui. Nor was this all.
Close to the Waimate Plains was Titokowaru. He was
solicited by Brown, and consented, to receive ‘‘takoha’ for
his “mana’” over the Waimate Plains which was unques-
tionable. But when a voucher containing his name was
seen at the Audit Office, it was returned ¢ with the intima-
tion (Brown testified) that no expenditure of public money

16 West Coast Commission Report.—The Commissioners, Sir W. Fox and
Sir F. D. Bell, remarked on this statement: ‘¢ As described by the Civil
Commissioner in his evidence it was nothing but secret bribery.” The
Commissioners extracted from Brown the manner in which he paid public
money to Titokowaru. They also ascertained it from the Under-Secretary
for. Nya.tive Affairs, who told them that but for the discoveries of the
Commission it would not have been known that £2000, represented to the
Audit Office as paid to certain natives by Major Brown, had not been paid
to them, but devoted to purposes ** not disclosed to the audit.” ° ]

Vol. IIL. M
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to that individual could be passed.” Brown was told to pay
the money to the public account. He was equal to the
occasion. Titokowaru’s original name was Kohi Rangatira,
and he was afterwards christened Hohepa. In the war he
had taken the name of Titokowaru. An Under-Secretary
suggested to Brown that he ‘‘had better get the voucher
signed in some other name.” Ever since (quoth Brown)
Titokowaru has “signed as Hohepa and Kohi Rangatira,
either jointly or separately.”

In the end of 1876 Brown, pleading that he had been so
instructed by Sir D. McLean, abandoned his practice of
procuring deeds of cession, and relied upon ‘takoha,”
which he said was given as ‘‘compensation for former
rights previous to the land becoming Crown land through
confiscation.” On Donald McLean's resignation the Native
Department under Dr. Pollen continued the practice of
bribing certain natives to surrender rights which, by the
proclamation of 2nd Sept., 1865, the government professed
to have confiscated, but which from 1872 to 1876 they pur-
chased under deeds of cession. In 1877 Major Brown pre-
pared, under order from the Atkinson ministry, to survey

. the Waimate Plains. Sir G. Grey formed his ministry in
Oct., and the Maoris at Waimate objected to the survey of
the plains, though Brown reported that Titokowaru (who
had received ‘‘takoha’” from him) was ‘‘moderate” at a
meeting on the 12th Dec. Mr. Sheehan (8rd Dec.) directed
Brown to ‘“ suspend the survey’” until he might be further
instructed. Te Whiti’s influence had puzzled Brown, who
declared afterwards: “As I got nearer to Parihaka (Te
‘Whiti’s home) I found the necessity for paying ¢takoha’
diminish. It diminished after I crossed the Waingongoro.
I account for it by the influence of Te Whiti preventing
natives from taking the money.” One Blake had stirred
the Maoris against Brown’s proceedings, and with the
approval of the Atkinson ministry Brown, with the promise
of £500, bribed Blake to desist.!” Blake, nevertheless,
wrote (Nov., 1877) to a Maori that it was ¢ not right that
the survey should be commenced first and the discussion
should take place afterwards,” and that he would see Sir

. "18N8.0 Z,P.P. G 2. West Coast Commission second report, section
iv. 3
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G. Grey and Mr. Sheehan. Whether his efforts were
influential or not was undiscovered by the Commission of
1880, but the survey was stopped by the government, and
it was understood that Mr. Sheehan would visit the spot
in order to ascertain what reserves ought to be made. On
the 22nd May, the Colonial Treasurer (Ballance), wanting
money, asked Brown if he would recommend the immediate
commencement of the survey. If the work were once under-
taken, the ‘‘government would sustain you by sufficient
force.”” Mr. Macandrew, Minister for Lands, submitted a
minute to the Cabinet (22nd May) : “ My belief is that it
will place in the Treasury close on half-a-million sterling.”
A strong detachment of armed constabulary ought to be
sent to protect the surveyors, and Mr. Sheehan ought
to be apprized of the intention to sell ‘ —— unless he
is of opinion that good policy absolutely forbids it.”
Macandrew’s minute was approved on the understanding
that nothing should be done until Mr. Sheehan had visited
the district.

These proceedings strongly conflicted with the tenour of
meetings which Sir G. Grey and Sheehan had held with
the Maorie in Tawhiao’s territory. Rewi, Manuhiri, Tapi-
hana, with hundreds of others, attended a preliminary
meeting at Kopua. In May, a meeting was held at Hiku-
rangi, and the command of Tawhiao that no spirituous
liquors should be there was obeyed. He had a body-guard
of 100 men. 8ir G. Grey told him that the government
would give him 500 acres of land at Ngaruawahia, near the
grave of his father, would restore other lands for his people,
would erect a house for him at Kawhia, and consult him as
to surveys and roads., Tawhiao neither accepted nor rejec-
ted the proposals. It was plain that the counsels of the
chiefs dictated his words. Nevertheless the meeting was
thought successful, and high hopes were entertained. Rewi
was not at Hikurangi, and Sir G. Grey with Mr. Sheehan
visited him at Puniu. Macandrew’s demand to sell the
Waimate Plains without any fulfilment of promises to the
Maoris took place a few days after the Hikurangi meeting.
In June, Sir G. Grey and Mr. Sheehan went to the Waitara.
With them went Wi Tako and others. Rewi travelled
thither, but his demeanour was disconcerting. Before the

M2
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assembled people he told Sir G. Grey that he ‘“ wanted the
Waitara back.” The meeting was friendly, but there was
no decision. Mr. Sheehan travelled to the Waimate Plains
to see Titokowaru and Te Whiti, who had not visited the
Waitara. Sober and just, never in arms against the
Queen, and worshipped by his countrymen, preaching
continually that no blood should be shed, Te Whiti was
considered by Mr. Sheehan impracticable, if not mad.
Sheehan thought it discreditable to Te Whiti’s judgment
that he had rebuked Titokowaru for taking ‘‘takoha’” from
the government. With such opinions, Mr. Sheehan thought
Te Whiti was better at Parihaka than at Waitara, where
‘“takoha’ was profusely scattered. It was after these
events that the Governor informed the Parliament that the
immediate survey of Waimate had been ordered, although
no steps had been taken to fulfil the pledges of the govern-
ment spread over thirteen years. In August the survey
was commenced. A chief protested in a friendly manner,
and a deputation of Maoris consulted Te Whiti, who told
them ‘‘not to oppose the survey.” The surveyor was
delighted. Titokowaru was on good terms with him, but
warned him that the Maoris would resist the cutting of any
lines through their cultivated grounds. Mr. Sheehan
promised the Maoris that ‘‘large reserves should be made
for them, that their burial places, cultivations, and fishi
grounds should be respected,” and that ample ‘takoha’
should be given to assist them in fencing their reserves and
to promote their social improvement.!®

. Such was the aspect of affairs at the commencement of
the session of 1878, in which no serious attempt was made
to disturb the policy of the government, although one or
two members resented the stoppage of the survey of the
Waimate Plains in 1877; and Mr. Fox derided the
laudatory accounts given of the native meetings and the
influence of Sir G. Grey. Mr. Sheehan thought the arrange-
ments for surveying the Waimate Plains so satisfactory in
Oct., 1878, that he took credit for having prevented inter-
ruption by firmly telling Te Whiti and Titokowaru that he
‘““would go on with the survey no matter what they might
determine.” But he took no steps to fulfil promises.
- - 18 West Coast Commission Report, G. 2, 1880.



SURVEYING INTERRUPTED. MAJOR BROWN. 181

Before the session closed (2nd Nov., 1878), the murder
of a European (McLean) by a Maori (Hiroki) was repotted.
The murdered man was a cook for a survey-party nesr
Waverley, not far from Waitotara, far to the south of the
Waimate Plains, and no political influence was attached to
the act. Hiroki fled, and his tribe offered to assist in
capturing him. He was pursued, shot at and wounded.
He took sanctuary at Parihaka, where Te Whiti refused to
surrender him on the demand of Hiroki’s tribe. The
survey at Waimate was in progress and unopposed; Titoko-
waru aided the surveyors with advice. But in February,
1879, the surveyors began to encroach with their lines.
The chief surveyor, Humphries, though told by Brown
(Civil Commissioner) that a reserve of 2000 acres for the
chief, Manaia, was promised, and that it was ‘to be left
without being sectionized,”’*® determined to cut it up into
sections, and Brown assented (Dec., 1878). The natives
were alarmed. They had been promised reserves, and they
saw the lands plotted out (apparently for sale) without any
attempt to fulfil the promises of McLean, Brown, or Sheehan.
“In December (Humphries testified) the surveyors were
stopped by the natives. It was on account of the road
going near to the native settlements.” Confident that the
Maoris could easily be crushed, despisers of Maori rights
were not displeased at the prospect of collision. Brown,
meanwhile, resorted to conference and ‘‘takoha.” He
admitted that, having no instructions from the government
a8 to reserves, he ‘‘ went on with the survey of the Waimate
Plains without making any reserves.”® In February a sur-
veyor was interrupted near a native settlement Mawhiti-
whiti, on the border of the Plains. ‘“Two old Maoris chased
the men with long-handled fern-hooks,” and some, ‘‘ mostly
women, closed round the men’ and succeeded in taking away
an axe. The surveyor said they were very excited, and ““it
was useless to talk to them, and very unfortunate that this
line should run through their cultivations, as Titokowaru had

¥ Humphries’ own language (Answers 1002, &c.). West Coast Commis-
sion Report.—N. Z. P. P. 1880.
© ® West Coast Commission Report (Answer 656). He added that he
informed the Maoris that they ‘‘could have the lands which they had
under cultivation.”
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said the day before that they would resist any lines being
cut through their cultivations. The meridian line is right
into one the first thing, and is likely to go into several.”®
Brown had received a telegram (15th Jan.) from Sir G.
Grey, suggesting that before concluding as to reserves at
the Plains, * the government should have the proposals
before them and consider them.” Brown then asked the
surveyor, Humphries, “to go round the lands which the
natives had under cultivation or in occupation ; but he said
he could not do so; he must survey them, and then (Hum-
phries) could submit them to the government.”? Brown
was aware that ‘‘one road was surveyed through cultivated
and fenced land belonging to Titokowaru.”® He said he
“ did not anticipate objection;” but (1880) inconsistently
informed the West Coast Commission that he was not sur-
prised that the natives felt ‘“anxious at the survey being
taken so near to their settlements.”” He complained after-
wards that Sir G. Grey’s telegram restrained him in
making reserves, but was reminded that he could have
requested that his instructions might be modified, and had
not done so. Whether his motives were sinister or not,
there is no doubt as to the tendency of his deeds. They
may be told in the words of the West Coast Commissioners
(1880), Sir W. Fox and Sir F. D. Bell:—

¢“On the 12th March, one of the surveyors reported that the section-
pegs were rapidly disappearing from one of the blocks, and that from
station to station for several miles the pegs had all been pulled up. The
surveyor to whom this happened WoultfE| not allow that the changed
conduct of the natives was connected with his laying off a road-line near
Titokowaru’s settlement at Okaiawa ; but after careful inquiry we our-
selves entertain no doubt that this road was a principal cause of the
surveyors being turned off the Plains. When the road approached
Titokowaru’s clearings, his grass-paddocks and his village, the surveyor,
for engineering reasons, which certainly appear to us very inadequate,
insisted on taking this road-line in a direction where it cut into a large
fenced enclosure, sown with English cocksfoot grass, a yearly source of
income. Captain Wilson, at the request of Titokowaru, interfered, but
without avail, and the line was taken in the direction to which the chief
had objected. It had only just been finished when he left for Parihaka,
and within a fortnight the surveyors were all removed. . . . But
though this unlucky step alienated Titokowaru and lost us the benefit of
his friendly influence, there was a far more wide-spread cause of dissatis-

# West Coast Commission Report (Answer 1016).
2 Answer 659. B Answer 671. # Answer 677.
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faction influencing the whole body of the natives interested in the Waimate
Plains. This was the omission of the government to make proper reserves
for them.” Citing McLean’s and Sheehan’s promises, the Commissioners
added: ‘‘ When the natives saw the survey of sections for sale nearly
completed, and not only no signs of their reserves being made, but, on the
contrary, silence maintained by the Commissioner and the surveyors on
the subject; and when they heard that the surveyed land was to be offered
for sale, the{ probably thought it was time to forbid any further progress,
so they (24th March) quietly removed all the surveyors to the south side
of the Waingongoro river.”

Those who remember how Te Rangitake was forced to
resist at the Waitara will have no difficulty in understanding
the ‘‘engineering reasons” which led to an invasion of
Titokowaru’s enclosures.

‘““We can come to no other conclusion (said the Commissioners) than
that it is true both in the letter and the spirit that no reserves were made
either previous to the commencement or during the progress of the surveys;
that none were ever marked off on the ground, nor on any plan except in
the manner just described,” and that not even those marked on the plan
were ever made known to the natives.”

Mr. Sheehan went to Parihaka, but produced no impression
on Te Whiti, though he discoursed much with him (22nd
March) as to theland. On the 24th March, a surveyor was
told that as Te Whiti had overcome Sheehan in debate the
surveyors must retreat to the south of the Waingongoro.
On the 25th, with courtesy on both sides, the various
surveyors were escorted from the district, having been
warned by the Civil Commissioner not to leave the Plains
of their own accord, but not to oppose force. One surveyor
reported to Humphries: ¢ The natives came to remove my
camp, and I was very much pleased with their quiet
behaviour, the utmost good humour prevailing on both
sides.” The next step taken by the ministry almost entitled
them to the character they imputed to Te Whiti. Without
having made any arrangements as to reserves, burial-
places, cultivations, or fishing-grounds, and without having
sketched their intentions on any map, they advertised for
sale 16,000 acres at the Waimate Plains. The Treasurer
was to make reprisals by the hammer of the auctioneer.
A Land Act (1877) had declared confiscated lands to

# After the stafnpa.ge of the surveys Major Brown went to Wellington
and marked on a plan some proposed reserves, but neither the surveyor nor
the Commissioner of Crown Lands of the district heard anything about
them until they were made known to them by the West Coast Commission
in 1880.
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be Crown lands, and the Local Land Boards in
provincial districts were the administrators through
whom the government acted. Mr. Ballance, by telegram
(25th March), directed the Commissioner of Crown Lands
to call an  emergency meeting of the Taranaki Land
Board to arrange for the sale of the Plains within the
next few weeks. Draft preliminary advertisement will be
telegraphed to you immediately.” The board met forth-
with—aware that on the previous day surveyors had been
-expelled from the Plains—‘‘resolved to look upon the act
of the ministry as one of public policy,” complied with Mr.
Ballance’s desire to advertise 16,000 acres at Waimate to be
sold by auction at Patea on the 6th May, declared the land
to be of special agricultural value, and recorded that their
acts were not done proprio motu, but to conform to the
Treasurer’s will. The advertisement was promulgated in
New Zealand (26th March) and forwarded for publication
in Australia. The Commissioner of Crown Lands implored
for instructions as to reserves for natives, and ‘‘details of
cash, and deferred payment sections.” He only received
answers as to the latter, Mr. Ballance caring more for
money than burial-grounds. The Taranaki Land Board
met his views on the 2nd April. On the same day Major
Brown (in Wellington) thinking it prudent to seem to pro-
vide reserves, went to the Survey office and marked off
about 8000 acres as reserves on a map, but did not acquaint
his own officers, nor the surveyors, nor the Taranaki Land
Board, not the natives, with the fact. It could hardly be
hoped that such proceedings would escape public attention,
or be concurred with by Sir G. Grey, who after an angry
scene with his Treasurer suspended the proceedings at
Waimate. '

The government had deputed Mr. James Mackay (accom-
gg.nied by Blake) to visit Te Whiti. On the 2nd April

ackay tried his eloquence on Te Whiti. Indulging in
historic illustrations, he was checked by Te Whiti saying:
“Cease to speak metaphorically, say plainly what you
want.”” He wanted to make amicable arrangements about
the land.

“The land is mine,” said Te Whiti. ‘‘I do not admit your right to
survey it. My blanket is mine. Think you it would be right for you to
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try to drag it from my body, and clothe yourself with it? If I attempted
to tear your coat from your back you would resist, and would not be to
blame. What right have I forcibly to wrench your coat from you? The
land belongs not to the government, but to me. I told Major Brown to
take away his guns. He said he had none. He misunderstood me. He
thought 1 meant firearms. The surveyors themselves are the guns; that
is, they will cause guns to be used. I want not war. All I want is to be
allowed to remain at peace on my own land. If you try to take the e
from under a hen she will peck at your hand, and you would not rail at her
fmrotecting her young. The eggs are my land. You would wrongfully
steal it from me. I defend it. You say I am a murderer. I say it is the
overnment who are the thieves. I gave up land from Waitotara to
aingongoro® under arrangements with Donald McLean and Parris.
That ought to satisfy you. Parris also paid money to Maoris for land now
held by the government. . . . Waimate was untouched. Waingon-
goro was the boundary. I turned the surveyors off quietly because they
had no right on myland. I made no termswith the government that they
should claim my property. You spoke of the good intentions of the
government. Tell the Governor not to insist on the survey and I will
remain in peace on my land. I do not go on your land to disturb you.
Why do you interfere with me in the occupation of mine? . . . As
you came hither, Blake, did you show Mackay the line cut through the
cultivations at the door of Titokowaru’s house? (Captain Blake: Yes, we
saw that.) Where then is the piece to be retained by the Maoris? Where
are the promises of McLean ang Parris that the lands in the occupation of
the natives should not be taken from them? But for the expulsion of the
surveyors we should receive no consideration at the hands of the govern-
ment. . . . You know in your own mind that I have right on my
side. . . . Are you authorized by the government to offer me a part
of my land and agree for them to take the other part ?” Mackay replied:
“I am not authorized to make any definite Ero;)osal, but will convey to
the government any suggestion you may make.” ¢ You had better get
the government (answered Te V&K)iti) to fix their proposals. Not I, but
they are active in the matter. I am living quietly on my land.”

On the 4th April, Mackay telegraphed the resuli of his
interview, and on the same day the government withdrew
the advertisement of the sale of the Plains. - On the 24th
April it was announced that the sale was ‘‘ postponed until
further notice.” Of those who knew anything about Maori
affairs, there could be none who did not see that, after the
proclamations and promises of the government, the invasion
of Titokowaru’s homestead was a gross breach of promise,
if not inherently wrong. :

Mackay (4th April) reported that the natives were dis-
satisfied because Crown grants awarded to them by the
Compensation Court in 1866 had not been issued; because
the title to lands confiscated by the government, and after-

" 3-There was a side-issue about land between those rivers, with which it
i8 not necessary to encumber the narrative. .
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wards abandoned, had not been determined; because
promises were not regarded by the government; because
the government, having kept no accurate record of their
promises, were * unwittingly”’ diverging ‘from previous
understandings and arrangements;”’ because Te Whiti
feared that the measure applied to Waimate would be
applied to Parihaka; and because natives dwelling on
lands reserved for them at Patea had been told that they
were only allowed to dwell there on sufferance. He recom-
mended the appointment of a mixed commission of Euro-
peans and Maoris to examine the ‘‘ whole questlon of
confiscated lands from Waitotara to Tataraimaka,” to con-
firm previous awards, to ascertain the proper grantees, and
to take evidence as to previous promises of the government
or its officers. Mr. Sheehan thanked Mackay, and an-
nounced that he had ‘ provisionally” ‘ speckled’” the map
with reserves. He would recommend reserves of at least
one-fourth of the land. That which should have been done
before undertaking the survey he was willing to do after its
interruption. At Taranaki he discussed with Brown and
Parris, in the presence of Mackay, ¢ the question of unful-
filled promises in respect of lands between the Waitotara
river on the south and the White Cliffs on the north.””
The result he stated in Parliament (23rd July, 1879) : “I
was not aware in 1878, nor was the country aware, nor do
I believe the House knows as a fact, what the exact position
of those lands on the west coast was. It has only been
made clear to us by the interruption of the surveys. It
turns out that from the White Cliffs down to Waitotara the
whole country is strewn with unfulfilled promises.” He
gave an instance, and added : ‘‘ From Hawera to Waingon-
goro and down to Waitotara, similar cases have occurred.

. As a matter of fact, grants have been kept back
until the people have come to the conclusmn that the whole
thing is a sham and a delusion.” He reported from
Taranaki to his colleagues in April, 1879, that Te Whiti’s
influence was ‘ the most important and powerful of all”
elements of disturbance. *‘ There can be no question as to
the immense ascendancy which this remarkable man has
obtained over his people. . . . It is a moot point
whether he is a believer.in his own fanaticism, or whether
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he is not, under the guise of a prophet, endeavouring to
become the saviour of the lands of himself and his own
particular following. As a fact, it is well known that he
looks down upon Tawhiao and the Waikato people, char-
acterizing them as degraded.” The time for meeting
Tawhiao was approaching, and Sheehan left Mackay to
prosecute inquiries, and to give incredible assurances that
promises would be fulfiled. On the 6th May, Mackay
reported that although Te Whiti and Titokowaru denied
the right of the Crown to any confiscated lands, others
were willing to concur in any arrangement to fulfil the
pledges of the government, ang that their grievances were
‘““the outcome of a series of mistakes and negligences
extending over the past thirteen years.”’*

Before describing Te Whiti’s proceedings in May, Sir G.
Grey’s meeting with the Waikato tribes must be mentioned.
It was rumoured that skilful linguists and political enemies
intrigued to thwart him. On the 6th May, 1879, 5000
natives were gathered at Kopua. Tawhiaohad an armed
body-guard of 180 men. Rewi, Wahanui, Te Heu Heu of
Taupo, Te Ngakau, and the keen Tapihana were present.
With the party of the government were Te Wheoro and
Rangihiwinui, the Rev. Heta Tarawiti, the fast friend of
Bishop Selwyn, and many others. The aged Manuhiri
(the Tamati Ngapora of former days) was brooding in his
tent. Sons of the king-maker, Waharoa, were there as
allies of Sir G. Grey. Topia Turoa, with Rangihiwinui,
his old comrade in arms, and Mete Kingi, now represented
‘Wanganui as friendly to the Hikurangi propositions. Hori
Tupaea from Ngaiterangi, now about fourscore years of
age, lent his countenance to the government. Ngatiraukawa
sent Hitire Paerato, known in the Waikato war, and others.
Ngatiwhatua sent the genial Paora Tuhaere, Paraone
Ngaweke, Arama Karaka and others. Ngatipaoa was repre-
sented by Waata Tipa, Puhata and others. Ngatitamatera
sent old Tukukino (whom the Thames County Council
laboured to coerce as to forming a road) and others. The
Rarawa and Ngapuhi, ever proud of their loyalty to the
Queen, sent Tawhai, Tawhiti (a member of the New Zealand

% West Coast Commission, 1880, second report, p. xxii.
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Parliament) and many more. The Arawa sent Wiremu
Maihi Te Rangikaheke, learned in ancient lore, with Te
Pukuatua and others. The Ngatituwharetoa sent Te Heu
Heu, with Poihipi Tukeraingi and other chiefs. The
Ngatlraukawa, who dwelt on the southern lands which old
Rauparaha invited their fathers to possess, sent Te Rauhihi,
Te Kapukai and others. Of the Whakatohea, Ngatiawa,
Ngatikahungunu, Rongowhakaata, Ngarauru, and Ngati-
porou there were representatives. The chiefs prohibited
the use of spirituous liquors at Kopua. It was significant
that Tawhiao® was, during the meeting, sedulously guarded
from free converse with Sir G. Grey’s friends. His guard
was ever with him. Te Ngakau appeared to be the soul of
opposition. Rewi was deemed loyal to his professions, and
to counteract his influence, plotters against Grey strove to
create discord between Rewi and Tawhiao. When the con-
ference formally commenced (7th May), Rewi was active in
marshalling the people, but Te Ngakau preceded the king
with a band of young men dressed with feathers, and
Wahanui accompanied his king. Tawhiao, adorned with
feathers (after prayers, in which only his soldiers joined),
rose and invited all the people from the South {to the North
Cape to listen. . . . “The word is this. Potatau alone
is the ancestor of all people. He alone is the chief of this
island—of you all—and you cannot deny it. The whole of
this country was his. . . . I saythis. ' Sir G. Grey
has no right to conduct affairs on this island, but I have
the sole right. . . . I do not consent to any of the
arrangements which prevail. . . . One of them is the
bringing of war into this country. It must be removed
utterly. We must have no fighting whatever; whether
about roads, leases, or anything else. . . . All foreign
innovations must be swept a,wa.y There will then be no
evils.”

Rewi rose from his seat, Walked to Tawhiao, a.nd sat near
him. ‘Whether pa.tnotlsm treachery, or malice had worked
singly or in combination, the result was undoubted. Sir
G. Grey had failed. There was a pause. Tawhiao’s people
said prayers. Wahanui declared that what Tawhiao had

* Official and other reports.
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said would not be added to on that day. The eloquent Te
Rangikaheke recited a chant apparently friendly. At
intervals he was responded to. Te Heu Heu announced
his adherence to the words of Tawhiao. After brief speeches
the discussion was adjourned till the morrow. The silent
Sir G. Grey must have reflected wistfully upon the days
when he alone wielded the Queen’s authority in the land,
and when the seizure of Rauparaha created lasting distrust
of his captor. On subsequent days Tawhiao was absent;
but, in the order proposed by the genial Te Wheoro, the
chiefs of Aupouri, Rarawa, Ngapuhi, Ngatiwhatua, Hauraki,
Arawa, Taupo, Tauranga, Ngatiporou, and numerous tribes,
including those on the west coast, spoke tribe by tribe.
Tawhiao’s claim to the whole island was rejected by many.
They clung to the treaty of Waitangi and the authorjty of
the Queen. On the 9th, Sir G. Grey said that Tawhiao had
been answered by those who rejected Tawhiao’s claim, and
he rejected it also. Wahanui insinuated that takoha was
the bribe with which Sir G. Grey sought to seduce the
Maoris, and was vigorously answered by Padra Tuhaere and
others. To the question—Who was to blame for past strife
—8ir G. Grey answered: “Let him who is without sin
among you cast the first stone. Rewi hasasked: ‘ Why the
difference between the words of to-day and those at Hiku-
rangi a year ago?’ To that I say there is no difference on
our part. Let those who have complaints to make stand
up and state them openly here.”” Aporo vehemently replied
that Rewi and Sir G. Grey had shed precious blood, that
Tawhiao only could give blessings, and that, even since the
meeting at Hikurangi, attempts had been made to form a
road through the land of the king, in defiance alike of what
was right and of the pledges at Hikurangi. Then Rewi
defended himself. He had been a man of war and shed
blood ; but, for the salvation of his people, had now grasped
the hand of another, Grey, who had shed blood also.
Some people thought that he had been tempted by lucre.
“I say no. My treasure is my land. I hold Sir G. Grey,
because he was my opponent. . . . I will hold to him
because we can arrange matters and devise the means for
living in peace. . . . When this work is done I will turn to
the matters of my soul. I will build up my spirit. . . .” Sir
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G. Grey then spoke of his friendship with Potatau. There
would never have been war in Waikato if Grey had remained
in the island. He looked on Tawhiao as his own child.
Love for the people of the island was the bond between
Rewi and himself. Wicked men had arisen to spread false
reports about Rewi and himself. Those reports were
untrue. With Tawhiao’s declaration that there should be
no more fighting he was delighted. There spoke a son
worthy of his father. On the 12th, the final discussion
took place. Wahanui denied that the arguments of
Tawhiao’s friends had been refuted, and was answered by
Paora Tuhaere, who but for the ‘shadowed livery of the
burnished sun’’ was a fit representative of a burly English
country gentleman. Tawhiao was present, but left
Wahanui and Te Ngakau to reiterate their arguments.
At the close 8ir G. Grey strove to confute Aporo’s attack
about the road, and infelicitously pointed out that, as.the
servant of New Zealand, he could not have refused to make
the road when the Parliament directed that it should
be made. He reminded the meeting of his offers at
Hikurangi, and their advantages. If not accepted now,
they would be cancelled. On the following morning he
wrote to Tawhiao that he was about to leave—‘ not in
anger, but sorrow, because you have not been wise enough
to accept the benefits offered to you, and because the hope
which I have cherished for years that I might be the
means of placing yourself and your people in a condition of
prosperity and peace has been again deferred.”” Tawhiao
made no sign. Wahanui and others had complained that
Sir G. Grey and others had severed the Maoris from the
Queen. ‘It is urged that we should become one under
her shadow. That is right, for she is my mother ; but who
severed this unity and caused war ? It was not the Maori,
but Grey and his friends.” The seizure of Rauparaha,
moreover, could never be forgotten. Many persons
believed that Tawhiao’s rejection of Sir G. Grey’s overtures
was brought about by intrigues of Grey's enemies, amongst
whom was reckoned Mr. g 0. Davis, the Maori scholar,
whom Mr. Sheehan had offended. Major Mair had been
dispensed with by the over-confident Sheehan, at a time
when Sheehan more lightly esteemed Mair’s powers than
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when the ministers returned crestfallen from Kopua. In
Parliament (July, 1879) Sheehan said that ‘‘ the change in
the king’s notions as to the terms of seftlement was a
change brought about by evil counsels at the last possible
moment.”

At Kopua Te Whiti’'s wrongs were not discussed. Mr.
Sheehan cultivated the friendship of Rewi, who reviewed at
Awamutu a troop of cavalry, and informed them that
their vocation was gone, for that thenceforward peace was
to prevail. Mr. Sheehan contemplated with satisfaction the
effect of a visit to Auckland. A few days before Rewi
arrived there® Mr. Sheehan’s hopes were rudely dashed by
Te Whiti, although some days elapsed before the settlers
ascertained that Te Whiti was the author of their astonish-
ment. On the 26th May, Maoris invaded a farm at Oakura,
and ploughed up grass-lands. Telegrams were sent to Sir
G. Grey. Alarm was general, but no violence was displayed
towards the settlers. The ‘ Taranaki Herald” declared
that “if it should come to fighting, then we have very
little hesitation in saying the struggle will be a short one,
and afterwards this district will never more receive a check
to its progress from the same cause.”” The ploughing went
on, and the ploughers said “it was done in order to force a
settlement, and that Te Whiti only wanted the Governor
to come to settle affairs.”® Far and wide, from the White

L

® Crowds assembled to see the old warrior, who had not been in
Auckland for 20 Kle:.rs. The mayor welcomed him with a speech, and the
citizens awaited his reply. It was not on a railway dpl tform, or to such
an audience, that the old man poured out his words. He said: “M;
replﬁ will be brief—a descendant of Motai will yet journey on the sa.nd);
of Hakerekere.” It was supposed that this ancient proverb implied
confidence that Rewi would accomplish his task. He was feasted, and
visited public places. At the gaol he saw some Maori prisoners, and

vely told them that their own faults had justly brought them there,
g::. that as the law of the Pakeha enabled them to shorten their imprison-
ment, he advised them to behave well so that they might return to their
homes, where he told them ¢ to sin no more.” He made longer speeches
at banquets. The Governor, Sir Hercules Robinson, visited Auckland,
and Rewi returned to Waikato in his company.

» West Coast Commission (1880), second report, section viii. It was
admitted by the Commissioners that Te Whiti’s object was to test the
¢ legality of the confiscation.” ¢ We, of course, knew from the first (3rd
report, p. 3) that it would be contested before us by the adherents of Te
Whiti. . . . We therefore refused to hear counsel who wished to
question it.”
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Cliffs to Hawera, the ploughmen worked, commencing
before sunrise, and taking away their ploughs in the
evening. Great numbers of Te Whiti's followers con-
gregated at Parihaka. The government strengthened their
armed forces, and made arrangements to procure Maori
allies from the east coast. Mr. Parris went to Te Whiti,
and was told that the prophet did not desire hostilities, but
to bring the land question to an issue. It was not against
settlers, but against the government that his measures were
directed. The Governor, with Sir G. Grey and Colonel Whit-
more, went to Taranaki. The magistrates there reported
that ‘“the settlers should be armed.” If the natives
persisted in ‘‘ molesting property” they would be shot
down. An Auckland newspaper thought it impossible
to use violence until the allegations of the natives had
been investigated. ‘ In the Waitara case our troops drove
off Te Rangitake and his people, and destroyed his villages
and cultivations; and years after, and after a bloody and
protracted war, we found we had been all wrong. It would
be a pity if something like the same mistake were com-
mitted now.” In June, Te Whiti said :—

‘“Come to me and be saved. So long as you remain with me, no man
can harm you. . . . If any man molests me, I will talk with my
w?:ﬂon—the tongue. T will not resist the soldiers if they come. I would

ladly let them crucify me.” To the ploughmen he said: ‘‘ Go, put your

ands to the plough. Look not back. If any come with guns and
swords, be not afraid. If they smite you, smite not in return. If they
rend you, be not discouraged. Another will take up the good work. If
evil thoughts fill the minds of the settlers, and they flee from their farms
to the town as in the war of old, enter not you into their houses, touch
not their goods nor their cattle. My eye is over all. I will detect the
thief, and the punishment shall be like that which fell upon Ananias.”
Seeing the wonder of the reporters, he rebuked them for
their eagerness to note mundane things and their disregard
of the word of the Spirit. A few days afterwards Sir G.
Grey telegraphed his consent ‘“to the removal of the
ploughers without any unnecessary disturbance’ (22nd June).
On the 28rd he sanctioned the removal of the ploughmen
by settlers, but said that arrests under warrant should be
made by the police or by the armed constabulary. On the
25th he authorized the police to arrest the ploughmen if
disturbance should seem probable, and at once to bring a
charge against them. Arrests were made. The prisoners
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were willing captives. Day by day fresh ploughmen ap-
peared with joyful faces, and entreated to be taken. Some
Taranaki settlers, surprised at the demeanour of the
Maoris, and confident in the armed force at hand, proposed
an attack upon Te Whiti. But the government were not
able to indiet the prisoners they held, and it was suspected
that if he should be arrested, the demon of revenge might
be aroused among his followers. The Poverty Bay massacre
by Te Kooti was remembered. Before many weeks had
elapsed 200 willing captives®™ had been sent to Carlyle and
to Wellington, nominally for trial, although the authorities
knew not how to arraign them. At the end of 1879 it was
computed that the expense incurred was at the rate of
£200,000 a year.

The Treasury was in straits, and a sale of rich lands
might replenish it. A treaty and the word of the Queen’
were in the way. Governor after governor, minister after
minister, had abounded in pledges. The pledges had not
been kept, and if the Maoris would but have died quickly
enough there would have been no need to keep faith. If
they would not die they must be killed. After all, 5o much
had been already done at Taranaki that an additional crime
might escape condemnation. It was but the complement
of acts of former ministries, sanctioned by a Secretary of
State. They had smitten the Maori body; their successors
must bury it. He was a poor assassin who scrupled to get
rid of the corpse of his victim. Such was the impulse of
the worse spirits which had never been wanting in the land
since the days when Colonel Wakefield struck his foul
bargains. There were others who were weary of obstacles
to what they called the progress of New Zealand. They
did not desire the slaughter of the Maoris; they only
wanted their land. The highest good was anise and

* Among them was Matakatea. He was known to have saved the lives
of European men, women, and children wrecked on the coast during the
Taranaki war. He was afterwards ill-treated by General Chute. Sir G.
Grey testified that none of his or of Arama Karaka’s land was confiscated,
and that a solemn promise was given to them that none of their land
should be taken. Several members, Sir W. Fox, Mr. Rolleston, &c.,
visited Matakatea in prison. Mr. Rolleston declared in the House
(18th July) that ¢ the world would declare it a terrible thing that the

blundering of any ministry should have brought about such a result, that
a man who deserved so well of the British people should now be in gaol.”

Vol. II1. N
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inwows M a provincial town in England. But all
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t...x. Lo Jullowers were in prison; sometimes that he
s a.iid oD opinions of eminent lawyers. When plough-
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\vvember. A new Governor, Sir Hercules Robinson, con-
sened it in July. The Speaker of the Council, Sir J.
Richardson, had died, and in June, 1879, Sir William
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the Speakership of the Council. Sir G. Grey moved that
M- Porke be Speaker. Major Atkinson echoed the
i that all O’Rorke’s decisions would be just, and
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Mr. O’Rorke was unanimously elected. The wily Whitaker
took occasion to congratulate the Speaker elect, although
he had “invariably been opposed” to him in politics.
The Governor’s speech promised a measure to secure man-
hood suffrage for Europeans, and a ratepayer’s vote for
Maoris. Native lands would be dealt with, after inquiry.
Fanaticism on the west coast had ‘assumed an alarming
appearance,” but steps had been taken to ensure peace,
and it was ‘‘ possible that a peaceful solution would be
found.” Tawhiao was still friendly, and ‘ the well-known
chief, Rewi, had given further important proofs of good
faith and loyalty.” The general revenue was flourishing,
but that derived from land had fallen off. An income tax
would be proposed, and a Loan Bill to raise £5,000,000 for
construction of railways. A bill to deprive municipal
voters of their proportional influence at local elections
seemed a further instalment of the design of Sir G.
Grey to stifie the old English representation which
carefully regarded ¢‘‘the communities of shires and
boroughs as the collective organizations® of those who paid
taxes,” and tended in no manner to subject the earnings of
the industrious to the votes of a numerical majority. Sir
W. Fox moved (18th July) an amendment on the address,
which was carried by 47 votes against 833. Sir G. Grey’s
speech had intensified .the bitterness of opponents, and on
the 80th July the Governor’s consent to a dissolution (on
the understanding that it would be immediate, and that
the new Parliament should be called together on the return
of the writs) was announced. A formal address from the
Council had been presented, but the speeches were as un-
compromising in one House as in the other. Mr. Water-
house and Sir F. Bell so unsparingly criticized the govern-
ment that they were upbraided for supporting Te Whiti.
The latter said :—

““You may not go and take possession of the confiscated land by force of
arms. If you do, you must be prepared to fight for it; and who is there,
looking at the experience of past years, that will advocate the acquisition
of that land at the price of l‘))la:od? Your cause is unjust, and you must
retreat from your position. The humiliation of doing so signifies noth-

ing. . . . You must, in justice, give up at once the attempt to get
that land except in strict accordance with the promises of Sir D. McLean.

* Stubbs, ** Constitutional History,” Vol. ii., p. 166.
N2
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. . . If youare generous enough to do this you will have no further
difficulty on the west coast.”
He told the truth. There was no difficulty on the west coast
except what the government created. Distrust was exhibited
as to delay of the dissolution, and refusal of supplies was
threatened; but after some manceuvring they were granted.
A Loan Bill was passed for £5,000,000, although the debt
recorded ®® on the 81st December, 1878, was £22,608,000.
On the 6th August, Taiaroa asked in the Council whether,
and if so, when, the prisoners would be tried. Colonel Whit-
more replied that it was intended to try them in October.
On the 8th, Major Atkinson demanded protection for settlers
on the west coast. Mr. Sheehan would rather cut off his
right hand than pass a retrospective measure to deal with
the prisoners. It was one of the stipulations with the
Governor, when granting an immediate dissolution, that no
contested motions should be brought on. If the opposition
would agree not to debate the matter, Sheehan would bring
in a bill to postpone the trials. Atkinson, who had
privately negotiated with Sheehan, was sure that the House
would willingly pass the bill. The rule of the House, that
all such bills should be translated into Maori, was evaded.
Standing orders were suspended. Sheehan brought in a
Peace Preservation Bill, which the House read three times
without remark. It said that, as the peace of the colony was
endangered by certain natives, and, ‘‘from divers causes it
has hitherto been difficult to bring such persons within the
ordinary operation of the law,” it was expedient to deal with
them otherwise. The Governor was to proclaim that such
natives were to withdraw from their abodes. If they should
not withdraw they were to be ‘‘deemed guilty of misde-
meanour, and, upon convietion, to be liable to be imprisoned
with or without hard labour for any period not exceeding
one year.” (Thus Te Whiti might be put in gaol.) Such
Maoris, when arrested, might be ‘detained without bail
until the end of the-session” next succeeding; and ‘no
ﬁdge or justice of the peace shall bail or try any such
aori without an order from the Governor until the end of
(such next succeeding session), any law or statute to the
contrary notwithstanding.” The Governor was to order

# ¢ Hayter’s Victorian Year Book,” 1879-80. Australasian Statistics.
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time and place for trial, and might send the prisoners to
any part of New Zealand ; and the Habeas Corpus Act was
specially suspended.

Such was the measure which Sir G. Grey’s government
were assisted by Sir W. Fox and Major Atkinson to pass ae
‘“ uncontested.”

A Maori Prisoners Trials Bill was introduced by Mr.
Sheehan. The time of gaol-delivery had elapsed with
regard to some of the prisoners and they had not been
tried. The bill enabled the Governor to fix the day and
place for trial, which was not to be delayed beyond three
months after the passing of the bill. It declared it ‘ indis-
pensable for the peace and safety of the colony that the
ordinary course of law should be suspended, and (the trials)
should take place under special legislation.” The Governor
was to declare what number of prisoners should be tried at
any sitting of the court. The bill was not passed in
silence. Tainui protested against passing the bill without
having it printed in Maori. The natives generally desired
that the trials should take place in due course of law as
soon as possible. Mr. Macfarlane protested against the
‘“abominable’ bill altogether. Orders in Council ought
not to supersede the law. Mr. Swanson followed in the
same strain, and declared that the bill was brought in at
the behest of Major Atkinson. Another member deplored
the public shame to Englishmen with which such a measure
was fraught. Mr. Stewart denounced it as a gross in-
fraction of the Great Charter. It placed the government
above all law. The Maoris were committed for trespass;
let them be duly tried. Major Atkinson called the objec-
tions to the bill theoretical. He was as careless of the
safeguards of British law as of the treaty of Waitangi.
Captain Russell scorned all law. ‘ Lawyers were very
useful in their way, but a great nuisance in legislative
bodies.” As far as he could judge, ‘‘ these natives .
are really not British subjects at all.”” Tomoana said:
““ The new Parliament is to meet in thirty days. Let the
matter then be dealt with.” The bill was unfair. The
prisoners were entitled to be tried. Why were they, with-
out conviction, kept at hard labour? The Speaker said
that as a Maori member had complained that the bill was
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not printed, it would have been his duty to insist on com-
pliance with the Standing Order were it not for the fact
that the House had at an earlier hour suspended the Stand-
ing Orders. The bill was read a second and third timé.
It was Saturday, and the Parliament was to be prorogued
on Monday.

The bills were dealt with in reverse order in the Council,
The Prisoners Trials Bill was taken first, and was hurried
through all its stages. The Peace Preservation Bill, easily
smuggled through the Lower House, was proposed, ‘as
being in the interests of humanity,” by Mr. Wilson. Sir
F. D. Bell at once moved that it be shelved

‘“We are asked to pass an Act such as no Legislature in the world, I
believe, has ever been asked to pass. We are not only to create a new
offence, but to enact that a native who commits that offence is not bailable.

. Sir, I can hardly trust myself to speak nupon such a measure. .
. You will make it absolutely certain 1? you put this law into force,
that you will have war on the west coast. Nothing on earth can prevent
it.* T know the natives well. . . . I say you are absolutely mad to
think of proposing an Act like this. I warn you that, so sure as you are
guilty of so Eerﬁdious a reversal of the promises of the Crown, so gross and
unwarrantable an injustice to those who have never committed a crime, as
to pass such an Act as this, so surely will you have bloodshed the moment
you try to enforce it. 1 will not say, as members in the other House have
said, that I shall wash my hands of it, but I shall record my protest against
so utterly shameless an Act.” Could the Governor assent to it? If
Colonel Whitmore could say that such assent was promised—** respect for
his Excellency’s office would prevent me from expressing any opinion on
that promise. But, till I hear that statement made, I shall not hesitate to
say that, under the Royal Instructions, he cannot give his assent to this
biﬁ. It is of a nature expressly violating all former Royal Instructions.

Dr. Pollen conceived that the object of the bill was to
“give legal authority to capture Te Whiti. Te Whiti
ought not to be condemned before he was tried.” Colonel -
Whitmore vainly pleaded that ‘“the bill did not originate
with members of the government. It had been previously
suggested by people who took an interest in the matter.”
Mr. Waterhouse declared it— :

¢ The most iniquitous proposal that was ever submitted to the Legisla-
ture of any country. Hundreds, even thousands, of people, occupying a
large tract of country under the assurance conveyed by a proclamation of
the Governor would (under the bill) be made liable to a year’s imprison-
ment. I would sooner submit to have my right arm cut ody than be a party
to it.”

* Tt was probably because they agreed with this opinion that Atkinson
and some others thought the bill ‘‘necessary.”
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By 16 votes against 6 the bill was shelved. The Parlia-
ment was prorogued on the 11th Aug. But, though the
plot to subject all the Maoris at Parihaka to seizure was
defeated, the passing of the Prisoners Trials Bill effectually
thwarted any hope which Te Whiti’s friends entertained
of testing the lawfulness of the proceedings of the
government.

Taiaroa, Wi Tako Ngatata (members of the Council),
Hoani Nahe (a representative member, and one of the
ministry), with Rangihiwinui and others, took legal advice
with a view to cause the questions concerning confiscated
lands to be tried in the Supreme Court. They issued a
Panui, or manifesto, to the tribes. They circulated it in
Maori and in English.® They deputed Parata to urge

26th August, 1879.

* Manifesto to the Maori tribes interested in the lands confiscated by
the government in consequence of the wars between the Maori and the
European peoples.

We, the committee appointed to inguire into and to take proceedings
for testing the validity of the laws under which the said lands have been
confiscated, and are now claimed by the government, and to inquire into
and test the validity of the acts done by the government under the
provisions of those laws, send greetin§ :

Know ye, that we have consulted lawyers at Port Nicholson touching
these matters, and we are informed as follows :— .

That, in the month of December, 1863, the General Assembly of New
Zealand passed a law authorizing the Governor, whenever he was satisfied
that any Maori tribe or hapu had been engaged in war against the

overnment since the first day of January, 1863, to declare and fix the
gonnda.ries of districts within which the lands of such tribe or hapu were
situated, and then to set apart any of such lands as sites for settlement ;
and, by the said law, every site so set apart was to become the property
of the government, freed from the title of the native owners of the same.

But it was by that law provided that compensation should be made for
the taking of such lands to any of the native owners who had not
been engaged or concerned in the war for which the same had been
confiscated.

Now, we find that the government, purporting to act under the
provisions of that law, and otg other laws passed by the General Assembly
in connection therewith, have created districts in various parts of the
North Island of New Zealand, and claim to hold the lands of the Maori
people within those districts, on the alleged ground that the said lands
have been lawfully confiscated by reason that the owners thereof had
been engaged in wars against the government since the first day of
January, 1863.

We know that the right of the government to confiscate those lands,
and to retain the same, has long been disputed by the Maori owners
thereof, but that no proceedings have ever been taken in any court of law
to test the validity of the Acts of the General Assembly under which they
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have been taken, or of the proceedings of the government under those
Acts, or the right of the government to retain any portions of the lands,
so taken, which have not been set apart as sites of settlement.

We therefore, having been appointed to inquire into these things, have
been advised that the proper course for the Maori people who oﬁect to
them is to commence Froceedings in the Supreme Court of New Zealand,
}n order that the following questions may be heard and determined by
aw :—

1. Whether the Acts of the General Assembly authorizing the confis-
cation of the Maori lands are valid Acts or not ?

2. Whether those Acts, if valid, authorized the government to
confiscate any of the Maori lands by reason of wars which
happened after the third day of December, 1863 ?

3. Whether those Acts, if valid, authorized the government to retain
any of the lands within the proclaimed districts which had not
been specifically set apart as sites for settlement before the
third day of December, 1867 ?

4. Whether the proceedings of the government under those Acts have
been regular and proper, so as to bind the native owners of the
lands taken ?

5. Whether, if those Acts be valid, proper compensation has been
made to those who had not been engaged or concerned in the
wars ?

These are the principal questions which we have been advised by our
lawyers to bring before the Supreme Court, but there are many others in
connection therewith which will also have to be decided, and all such
questions will be duly raised in the interests of the Maori people.

We have also been advised that if we are not satisfied with the decision
of the Supreme Court upon any of these questions we shall be entitled to
appeal to the great court of the Queen of England, by which the case will
tﬁen be fully heard and decided. )

Now, in order that these things may be properly done, we, the com-
mittee, call upon you to assure the government that you will not commit
any deed of violence or attempt to assert your claims to those lands by
force, and that you will leave fvour rights to be settled by the law, and
not by the sword. And we will urge upon the government, on the other
hand, not to proceed with the surveys or to deal with the disputed lands
until the law has decided the questions we raise in respect of the same.

And we further make known to you that, acting in the belief that it is
your wish that these things should be peaceably done, we intend at once
to take steps for bringing all questions touching your claims to the
confiscated lands before the Supreme Court.

From the committee,

Horr KErer Tararoa, M.L.C., President.

W1 ParaTae TE KAKAKURA, Secretary.

W1 Tako NeaTaTa, M.L.C.

Mokena Kouerg, M.L.C.

HEeNARE Tomoana, M.H.R.

Hori Karaka Tawiri, M.H.R.

Imaia Taimnvi, M.H.R.

Ma1Har PARAONE KawrTI

Keepa TeE Ranciaiwinui, Ma